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Mark Malloch-Brown and Antonio
Mugica launch SGO

London, UK, 24th November 2014.-  Antonio Mugica and Lord Mark Malloch-Brown today

announce a new venture, SGO, built on the extraordinary success of Smartmatic, the world's leading

voting technology provider. Mugica, Smartmatic’s CEO and co-founder, will continue in this role in

the enlarged group. Lord Malloch-Brown will become chairman. He will be joined on SGO’s board by

Sir Nigel Knowles, Global CEO of DLA Piper, renowned entrepreneur David Giampaolo and Roger

Piñate, Smartmatic’s COO.

“The launch of our new group, coupled with Mark, David and Nigel’s arrival on the board, re�ects our

widening vision and our ambition to harness the talents of our sta� outside election technologies

and consulting” said Antonio Mugica. “Led by this inspiring group of individuals, we will continue to

make substantial investments in our core business and technology but over the coming months, as

SGO, we will be rolling out a series of new ventures built on the fascinating work we are doing in

other areas such as biometrics, online identity veri�cation, internet voting and citizen participation,

e-governance and pollution control.”

Since it was founded in 2000, Smartmatic has grown into a global business, transforming elections

around the world by guaranteeing total integrity in election solutions from registration, to vote

count, through to results proclamation, backed by unrivalled technology and project management.

The company has been involved in more elections (over 3,500) than any of its competitors;

registered and counted over 2.3 billion votes in �ve continents, and developed its own innovative

technology that sets a worldwide standard. 

Commenting on his appointment, Malloch-Brown said, “When I discovered Antonio and his team I

saw three extraordinary assets: an elections business that could help restore faith in democracy but

which despite being the largest in the world remains too little known; a network of software
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engineers and scientists who were not closeted in the typical IT clusters near comfortable university

campuses but were out there in the �eld, designing products that work in every corner of the world;

and third, an exciting wave of solutions with the potential to change people’s lives.” 

Malloch-Brown was head of the UN Development Programme for six years. During that time he

established its Democracy and Good Governance practice and made it UNDP's leading global

specialisation. “Throughout his career Mark has insisted that solutions to development challenges

start with successfully empowering people through voting and participation. I cannot imagine a

more committed campaigner to lead our Board and, together with Nigel and David, to represent us

going forward”, said Mugica.
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Murad Ahmed, European Technology Correspondent NOVEMBER 24, 2014

Lord Mark Malloch-Brown is set to become chairman of the world’s leading provider of election
technology this week.

The peer and veteran diplomat, whose career has seen him serve as deputy secretary-general of the
UN, vice-president of the World Bank, and UK Foreign Office minister, will be announced as
chairman of SGO, a new venture based in London.

SGO will be the parent company to Smartmatic, a company that provided evoting machines for
recent elections in Brazil and the Philippines, which says it has about 50 per cent share of the
global election technology market. In the coming year, it will launch three new companies, each
working on spin-off products to tackle issues such as biometric identification, internet voting and
climate change.

Lord Malloch-Brown said he would step into the chairman’s seat at the new venture because he
believed encouraging fair elections in emerging nations was the best way to fulfil international
development goals.

“There’s nothing more powerful in terms of reallocating resources among the poor than effective
democracy which allows the poor a political voice,” he said.

Since leaving the political and diplomatic world, Lord Malloch-Brown has previously been
chairman of FTI Consulting, the public relations group, and also sits on boards for a number of
corporate and charitable groups.

He may also provide the elections tech company with political clout in the world’s corridors of
power, with Smartmatic’s devices proving controversial in some places.

In 2007, the company sold its US subsidiary after lawmakers in the country raised concerns about
foreign ownership of a group that works in a sensitive industry. Smartmatic was founded by
Venezuelan entrepreneurs in 2000, which has led to accusations it could be linked to the regime of
Hugo Chávez, the late president who had a tempestuous relationship with the US. The company
has always denied this.

Lord Malloch-Brown said he had “kicked the tyres” and was “satisfied that this is a high-quality
business”.

Tech start-ups

Lord Mark Malloch-Brown to chair election technology group SGO

Veteran diplomat to chair company that sees opportunity in enabling fair voting processes
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“This is a company that begun in Venezuela where elections have been very controversial,” he
added. Antonio Mugica, chief executive, “from the beginning has had to be more Catholic than the
Pope. His systems, sales and marketing have had to be impeccable. There is no room for anything
but the gold standard on this, because his competitors and disappointed [political] candidates
would just descend on him.”

Mr Mugica, who will also be chief executive of SGO, said Smartmatic had average annual revenues
of about $250m and had been profitable for more than a decade. He added that its commercial
success would be used to provide SGO with a “war chest” of about $140m. The funds will be used to
launch new enterprises, fund acquisitions and for research and development.

SGO’s board will also include Nigel Knowles, chief executive of DLA Piper, the law firm, and David
Giampaolo, chief executive of Pi Capital, the London-based investment group.

Latest on Tech start-ups
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Lord Mark Malloch-Brown (Chairman)

Mark Malloch-Brown is a former number two in the United Nations as well

as having served in the British Cabinet and Foreign O�ce. He now sits in

the House of Lords and is active both in business and in the non-pro�t

world. He also remains deeply involved in international a�airs.

Mark served as Deputy Secretary-General and Chief of Sta� of the UN

under Ko� Annan. For six years before that he was Administrator of the

UNDP, leading the UN’s development e�orts around the world. He was

later Minister of State in the Foreign O�ce, covering Africa and Asia, and was a member of Gordon

Brown’s cabinet.

Other positions have included vice-chairman of George Soros’s Investment Funds, as well as his Open

Society Institute, a Vice-President at the World Bank and the lead international partner at Sawyer Miller,

a political consulting �rm. He also has served as Vice-Chairman of the World Economic Forum. He began

his career as a journalist at The Economist.

In addition to his new role at SGO, Mark sits on several other commercial boards and remains a Senior

Advisor to FTI Consulting, where he was previously Chairman for Europe, Middle East and Africa. He

chairs the Boards of a number of non-pro�t boards including the International Crisis Group, the Open

Society Foundation, the Children’s Investment Fund Foundation and the Centre for Global Development.

Mark is also a Distinguished Practitioner of the Blavatnik School of Government at Oxford University and

was formerly a visiting distinguished fellow at the Yale Centre for the Study of Globalisation. He has a

number of honorary degrees.

He was knighted in 2007 for his contribution to international a�airs. Mark is the author of “The

Un�nished Global Revolution” and continues to write, broadcast and lecture about international issues.
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Mark Malloch-Brown and Antonio Mugica launch
SGO
London, UK, 24th November 2014.-  Antonio Mugica and Lord Mark Malloch-Brown today announce a new
venture, SGO, built on the extraordinary success of Smartmatic, the world's leading voting technology provider.
Mugica, Smartmatic’s CEO and co-founder, will continue in this role in the enlarged group. Lord Malloch-
Brown will become chairman. He will be joined on SGO’s board by Sir Nigel Knowles, Global CEO of DLA
Piper, renowned entrepreneur David Giampaolo and Roger Piñate, Smartmatic’s COO.

“The launch of our new group, coupled with Mark, David and Nigel’s arrival on the board, reflects our widening
vision and our ambition to harness the talents of our staff outside election technologies and consulting” said
Antonio Mugica. “Led by this inspiring group of individuals, we will continue to make substantial investments
in our core business and technology but over the coming months, as SGO, we will be rolling out a series of new
ventures built on the fascinating work we are doing in other areas such as biometrics, online identity verification,
internet voting and citizen participation, e-governance and pollution control.”

Since it was founded in 2000, Smartmatic has grown into a global business, transforming elections around the
world by guaranteeing total integrity in electoral solutions from registration, to vote count, through to results
proclamation, backed by unrivalled technology and project management. The company has been involved in
more elections (over 3,500) than any of its competitors; registered and counted over 2.3 billion votes in five
continents, and developed its own innovative technology that sets a worldwide standard. 
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Commenting on his appointment, Malloch-Brown said, “When I discovered Antonio and his team I saw three
extraordinary assets: an elections business that could help restore faith in democracy but which despite being the
largest in the world remains too little known; a network of software engineers and scientists who were not
closeted in the typical IT clusters near comfortable university campuses but were out there in the field, designing
products that work in every corner of the world; and third, an exciting wave of solutions with the potential to
change people’s lives.” 

Malloch-Brown was head of the UN Development Programme for six years. During that time he established its
Democracy and Good Governance practice and made it UNDP's leading global specialisation. “Throughout his
career Mark has insisted that solutions to development challenges start with successfully empowering people
through voting and participation. I cannot imagine a more committed campaigner to lead our Board and,
together with Nigel and David, to represent us going forward”, said Mugica.
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Sir Nigel Knowles (Director)

Sir Nigel Knowles is Chairman of global legal business DWF. 

He is former Global Co-Chairman and Senior Partner of DLA

Piper, having served as Global Co-CEO and Managing

Partner for nearly twenty years before.  

Sir Nigel originally joined the Yorkshire �rm, Broomheads, as

a trainee in 1978 and quickly moved into the management

sphere, becoming Managing Partner in 1996. Since that

time, Sir Nigel led the �rm through a host of successful

mergers, expanding from the UK into Continental Europe,

Asia, Australia and the Middle East.   

Sir Nigel's leadership was instrumental in e�ecting the single largest transatlantic law �rm merger in

recent history, when DLA integrated with US-based Piper Rudnick and Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP

in 2005. In the same year Sir Nigel was named Partner of the Year by Legal Week and DLA Piper was

named Global Law Firm of the Year at The Lawyer Awards and Law Firm of the Year at the Legal Business

Awards.  

He received a knighthood in 2009 in recognition of his services to the legal industry. 

In 2015, Legal Business awarded Sir Nigel an exclusive "Lifetime Achievement Award".  In 2016 Sir Nigel

was given the Financial News "Editor's Choice" award for lifetime achievement and children's charity

Variety presented him with the "Legends of Industry Award".

Non-executive appointments

Sir Nigel has a small and complementary portfolio of non-executive appointments. He was most recently

appointed Chairman of She�eld City Region LEP. He held the O�ce of High Sheri� of London from

2016-2017, the non-political and oldest Royal appointment.
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Academic Interests

Sir Nigel is a Fellow of Harris Manchester College, University of Oxford, and is Visiting Professor of the

University of She�eld. He received an Honorary Doctorate of Civil Law from the University of She�eld in

July 2011. 

Furthermore, Sir Nigel is spearheading research, in association with Populus, the research house, and

Saïd Business School, University of Oxford, into trust.  They are speci�cally looking to analyse and

understand the breakdown of trust between business, politics and the media and, ultimately, �nd

solutions to help rebuild it.
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Mark Malloch-Brown and Antonio
Mugica launch SGO

London, UK, 24th November 2014.-  Antonio Mugica and Lord Mark Malloch-Brown today

announce a new venture, SGO, built on the extraordinary success of Smartmatic, the world's leading

voting technology provider. Mugica, Smartmatic’s CEO and co-founder, will continue in this role in

the enlarged group. Lord Malloch-Brown will become chairman. He will be joined on SGO’s board by

Sir Nigel Knowles, Global CEO of DLA Piper, renowned entrepreneur David Giampaolo and Roger

Piñate, Smartmatic’s COO.

“The launch of our new group, coupled with Mark, David and Nigel’s arrival on the board, re�ects our

widening vision and our ambition to harness the talents of our sta� outside election technologies

and consulting” said Antonio Mugica. “Led by this inspiring group of individuals, we will continue to

make substantial investments in our core business and technology but over the coming months, as

SGO, we will be rolling out a series of new ventures built on the fascinating work we are doing in

other areas such as biometrics, online identity veri�cation, internet voting and citizen participation,

e-governance and pollution control.”

Since it was founded in 2000, Smartmatic has grown into a global business, transforming elections

around the world by guaranteeing total integrity in election solutions from registration, to vote

count, through to results proclamation, backed by unrivalled technology and project management.

The company has been involved in more elections (over 3,500) than any of its competitors;

registered and counted over 2.3 billion votes in �ve continents, and developed its own innovative

technology that sets a worldwide standard. 

Commenting on his appointment, Malloch-Brown said, “When I discovered Antonio and his team I

saw three extraordinary assets: an elections business that could help restore faith in democracy but

which despite being the largest in the world remains too little known; a network of software
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engineers and scientists who were not closeted in the typical IT clusters near comfortable university

campuses but were out there in the �eld, designing products that work in every corner of the world;

and third, an exciting wave of solutions with the potential to change people’s lives.” 

Malloch-Brown was head of the UN Development Programme for six years. During that time he

established its Democracy and Good Governance practice and made it UNDP's leading global

specialisation. “Throughout his career Mark has insisted that solutions to development challenges

start with successfully empowering people through voting and participation. I cannot imagine a

more committed campaigner to lead our Board and, together with Nigel and David, to represent us

going forward”, said Mugica.
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Murad Ahmed, European Technology Correspondent NOVEMBER 24, 2014

Lord Mark Malloch-Brown is set to become chairman of the world’s leading provider of election
technology this week.

The peer and veteran diplomat, whose career has seen him serve as deputy secretary-general of the
UN, vice-president of the World Bank, and UK Foreign Office minister, will be announced as
chairman of SGO, a new venture based in London.

SGO will be the parent company to Smartmatic, a company that provided evoting machines for
recent elections in Brazil and the Philippines, which says it has about 50 per cent share of the
global election technology market. In the coming year, it will launch three new companies, each
working on spin-off products to tackle issues such as biometric identification, internet voting and
climate change.

Lord Malloch-Brown said he would step into the chairman’s seat at the new venture because he
believed encouraging fair elections in emerging nations was the best way to fulfil international
development goals.

“There’s nothing more powerful in terms of reallocating resources among the poor than effective
democracy which allows the poor a political voice,” he said.

Since leaving the political and diplomatic world, Lord Malloch-Brown has previously been
chairman of FTI Consulting, the public relations group, and also sits on boards for a number of
corporate and charitable groups.

He may also provide the elections tech company with political clout in the world’s corridors of
power, with Smartmatic’s devices proving controversial in some places.

In 2007, the company sold its US subsidiary after lawmakers in the country raised concerns about
foreign ownership of a group that works in a sensitive industry. Smartmatic was founded by
Venezuelan entrepreneurs in 2000, which has led to accusations it could be linked to the regime of
Hugo Chávez, the late president who had a tempestuous relationship with the US. The company
has always denied this.

Lord Malloch-Brown said he had “kicked the tyres” and was “satisfied that this is a high-quality
business”.

Tech start-ups

Lord Mark Malloch-Brown to chair election technology group SGO

Veteran diplomat to chair company that sees opportunity in enabling fair voting processes
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“This is a company that begun in Venezuela where elections have been very controversial,” he
added. Antonio Mugica, chief executive, “from the beginning has had to be more Catholic than the
Pope. His systems, sales and marketing have had to be impeccable. There is no room for anything
but the gold standard on this, because his competitors and disappointed [political] candidates
would just descend on him.”

Mr Mugica, who will also be chief executive of SGO, said Smartmatic had average annual revenues
of about $250m and had been profitable for more than a decade. He added that its commercial
success would be used to provide SGO with a “war chest” of about $140m. The funds will be used to
launch new enterprises, fund acquisitions and for research and development.

SGO’s board will also include Nigel Knowles, chief executive of DLA Piper, the law firm, and David
Giampaolo, chief executive of Pi Capital, the London-based investment group.

Latest on Tech start-ups
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Lord Mark Malloch-Brown (Chairman)

Mark Malloch-Brown is a former number two in the United Nations as well

as having served in the British Cabinet and Foreign O�ce. He now sits in

the House of Lords and is active both in business and in the non-pro�t

world. He also remains deeply involved in international a�airs.

Mark served as Deputy Secretary-General and Chief of Sta� of the UN

under Ko� Annan. For six years before that he was Administrator of the

UNDP, leading the UN’s development e�orts around the world. He was

later Minister of State in the Foreign O�ce, covering Africa and Asia, and was a member of Gordon

Brown’s cabinet.

Other positions have included vice-chairman of George Soros’s Investment Funds, as well as his Open

Society Institute, a Vice-President at the World Bank and the lead international partner at Sawyer Miller,

a political consulting �rm. He also has served as Vice-Chairman of the World Economic Forum. He began

his career as a journalist at The Economist.

In addition to his new role at SGO, Mark sits on several other commercial boards and remains a Senior

Advisor to FTI Consulting, where he was previously Chairman for Europe, Middle East and Africa. He

chairs the Boards of a number of non-pro�t boards including the International Crisis Group, the Open

Society Foundation, the Children’s Investment Fund Foundation and the Centre for Global Development.

Mark is also a Distinguished Practitioner of the Blavatnik School of Government at Oxford University and

was formerly a visiting distinguished fellow at the Yale Centre for the Study of Globalisation. He has a

number of honorary degrees.

He was knighted in 2007 for his contribution to international a�airs. Mark is the author of “The

Un�nished Global Revolution” and continues to write, broadcast and lecture about international issues.
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Mark Malloch-Brown and Antonio Mugica launch
SGO
London, UK, 24th November 2014.-  Antonio Mugica and Lord Mark Malloch-Brown today announce a new
venture, SGO, built on the extraordinary success of Smartmatic, the world's leading voting technology provider.
Mugica, Smartmatic’s CEO and co-founder, will continue in this role in the enlarged group. Lord Malloch-
Brown will become chairman. He will be joined on SGO’s board by Sir Nigel Knowles, Global CEO of DLA
Piper, renowned entrepreneur David Giampaolo and Roger Piñate, Smartmatic’s COO.

“The launch of our new group, coupled with Mark, David and Nigel’s arrival on the board, reflects our widening
vision and our ambition to harness the talents of our staff outside election technologies and consulting” said
Antonio Mugica. “Led by this inspiring group of individuals, we will continue to make substantial investments
in our core business and technology but over the coming months, as SGO, we will be rolling out a series of new
ventures built on the fascinating work we are doing in other areas such as biometrics, online identity verification,
internet voting and citizen participation, e-governance and pollution control.”

Since it was founded in 2000, Smartmatic has grown into a global business, transforming elections around the
world by guaranteeing total integrity in electoral solutions from registration, to vote count, through to results
proclamation, backed by unrivalled technology and project management. The company has been involved in
more elections (over 3,500) than any of its competitors; registered and counted over 2.3 billion votes in five
continents, and developed its own innovative technology that sets a worldwide standard. 
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Commenting on his appointment, Malloch-Brown said, “When I discovered Antonio and his team I saw three
extraordinary assets: an elections business that could help restore faith in democracy but which despite being the
largest in the world remains too little known; a network of software engineers and scientists who were not
closeted in the typical IT clusters near comfortable university campuses but were out there in the field, designing
products that work in every corner of the world; and third, an exciting wave of solutions with the potential to
change people’s lives.” 

Malloch-Brown was head of the UN Development Programme for six years. During that time he established its
Democracy and Good Governance practice and made it UNDP's leading global specialisation. “Throughout his
career Mark has insisted that solutions to development challenges start with successfully empowering people
through voting and participation. I cannot imagine a more committed campaigner to lead our Board and,
together with Nigel and David, to represent us going forward”, said Mugica.
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Smartmatic Announces Sale of Sequoia Voting
Systems
Nov 8, 2007 | Press Release

WASHINGTON – Smartmatic, the voting machine firm with ties to the Venezuelan government, today announced that it is
divesting ownership of the voting machine company Sequoia Voting Systems.  Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney (D-NY) shined
the congressional spotlight on the Sequoia purchase last year by Smartmatic because it posed serious national security
concerns about the integrity of our elections.  Last year, Smartmatic decided to sell Sequoia rather than complete an
investigation by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS), the government entity charged with
ensuring the safety of foreign investment in the U.S.  (To read the official Sequoia sale announcement:
https://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php). 

“I am relieved by the news of this sale – it was a long time coming,” said Maloney.  “The integrity of our voting machines and
elections is vital to national security.  Given all of the past uncertainty and anxiety surrounding electronic voting, it’s nice that
voters will have this added reassurance when they enter the voting booth this Election Day.”

 
Smartmatic was the subject of controversy in 2004 when the Hugo Chavez-led Venezuelan government selected it to provide
the voting machines system for the presidential recall election, even though it would have been the company’s first time
providing machines for an election.  Smartmatic teamed up with a Venezuelan software company, Bitza, which at the time was
28 percent owned by Chavez’s government.  In 2005, a Chicago city alderman questioned the possible ties between Sequoia
and the Venezuelan government when that company’s machines were used in the March 2006 Chicago primaries. 

 
“When I first raised concerns about the Smartmatic case with the U.S. Treasury Department, I knew it was ripe for a CFIUS
investigation. There were just too many questions and lingering doubts, which Smartmatic was clearly unable to overcome,”
Maloney said.   

 
At first, Smartmatic flatly refused to undergo a CFIUS review.  It eventually agreed to a review, but later dropped out of the
review process and announced its intent to divest of Sequoia. 
“The Smartmatic case reinforces the importance of a strong CFIUS review system.  That’s why I worked hard to pass new
CFIUS reforms this year that encourage safe foreign investment in the U.S. without jeopardizing our nation’s security,” added
Maloney. 

 
Maloney authored the new law to strengthen CFIUS.  For more information on Congresswoman Maloney’s work on CFIUS
reform. 

 
Background/Timeline:

May 2006 - Maloney first raised questions about Smartmatic with then-Treasury Secretary Snow, inquiring whether the deal for
Sequoia had undergone a CFIUS investigation
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July 2006 - Treasury acknowledged that it had initially contacted Smartmatic, although a CFIUS investigation was not
underway at the time. In early October, Maloney wrote to Treasury Secretary Paulson to apprise him of the lingering questions
surrounding Smartmatic:
https://maloney.house.gov/sites/maloney.house.gov/files/documents/financial/acquisitions/20061006ElectionsCFIUS_paulson.pdf

October 2006: Smartmatic announced that it was undergoing a CFIUS investigation

December 2006: Smartmatic announced it was withdrawing from CFIUS review and selling Sequoia
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SMARTMATIC AND SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS ANNOUNCE 
VOLUNTARY CFIUS FILING // SMARTMATIC CEO ANTONIO 
MUGICA TO HOLD PRESS CONFERENCE

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

                                                                                                                                        
SMARTMATIC AND SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS ANNOUNCE 

VOLUNTARY CFIUS FILING

SMARTMATIC CEO ANTONIO MUGICA TO HOLD PRESS 
CONFERENCE

BOCA RATON, FLORIDA, October 29, 2006 - Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. 
("Sequoia") and its parent, the Smartmatic Corporation ("Smartmatic"), today announced 
that, contrary to reports, the companies have voluntarily submitted a notice to the U.S. 
Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS).  The companies filed 
voluntarily in order to allow the U.S. Government to review Smartmatic's acquisition of 
Sequoia.

"No foreign government or entity - including Venezuela - has ever held an 
ownership stake in Smartmatic, and we have voluntarily filed with CFIUS to put to rest 
the baseless but persistent rumors about our ownership," said Antonio Mugica, Chief 
Executive Officer, Smartmatic. 

The firm is owned primarily by three young entrepreneurs: Antonio Mugica, a 
dual-Spanish-Venezuelan national (78.8%); Alfredo Anzola (3.87%); and Roger Pinate 
(8.47%).  The other main investor is Jorge Massa (5.97%), a well-known French-
Venezuelan businessman. Smartmatic employees and friends and family own the 
remainder of the firm (2.89%).

As part of the CFIUS process, Smartmatic and Sequoia have voluntarily provided 
significant information to CFIUS on all aspects of the two firms' businesses and 
ownership and the security and integrity of Sequoia's voting solutions.

"As a company, we sought out a CFIUS review because we are confident it will 
clear the air so we can focus on what we do best - making the world's most secure and 
auditable voting solutions," added Antonio Mugica.

Press Conference: 2:00pm, Washington, DC, October 30th, 2006.

Smartmatic and Sequoia will hold a press conference tomorrow - Monday, 
October 30 - to present additional information on their voluntary filing, the company's 
ownership and operating structure and to take questions.

The press conference will be held at Sutherland Asbill and Brennan LLP, 1275 
Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington DC 20004 at 2:00PM, Monday, October 30th, 
2006.

A call-in number for journalists will be distributed tomorrow.



About Smartmatic (www.smartmatic.com) and Sequoia
(http://www.sequoiavote.com/)
Smartmatic and Sequoia are leaders in the provision of secure and reliable voting 
solutions and pioneers in the introduction of electronic voting systems with a Voter 
Verifiable Paper Audit Trail.

A privately-held, independent corporation with 300 employees worldwide, Smartmatic is 
an international leader in the provision of secure, reliable and auditable voting systems.
Sequoia Voting Systems is an American company, based in Oakland, California with a
100-year history of providing accurate, reliable, state-of-the-art voting solutions dating 
back to the nation's first lever-based mechanical voting equipment in the 1890s. Sequoia 
provides election technology, services and support to state and local government 
including precinct-based optical scan ballot readers, high-speed central count optical 
scan ballot readers, ballot layout and printing services, and full-face and paginating 
electronic voting equipment with optional printers that produce voter verifiable paper 
records. The company has hundreds of customers throughout the country and its voting 
equipment will be used on November 7th, 2006 in 16 states plus the District of Columbia.
Sequoia has been providing electronic voting equipment for twenty-five years and leads 
the industry with our AVC Advantage full-face push button electronic voting system and 
the AVC Edge touchscreen system. 
CONTACTS: 

Michelle Shafer, Sequoia Voting 
mshafer@sequoiavote.com
(512) 426-5658

Mitch Stoller, Smartmatic
mstoller@groupsjr.com
(212) 751-3327



Date:  June 12, 2008 Contact:  John Bonifaz, (413) 253-2700

SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS, INC. USES VOTE-COUNTING SOFTWARE 
DEVELOPED, OWNED, AND LICENSED BY FOREIGN-OWNED 

SMARTMATIC, A COMPANY LINKED TO THE 
VENEZUELAN GOVERNMENT OF HUGO CHÁVEZ

U.S. national security is potentially at risk because software used to count 
votes in 20% of the country during U.S. elections is owned and controlled by a 
Venezuelan-run company with ties to the Venezuelan government of Hugo Chávez,1

which has been described as “the foremost meddler in foreign elections in the Western 
hemisphere.”2 Foreign-owned and foreign-run Smartmatic’s control over vote-
counting software used in the voting machines of Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. 
(“Sequoia” or “SVS”) presents a potential national security risk now just as it did in 
2006 when the U.S. Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”) 
opened an investigation of Smartmatic’s ownership of Sequoia.3 CFIUS is a U.S. 
government inter-agency committee led by the U.S. Department of Treasury that 
addresses national security risks posed by foreign ownership of or influence over U.S. 
business, including companies providing the means by which voters in the U.S. elect 
their President and Congressional Representatives.4 Rather than answer to CFIUS 

1 Richard Brand, Why is Hugo Chávez Involved with U.S. Voting Machines?, REAL CLEAR POLITICS, 
Mar. 28, 2006, 
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html; Brad 
Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, Control of 
Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
2 Richard Brand, Hugo Wants Your Vote, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Apr. 6, 2006, available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
e=2496.
3 In 2006, the Wall Street Journal reported that Smartmatic “would sell its U.S. subsidiary [Sequoia] to 
end a review by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the U.S. into whether Smartmatic is partially 
owned by the Venezuelan government.”  Bob Davis, Smartmatic to Shed U.S. Unit, End Probe Into 
Venezuelan Links, WALL ST. J., Dec. 22, 2006, at A6, article available for purchase at 
http://www.wsj.com.  The Wall Street Journal also reported a Department of Justice investigation into 
whether Smartmatic had engaged in bribery or tax fraud. Id. see also Bob Davis and Glenn Simpson, 
U.S. Authorities Probe How Smartmatic Won Venezuela Election Pact, WALL ST. J., Dec. 1, 2006, at 
A9, article available for purchase at http://www.wsj.com  (“The company says it paid $1.5 million to a 
Venezuelan consultant who is close to the Chavez government and helped to win Smartmatic business.  
The allegation being investigated is that Smartmatic actually paid as much as $4 million to the 
consultant, then deleted a substantial portion of those payments from its corporate records to hide the 
extent of its payments to a friend of the Chavez regime.”).
4 50 U.S.C. App. § 2170(a) available at http://uscode.house.gov/uscode-
cgi/fastweb.exe?getdoc+uscview+t49t50+2932+1++%28%29%20%20AND%20%28%2850%29%20A
DJ%20USC%29%3ACITE%20AND%20%28USC%20w%2F10%20%282170%29%29%3ACITE%20
%20%20%20%20%20%20%20AND%20%28APPENDIX%29%3AEXPCITE%20; 31 C.F.R. § 800, 
App. A available at http://ecfr.gpoaccess.gov/cgi/t/text/text-

https://www.nist.gov/sites/default/files/documents/itl/vote/SequoiaSmartmaticReport61208.pdf

www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html;Brad
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
www.wsj.com.
www.wsj.com
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html;Brad
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
http://www.wsj.com.
http://www.wsj.com
http://uscode.house.gov/uscode-
http://ecfr.gpoaccess.gov/cgi/t/text/text-
https://www.nist.gov/sites/default/files/documents/itl/vote/SequoiaSmartmaticReport61208.pdf
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regarding the ultimate owners of the Smartmatic conglomerate5 and its ties to the 
Chávez government, an investment group led by Sequoia management reportedly 
bought Sequoia from Smartmatic in late 2007 under terms that were not made public.6  
Since then, however, it has come to light that Smartmatic continues to own the 
software that counts the votes on Sequoia voting machines and licenses to Sequoia that 
software, which Smartmatic develops in Venezuela.7 Concern, now, is that 
Smartmatic’s sale of Sequoia “was fraudulent”,8 “a sham transaction designed to fool 
regulators.”9

Efforts to date have not succeeded in determining the ultimate owners of 
Smartmatic or the extent to which Smartmatic and the Chávez government of 
Venezuela have influence over U.S. elections through Smartmatic’s control of the 
software that counts votes for Sequoia voting machines.  Sequoia steadfastly maintains 
that the 2007 Sequoia management buy-out “completely eliminates Smartmatic’s 
ownership, control and operational rights of any kind in Sequoia”10 when 

    
idx?c=ecfr&sid=cd91543f2cfccfc56d8f4c187217c3d8&rgn=div9&view=text&node=31:3.1.4.1.1.7.1.3.
11&idno=31; see also Foreign Investment and National Security Act of 2007, Pub. L. No. 110-49, 121 
Stat. 246 (amending CFIUS law) available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-
bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=110_cong_public_laws&docid=f:publ049.110 and 73 Fed. Reg. 21861-21880 
(Apr. 23, 2008) (proposed regulations the final version of which is to be codified at 31 C.F.R. pt. 800) 
may be accessed at http://www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
5 Smartmatic Corporation, is a U.S. unit of Smartmatic International Holding, B.V., a Netherlands-
based business, which itself is a unit of Smartmatic International Group, N.V., Curaçao.  Marc Lifsher, 
Ballot Firm’s Ties to Venezuela Criticized; Some American officials worry that Sequoia Voting 
Systems’ foreign link could compromise the integrity of the U.S. election process, L.A. TIMES, Jun. 3, 
2006, at C1, available at http://earc.berkeley.edu/news/2006/June/BallotFirmsTies.php. 
6 Press Release, Sequoia Voting Systems, U.S. Voting Technology Leader Sequoia Voting Systems 
Announces New Corporate Ownership (Nov. 8, 2007), http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41. 
(While the terms of the sale are not public, the Sequoia press release states that the sale transaction 
includes a loan and an earn-out from Smartmatic.); Brad Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, 
and Shareholder Dead After Both Engines on Small Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 
2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947 (describing $2 million loan to Sequoia from Smartmatic).  
7 Letter Opinion of Apr. 4, 2008, Smartmatic Corp. v. SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, 
Inc.; and SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. v. Smartmatic Corp. and Hart 
InterCivic, Inc., Civil Action No. 3585-VCL, pages 13-14, available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.  While 
about ten Smartmatic employees work in the company’s Boca Raton, Florida, office, the vast majority 
of its employees, indeed more than a hundred of them, work in Venezuela, including members of 
Smartmatic’s computer design and research and development staff.  See Dun & Bradstreet Report on 
Smartmatic (2008), report available for purchase at http://www.dnb.com/us/.  
8 Gerardo Reyes, Vote machine firm ties to Venezuela questioned; A Chicago Alderman is not satisfied 
that a voting-systems company is free of influence from Venezuela President Hugo Chavez, MIAMI 
HERALD, Mar. 19, 2008, at 3 (article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com).
9 Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf. 
10 See Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1; Press Release, 
Sequoia Voting Systems, U.S. Voting Technology Leader Sequoia Voting Systems Announces New 
Corporate Ownership (Nov. 8, 2007) available at http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.

www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
www.bradblog.com/?p=5947(describing
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
www.dnb.com/us/.
www.miamiherald.com).
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;Press
www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-
http://www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
http://earc.berkeley.edu/news/2006/June/BallotFirmsTies.php.
http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947(describing
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
http://www.dnb.com/us/.
http://www.miamiherald.com).
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;Press
http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
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• a court decision in April 2008 reported that Smartmatic owns and 
licenses to Sequoia the vote-counting software used in Sequoia voting 
machines;

• Sequoia owes Smartmatic $2 million in a loan/earn-out that is part of 
the 2007 management buy-out;

• Smartmatic seeks through a proposed purchase of the Sequoia 
loan/earn-out by Hart InterCivic to control the world market for 
Sequoia voting machines in exchange for licensing Smartmatic’s vote-
counting software to Hart, an arrangement which Sequoia claims 
would violate agreements made with CFIUS and other federal 
government agencies.

I. City Council of Chicago Efforts to Understand the Influence of 
Smartmatic and the Venezuelan Government over U.S. Elections

In January 2008, representatives of Chicago, Illinois, which suffered from 
malfunctions in Smartmatic-developed software that delayed by a week the tabulation 
of the vote in the 2006 mid-term federal primary and that led to 15 or more 
Smartmatic agents coming from Venezuela to Chicago to help the city complete vote 
tabulation, wrote to Sequoia President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) Jack 
Blaine for information in an effort to confirm that “Smartmatic and the government of 
Venezuela have no ability to influence or control the new owners of Sequoia.”11  
Sequoia’s letter response dated January 18, 2008 has been described in the media as 
“deceptive,” “knowingly false,” and a continuation of “evasive” and “troublesome” 
sworn testimony provided in 2006 by Jack Blaine, then-President of both Sequoia and 
Smartmatic Corporation.12

In April 2006, the City Council of Chicago held hearings after election results 
were delayed a week due to problems using Smartmatic’s Hybrid Activator 
Accumulator Transmitter (“HAAT”) software to count the March 21, 2006 primary 
vote.13 Fifteen or so Smartmatic personnel, including Smartmatic senior executive and 

  
11 See Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
12 See Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
13 See, e.g., Fran Spielman, Aldermen: Halt payments to voting machine company, CHICAGO SUN-
TIMES, Mar. 28, 2006, at 12, article  available for purchase at
http://www.suntimes.com/search/index.html; Jerome L. Sherman, Chicago Voting Machines Stumble, 
PITTSBURGH POST-GAZETTE, Mar. 28, 2006, at A-1, article available for purchase at
http://www.lexis.com; Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and 
Government Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City 
Council of Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 104-05 (bottom page) (*Excerpts of this transcript are available at 
________.) Also in 2006, Cook County, Illinois, had problems with the software used to count votes in 
Sequoia voting machines in their 2006 primary and general elections.  A Cook County report by retired 
federal Judge Abner Mikva concluded that “[t]echnology failures in multiple areas” was a “primary 

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
www.suntimes.com/search/index.html;
www.lexis.com;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
http://www.suntimes.com/search/index.html;
http://www.lexis.com;
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shareholder, Roger Pinate, flew in from Venezuela to staff a behind-the-scenes war 
room at the City of Chicago’s election headquarters where votes from all over the city 
were being counted.14 Jack Blaine also then professed not to know who ultimately 
owned Smartmatic and confirmed that Venezuelans working for Smartmatic have 
access to the Sequoia voting machine software, including the source code.15  

In 2008, Alderman Edward Burke, who chaired Chicago’s 2006 investigation 
into the national security threat posed by Smartmatic’s access to voting systems 
software used to count votes in U.S. elections, raised concern that Smartmatic’s 2007 
sale of Sequoia was “a sham.”16 In a letter dated January 11, 2008, to the Chicago 
Board of Elections Chairman Langdon D. Neal, Alderman Burke is reported to have 
“expressed surprise” that Jack Blaine testified under oath in the 2006 Chicago 
hearings that “software components from the Sequoia system, [sic] were developed in 
Venezuela [including the critical component of the Sequoia systems – the HAAT] and 
that ‘the Venezuelans have access to the Sequoia code.’”17 Burke reiterated his dismay 
that Jack Blaine furthermore admitted that he could not answer whether or not Hugo 
Chávez was a Smartmatic shareholder.18 “The entire Smartmatic episode has served 
as a reminder of how important it is to know and trust who is counting the votes in our 
elections and to protect the integrity of our elections,” wrote Burke in his January 11, 

    
cause” of the delayed vote-tabulation in the 2006 general election and that there exist flaws with 
Sequoia’s software and design.  COOK COUNTY CLERK’S ELECTION REVIEW PANEL, REPORT ON
DELAYS IN ELECTION RESULTS REPORTING IN THE NOV. 7TH, 2006 ELECTION, at 4-5, 12, 17, Jan. 8, 
2007 (*A copy of this document is located at ________.)
14 See, Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.and COOK COUNTY CLERK’S ELECTION REVIEW PANEL, REPORT ON DELAYS IN ELECTION
RESULTS REPORTING IN THE NOV. 7TH, 2006 ELECTION, at 18-20, Jan. 8, 2007 (*A copy of this 
document is located at ________.) .
15 See Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government 
Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of 
Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 16, 18-20, 71-73, and 104-106.  (bottom page) (*Excerpts of the transcript are 
available at ________.) , and Letter from Jack Blaine, President of Sequoia Voting Systems Inc. and 
Smartmatic Corporation, to the Honorable Edward Burke, William Beavers, Richard Mell, Joint 
Committee on Finance; Committee on Budget and Government Operations; Committee on Committees, 
Rules and Ethics  (Apr. 12, 2006) (*A copy of this document is located at ________.) .
16 Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
17 Gerardo Reyes, Vote machine firm ties to Venezuela questioned; A Chicago Alderman is not satisfied 
that a voting-systems company is free of influence from Venezuela President Hugo Chavez, MIAMI 
HERALD, Mar. 19, 2008, at 3, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com/; see also
Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government Operations 
and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of Chicago, Apr. 7, 
2006, at 105-06 (bottom page) (*A copy of this document is located at ________.) .
18 Id. Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government 
Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of 
Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 20-23 (*Excerpts of the transcript are available at ________.) .

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.miamiherald.com/;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.miamiherald.com/;
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2008 letter.19 Burke then implored Neal that “[i]t is therefore important to confirm that 
the sale of Sequoia by Smartmatic is not a sham transaction designed to fool regulators 
and to further confirm that Smartmatic and the government of Venezuela have no 
ability to influence or control the new owners of Sequoia.”20 Burke requested answers 
to ten questions probing the bona fides of Smartmatic’s sale of Sequoia to its 
management. 

By letter dated January 18, 2008 to Chairman Neal, and purporting to respond 
to each of Alderman Burke’s individual questions, Jack Blaine, Sequoia President and 
CEO, confirmed in writing that Sequoia continues to use the Venezuelan developed 
“Edge2Plus and HAAT” in the City of Chicago and Cook County, Illinois.21 Blaine 
added that “Sequoia will continue to provide products, upgrades and accessories to the 
U.S. market based on products the company developed in cooperation with 
Smartmatic during the time the company owned Sequoia.”22 What Blaine did not say 
is that the Edge2Plus and HAAT are owned by Smartmatic and licensed by 
Smartmatic to Sequoia.  The implication of Blaine’s statement, which characterizes 
the software in Sequoia voting machines as having been “developed in cooperation 
with Smartmatic during the time the company owned Sequoia,” is that Smartmatic’s 
input into the software used to count votes on Sequoia voting machines is purely 
historical.  In fact, Smartmatic has an ongoing role as Smartmatic - not Sequoia - owns 
this very software and continues to determine its development and application in the 
U.S.  Blaine’s omission is particularly significant given that Alderman Burke in his 
January 11, 2008 letter specifically requested “any license, royalty and/or other 
intellectual property agreements between Sequoia and Smartmatic and/or their 
affiliates,” which request Blaine ignored. 23

  
19Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
20 Id.
21 Letter from Jack A. Blaine, CEO, Sequoia Voting Systems, to Langdon Neal, Chairman, Chicago 
Board of Elections (Jan. 18, 2008) at 2, available at http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
22 Id.
23 Compare Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on 
Finance to Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners, at 4 (Jan. 11, 
2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf. with Letter from Jack A. Blaine, CEO, Sequoia Voting Systems, to Langdon Neal, Chairman, 
Chicago Board of Elections (Jan. 18, 2008) at 2, available at http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
6005; Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;


6

II. Court Fight Between Smartmatic and Sequoia over Proposed Hart 
InterCivic Take-over of Sequoia Reveals Smartmatic Ownership of Vote-
Counting Software in Sequoia Voting Machines

Smartmatic’s ownership of the voting-counting software in Sequoia voting 
machines came to light in litigation over an offer by Hart InterCivic to “purchase the 
outstanding loan and earn-out provision agreement that Sequoia Voting Systems 
maintains with its former parent company,” Smartmatic.24 Counsel for Hart InterCivic 
represented in court that Smartmatic still owned the software used in Sequoia voting 
machines and would license that software to Hart InterCivic upon its take-over of 
Sequoia. According to the court, counsel for Hart InterCivic declared that “Sequoia 
currently uses [Smartmatic’s] intellectual property [currently found in Sequoia’s 
machines] pursuant to certain license agreements.”25

Furthermore, Sequoia takes the position that Smartmatic’s ownership of the 
Sequoia voting machines software, and any “indirect control” by Smartmatic over 
Sequoia is inconsistent with agreements made with the federal government.  Sequoia 
points out in litigation over the Hart proposed take-over of Sequoia that “Hart 
promises not to compete with Smartmatic in Latin America, the Philippines, and 
Belgium.  In return, Smartmatic promises to grant to Hart a license to use its 
intellectual property currently found in Sequoia’s machines.”26 Sequoia maintains that 
this Smartmatic-Hart agreement would “breach [Sequoia’s] agreements with the 
Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States and other government 
agencies.  Specifically, SVS maintains that if Hart’s agreement not to compete in Latin 
America, the Philippines, and Belgium is honored, Smartmatic has exercised ‘indirect 
control’ over Sequoia in violation of agreements with the government.  Similarly, SVS 
maintains that the proposal that Smartmatic have co-ownership rights in all intellectual 
property owned by Smartmatic with respect to Sequoia products certified in the United 
States compels the post-sale Sequoia to breach its agreements with the government.”27  
Thus, according to Sequoia, Smartmatic currently owns the software in Sequoia voting 
machines and Smartmatic’s (1) “indirect control” over Sequoia and (2) continued 
ownership of software used to count votes in Sequoia voting machines, would violate 
Sequoia’s agreements with the federal government.

  
24 Press Release, Sequoia Voting Systems, Sequoia Voting Systems Responds to Questions on Future 
Ownership Direction (Apr. 13, 2008), available at http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56; As 
one company, Sequoia and Hart InterCivic would control almost 30% of the election industry in the 
United States.  Brad Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, and Shareholder Dead After Both 
Engines on Small Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 2008), available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
25Letter Opinion of Apr. 4, 2008, Smartmatic Corp. v. SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, 
Inc.; and SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. v. Smartmatic Corp. and Hart 
InterCivic, Inc., Civil Action No. 3585-VCL, pages 13-14, available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.   
26 Id. at pages 13-14.
27 Id. at pages 21-22.

www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56;
www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56;
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.


7

III. Sequoia Voting Machine Software Is Vulnerable to Tampering

Insiders pose the greatest threat to election integrity because they have direct 
access to the voting machines on which votes are cast and counted.  James Baker, III, 
a Republican, and President Jimmy Carter, as co-chairs of the National Election 
Commission, have warned of a serious risk of insider fraud whenever software-driven 
electronic voting machines are used. They say: 

[t]he greater threat to most systems comes not from external hackers, 
but from insiders who have direct access to the machines.  Software can 
be modified maliciously before being installed into individual voting 
machines.  There is no reason to trust insiders in the election industry 
any more than in other industries, such as gambling, where 
sophisticated insider fraud has occurred despite extraordinary measures 
to prevent it.28

Sequoia voting machine software poses serious risks of tampering.  Princeton 
Professor of Computer Science, Andrew Appel, testified as an expert in litigation in 
New Jersey involving the Sequoia Advantage voting machines that “[i]t’s very easy to 
replace the software inside a computerized machine so it tells the voter it is voting for 
one candidate but really puts the vote in the wrong column,” and  “You can even 
program it to do that only on election day.”29 Later this year as part of the same 
litigation, Professors Edward Felton and Andrew Appel of Princeton University will 
examine Sequoia Advantage voting machine software to determine why the voting 
machines registered ghost voters in the 2008 presidential primary election in New 
Jersey.30

In 2007, the California Secretary of State decertified use of the Sequoia AVC 
Edge voting machines in that state.  In doing so, the Secretary reported that 
independent experts found that the software in Sequoia voting machines could be 
made to “shift[] votes from one candidate to another and [the shift] was not detectable 

  
28 Building Confidence in U.S. Elections, Report of the Commission on Federal Election Reform 
(September 2005), at 28, available at http://www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.  Other 
national authorities agree that electronic voting machines create a serious risk of insider fraud, including 
the General Accounting Office, the non-partisan investigative arm of Congress, 
http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf; the National Academy of Science’s Committee on a 
Framework for Understanding Electronic Voting, co-chaired by former Governors Richard Celeste and 
Dick Thornburgh (the “Governors’ Report”), http://www.nap.edu/catalog.
php?record_id=11704; the National Institute for Standards and Technology (“NIST”), 
http://www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf; the Brennan Center for 
Justice, http://www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology; and leading 
computer security experts who, funded by the National Science Foundation, formed ACCURATE, 
http://accurate-voting.org/pubs/reports/ (the ACCURATE Report).  
29 Elizabeth Dwoskin, Judge Gives New Jersey a Week to Fix Voting Machines, N.Y. TIMES, Sept. 6, 
2007, at 3, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin. 
30 Diane C. Walsh, Judge Allows Review of Voting Machines With Discrepancies, THE STAR-LEDGER
(Newark, New Jersey), Apr. 26, 2008, article available for purchase at http://www.lexis.com. 

www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.
www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf;
www.nap.edu/catalog.
www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf;
www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology;
www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin.
www.lexis.com.
http://www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.
http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf;
http://www.nap.edu/catalog.
http://www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf;
http://www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology;
http://accurate-voting.org/pubs/reports/(the
http://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin.
http://www.lexis.com.
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on the voter verifiable paper audit trail (VVPAT).”31 The California examination also 
found, among other risks, that the Sequoia voting machines 

• “[A]llow the insertion of a Trojan program via a malicious USB removable 
storage media device that could modify ballot definitions and results. . . .”32

• Are “designed to conduct Logic and Accuracy testing in a mode distinct 
from Election Day mode, which enables malicious firmware . . . to avoid 
operating in an incorrect manner while in testing mode.”33

• Contain “a shell-like scripting language in the firmware . . . that could be 
coerced into performing malicious actions, in apparent violation of 2002 
Voting System Standards . . .  [and that] includes, among others, a 
command to set the protective counter of the machine . . .; a command that 
can be used to overwrite . . . the system firmware or audit trail; and a 
command to reboot the machine at will.” 34

• Permit “corrupted or malicious data injected into removable media . . . with 
potentially serious consequences including alteration of recorded votes, 
adding false results, and, under some conditions, causing damage to the 
election management system when the corrupted or malicious data is 
loaded for vote counting.”35

On December 17, 2007, Colorado decertified the Sequoia Edge II and Edge II Plus for 
security reasons, which decision was effective immediately.”36

Litigation in New Mexico after the 2004 presidential election produced an 
expert assessment of Sequoia and other brands of touch-screen voting systems which 
identified  “undervotes” and “phantom votes,” in such numbers as to cast “serious 
doubt” on the 2004 presidential election result.37 In 2006, during Pennsylvania state 
certification testing, thousands of votes changed on Sequoia Advantage voting 

  
31 Withdrawal of Approval/Conditional Reapproval – October 25, 2007 Revision for Sequoia, available 
at http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm, hyperlink to Withdrawal of Approval/Conditional 
Reapproval - October 25, 2007 Revision for Sequoia, at 4. 
32 Id. at 4.
33 Id. at 3.
34 Id. at 3.
35 Id. at 2.
36 Letter from Mike Coffman, Secretary of State to Ed Smith, Compliance Manager, Sequoia Voting 
Systems (December 17, 2007), available at http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501 
(regarding DRE: Edge II (including VeriVote; Edge Audio Unit; and Card Activator), Version Number 
5.0.31/4.3/5.0 Rev. C and Edge II Plus (including HAAT Model 50, Version Number 1.2.33) (hyperlink 
“Certification results-Sequoia-12/17/07”).  The Colorado Secretary of State subsequently reversed this 
decision and conditionally certified the Sequoia Edge II and Edge II Plus systems; see Letter from Mike 
Coffman, Secretary of State to Ed Smith, Compliance Manager, Sequoia Voting Systems (February 25, 
2008), available at  http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
37 Lopategui, et al., v. Vigil-Giron, et al., CV No. 2005 00433, 2d Jud. Dist., Bernalillo Cty., N.M., 
Affidavit of John Skelly, at ¶ ¶ 5-12 (Jan. 14, 2005) (*A copy of this document is available from the 
court.). 

www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm,hyperlink
www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501
www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm,hyperlink
http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501
http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
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machines, resulting in the examiner’s refusal to certify the voting machines’ 
software.38  

IV. Smartmatic Ties to the Venezuelan Government of Hugo Chávez

Hugo Chávez has led Venezuela since February 2, 1999,39 and has been 
described as a “dictator.”40 The Washington Post has reported on “the hostile 
relationship between the Bush administration and the government of Venezuelan 
President Hugo Chavez,”41 and in a speech before the United Nations General 
Assembly, Chávez called President Bush “the devil.”42 In May 2008, Chávez and his 
senior aides, including Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez 
Chacín, were implicated in supplying heavy arms to the Revolutionary Armed Forces 
of Columbia (“FARC”), which the U.S. has listed as a terrorist group.43 Furthermore, 
Chávez has nationalized businesses and otherwise pressured Venezuelan businesses 
and their managers to do as he says.44 Moreover, as previously noted, Chávez has 
been described as “the foremost meddler in foreign elections in the Western 
hemisphere.”45  

  
38Tracie Mauriello, More glitches trigger halt in testing of new county voting machines, PITTSBURGH 
POST-GAZETTE, Mar. 30, 2006, available at http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
39 Timeline: Hugo Chavez, http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/6133732.stm. 
40 David Gonzalez, In Venezuela’s Capital, the 2 Faces of a Bitter Divide, N.Y. TIMES, Nov. 25, 2002, 
available at
http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9E0CE3D71139F936A15752C1A9649C8B63; The 
Dictator of Caracas, WALL ST. J., Dec. 5, 2005, article available for purchase at http://www.wsj.com. 
41 Pamela Constable, For Venezuela, U.S., a (Very) Little Civility, WASH. POST, Feb. 10, 2006, at A14, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2006/02/09/AR2006020902261.html. 
42 Ed Pilkington, Chavez attacks ‘devil’ Bush in fiery UN Speech, THE GUARDIAN, (London),  Sept. 21, 
2006, at 18, available at http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela. 
43 Juan Forero, Venezuela Offered Aid to Colombian Rebels: Officials Served as Middlemen With Arms 
Dealers, Files Show, WASH. POST, May 15, 2008, at A11, available at
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html and Juan 
Forero, FARC Computer Files Are Authentic, Interpol Probe Finds, WASH. POST, May 16, 2006, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2008/05/15/AR2008051504153.html (both articles describing records of FARC 
commanders meeting with Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez Chacín); Brian 
Orsak, Bush administration considering sanctions against Venezuela, MONEY LAUNDERING ALERT 
(Apr. 2008) (“The Bush Administration may blacklist Venezuela as a state sponsor of terror  . . . [for 
among other reasons] U.S. investigators discovered $600 billion from Venezuelan controlled accounts 
tied to terror groups blacklisted by the U.S. government [including] . . . Hizballah, Hamas and 
FARC.”), article available for purchase at 
http://www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529. 
44 See, e.g., Simon Romero, Venezuelan Leader Seizes Greater Economic Power, N.Y. TIMES, May 18, 
2008, at 14, available at
http://www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss. 
45 See Richard Brand, Hugo Wants Your Vote, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Apr. 6, 2006. available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
e=2496.

www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
www.wsj.com.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.htmland
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529.
www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss.
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/6133732.stm.
http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9E0CE3D71139F936A15752C1A9649C8B63;
http://www.wsj.com.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.htmland
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529.
http://www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss.
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur


10

At the end of 2007, the U.S indicted several Venezuelans, including a lawyer 
who apparently has worked for Smartmatic, Moisés Maiónica, in a case that “has 
highlighted the alleged interference of the government of Venezuela's leftist President 
Hugo Chavez in the politics of neighboring countries.”46 In December 2007, a U.S. 
grand jury in Miami, Florida, charged Maiónica and two other Venezuelan men with 
crimes in connection with alleged financing by Venezuelan President Hugo Chávez of 
the campaign of now-President Christina Fernandez de Kirchner of Argentina.47  
Maiónica pleaded guilty in January 2008 and apparently admitted to having been 
working for then Vice President of Venezuela, Jorge Rodriguez, in offering $2 million 
to an FBI informant for his silence.48 Jorge Rodriguez is reported to have stepped 
down as Vice President of Venezuela in January 2008, after Maiónica’s public 
indictment, due to his “close relationship” with Maiónica.49  

The relationship between Rodriguez and Maiónica is reported to have been 
instrumental in the Smartmatic-led SBC consortium securing the contract from the 
Chávez controlled Venezuelan National Electoral Council (“CNE”) to run the 2004 
Venezuelan presidential recall election.  According to a press report, “[i]n February 
2004, the Venezuelan electoral authorities selected the company Smartmatic to 
provide technology that automates the process of voting . . . The lawyer Moisés 
Maiónica would have acted as a proxy [for] Smartmatic and made all the legal and 
financial engineering with the approval of then member of the CNE and former [V]ice 
[P]resident of the Nation, Jorge Rodriguez.”50 Chávez won the 2004 presidential recall 

  
46 Agence France Presse, Indictment ties Caracas intelligence to Argentine funds case, Dec. 21, 2007, 
available at, http://rawstory.com/news/afp/Indictment_ties_Caracas_intelligenc_12212007.html; United 
States v. Maionica, et al., Indictment, Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres (Dec. 20, 2007) (*A 
copy of this document is available from the court).
47 Id.; United States v. Maionica, et al., Criminal Complaint, Case Number 07-3513-Dubé, with 
affidavit of Michael J. Lasiewicki, Special Agent with the FBI (Dec. 12, 2007) (*A copy of this 
document is available from the court.).
48 Id. United States v. Maionica, et al., Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres, Docket Sheet. (Plea 
Jan. 25, 2008) (*A copy of this document is available from the court). 
49 Valijero arrastró al vice de Chávez (Valijero dragged the vice Chavez), www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
tica/valijero-arrastr-al-vice-de-ch-vez.html (“estrecha relación”).  After the CNE awarded business to 
Smartmatic, Smartmatic reportedly paid for “vice president Rodriguez[’] . . . trip to a luxury resort in 
Boca Raton.”  Irina Hauser, Maionica, el bien conectado (Maionica, well connected), PAGINA/12, Mar. 
2, 2008, http://www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html (“le pagó al ex 
vicepresidente Rodríguez un viaje a un lujoso resort de Boca Ratón”). Smartmatic’s U.S. operations are 
located in Boca Raton, Florida.  Exhibit 10, supra, footnote 8.  Jorge Rodriguez served as Vice 
President of Venezuela from January 2007 until January 2008.  Clodovaldo Hernández, Chávez 
Designates Former Electoral Director As Vice-President, EL UNIVERSAL, Jan. 4, 2007, available at
http://english.eluniversal.com/2007/01/04/en_pol_art_04A821081.shtml; Chavez Appoints New Vice 
President, WTOP NEWS.COM, Jan. 3, 2008, available at
http://www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452. 
50 Valijero arrastró al vice de Chávez (Valijero dragged the vice Chavez), www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
tica/valijero-arrastr-al-vice-de-ch-vez.html  (“En febrero de 2004, las autoridades electorales 
venezolanas seleccionaron a la empresa Smartmatic para suministrar la tecnología que automatizara los 
proceses de votación . . . El abogado Moisés Maiónica habría actuado como apoderado de Smartmatic y 
realizado toda la ingeniería legal y financiera con el visto bueno del entonces titular de la CNE y ex 
vicepresidente de la Nación, Jorge Rodríguez.”)

www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html
www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452.
www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
http://rawstory.com/news/afp/Indictment_ties_Caracas_intelligenc_12212007.html;
http://www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html
http://english.eluniversal.com/2007/01/04/en_pol_art_04A821081.shtml;
http://www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452.
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election amidst controversy arising in part from the difference between the election 
day voter polls favoring Chávez’ opponent and the announced election results.51

Prior to 2004, however, Smartmatic had no election experience and otherwise 
was a fledgling business.52 Reportedly critical to the SBC consortium’s award of the 
$91 million 2004 recall election contract from the Chávez-dominated CNE was a 
$150,000 plus investment by the Venezuelan government in Bizta R&D Software, 
C.A. (“Bizta R&D Software”),53 the SBC consortium member focused on voting 
machine software.54 The Venezuelan government secured this 28% stake in Bizta 
R&D Software and then Bizta R&D Software gave power to a Venezuelan 
government official and software engineer with the Venezuelan Ministry of Science 
and Technology, Omar Montilla Castillo, by making him a Bizta R&D Software 
director.55 Bizta promised to repay the Venezuelan government for its investment and 
remove the government official from its board of directors after the Miami Herald 
revealed the consortium’s ties to the Chávez government.56

The Smartmatic-led SBC consortium continues to receive substantial financial 
support from the Chávez-led Venezuelan government through contracts to run 

  
51 Steve Dudley and Nancy San Martin, Chavez Foes To Check The Vote Tallies, MIAMI HERALD, at 
1A, Aug. 18, 2004, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com.
52 Richard Brand and Alfonso Chardy, Venezuela Owns Stake In Ballots, MIAMI HERALD, May 28, 
2004, at 1A, article available for purchase at, http://www.miamiherald.com Alexandra Olson, Doubts 
over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, available at
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm. 
53 Minutes of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of the Bizta R&D Software C.A. Company (Jun.
10, 2003), Venezuela (*A copy of this document is located at ________.); Alexandra Olson, Doubts 
over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, available at
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
54 See, e.g., Jim Ash and John Lantigua, Venezuelan Opposition Scrutinizes Touch-Screen Voting, PALM 
BEACH POST, Jun. 19, 2004, at 16A , article available for purchase at http://www.palmbeachpost.com/.  
The third member of the SBC consortium is CANTV, a Venezuelan government sponsored television 
company.  Id.
55 Minutes of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of the Commercial Corporation ‘Bizta R&D 
Software, C.A.’ (Dec. 15, 2003), signed and notarized by Alfredo Anzola Jaumotte and bearing the 
stamp of the Republica De Venezuela (*A copy of this document is located at ________.)  Howard 
Gleckman, One Man, One Vote, One Conspiracy Theory, BUSINESS WEEK, June 5, 2006, available at
http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
Hugo’s Revenge, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Nov. 6, 2006, at A18, available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
629&secure=1877.
56 Richard Brand, Voting-System Firm Drops Venezuela As An Investor, MIAMI HERALD, June 12, 2004, 
at 12A, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com; Richard Brand, Venezuela 
Investment In Smartmatic Was No Routine Loan, May 3, 2006, 
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734; Aleksander Boyd, Smartmatic: All 
Things Connected, http://www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135; Press Release, 
Bizta, Bizta Buys Out Foncrei Share, Venezuela State Investment Fund to be Repaid in Full, Omar 
Montilla to Leave Bizta Board of Directors (June 11, 2004) (*A copy of this document is located at 
________.) 

www.miamiherald.com.
www.miamiherald.com
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.palmbeachpost.com/.
www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
www.miamiherald.com;
www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734;
www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135;
http://www.miamiherald.com.
http://www.miamiherald.com
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.palmbeachpost.com/.
http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
http://www.miamiherald.com;
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734;
http://www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135;
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elections there.57 The closeness of Smartmatic’s relationship with the Chávez 
government is further reinforced by the response of aides close to Chávez to the 
hospitalization of a Smartmatic founder, shareholder and Chief Financial Officer, 
Alfredo José Anzola Jaumotte, after a small plane crash in late April 2008.  Anzola, a 
Venezuelan software engineer, not only was a central player in Smartmatic.  Anzola 
was President and part-owner of Bizta R&D Software when the Venezuelan 
government became Bizta R&D Software’s 28% owner, when the Venezuelan 
government official and software engineer, Montilla, joined the Bizta R&D Software 
board of directors, and presumably when the Venezuelan CNE awarded the SBC 
consortium the contract to run the voting systems for the 2004 election to recall Hugo 
Chávez as president of Venezuela.58  After the plane crash, the Governor of the State 
of Miranda, Diosdado Cabello Rondón, arranged for Anzola’s transfer from a local 
hospital to one in Caracas.59 Rondón is so close to the Venezuelan President Chávez 
that Rondón is reported to have taken on the duties of the presidency on a temporary 
basis during an attempted coup of Chávez in 2002.60 Chávez “aide-de-camp” Jorge 
Rodriguez, who as previously noted is a former Vice-President of Venezuela, a former 
member of the Venezuelan National Electoral Council when it awarded the SBC 
consortium the 2004 presidential recall election contract, and now is implicated in 
Venezuelan government financing of the election of the new president of neighboring 
Argentina;61 and Venezuela’s current Interior and Justice Minister, Ramón Rodríguez 

  
57 See Smartmatic Press Releases, Parliamentary elections in Venezuela reaffirm success of Smartmatic 
technology, Dec. 5, 2005, http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
elections-in-venezuela-reaffirm-success-of-smartmatic-technology/; 99.5% of voting centers in 
Venezuela to be automated with SAES3300, Nov. 8, 2006,
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
automated-with-saes3300/; Zero error in pre-election audit of SAES voting machines, Nov. 26, 2007, 
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
machines/; Smartmatic Voting System functions at full capacity during Regional Election, Nov. 1, 
2004, http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
capacity-during-regional-election/.
58 Richard Brand, Why is Hugo Chávez Involved with U.S. Voting Machines, REAL CLEAR POLITICS, 
Mar. 28, 2006, 
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.; Alexandra 
Olson, Doubts over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, 
available at http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
59 Gerardo Reyes, Perece en un accidente aéreo fundador de firma Smartmatic (Perished in a plane 
crash founder of signing Smartmatic), EL NUEVO HERALD, Apr. 30, 2008, at A4,  article available for 
purchase at http://www.elnuevoherad.com; States of Venezuela since 1990, 
http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
60 http://www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html, ECONOMICEXPERT.COM.
61 Karem Racines Arévalo, 5 muertos y 4 heridos por accidente aéreo en Catia La Mar (Five dead, four
injured because of airplane accident in Catia La Mar), EL NACIONAL (Venezuela) Apr. 28, 2008 (“[e]n 
los predios del hospital se confirmó la presencia del ex vicepresidente Jorge Rodríguez, quien acudió al 
lugar a constatar el estado de salud de[] [Alfredo José Anzola].”)(“[I]n the hospital area it was 
confirmed the presence of the former vice president Jorge Rodriguez, who went to the place to verify 
the state of health of [Alfredo José Anzola]”); Gustavo Coronel, The Impact of Alan Garcia’s Victory 
On The Latin American Political Scenario, June 6, 2006, 
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730 (referring to “Jorge Rodriguez, 
former President of the Venezuelan National Electoral Council” as Chávez’ “aide de camp”); Brad 
Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, and Shareholder Dead After Both Engines on Small 
Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 2008), available at 

www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.;
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.elnuevoherad.com;States
www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html,
www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730(referring
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.;
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.elnuevoherad.com;States
http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
http://www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html,
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730(referring
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Chacín,62 who as previously noted is implicated in Venezuela’s provision of weapons 
to U.S. blacklisted FARC in neighboring Columbia and who may be related to Anzola,
63 attended Anzola at his death bed.64  

    
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947; United States v. Maionica, et al., Indictment, Case Number 07-
20999-CR-Lenard/Torres (Dec. 20, 2007) (*A copy of this document is available from the court);
United States v. Maionica, et al., Criminal Complaint, Case Number 07-3513-Dubé, with affidavit of 
Michael J. Lasiewicki, Special Agent with the FBI (Dec. 12, 2007) (*A copy of this document is 
available from the court); United States v. Maionica, et al., Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres, 
Docket Sheet. (Plea Jan. 25, 2008) (*A copy of this document is available from the court).
62 Anthony Rangel and Nadeska Noriega Ávila, Avioneta cae sobre vivienda en Vargas (Small Plane 
Falls On House In Vargas) (Apr. 29, 2008), 
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml. 
63 Id. see Juan Forero, Venezuela Offered Aid to Colombian Rebels: Officials Served as Middlemen With 
Arms Dealers, Files Show, WASH. POST, May 15, 2008, at A11, available at
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html; Juan 
Forero, FARC Computer Files Are Authentic, Interpol Probe Finds, WASH. POST, May 16, 2006, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2008/05/15/AR2008051504153.html (both articles describing records of FARC 
commanders meeting with Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez Chacín).
64 See. Karem Racines Arévalo, 5 muertos y 4 heridos por accidente aéreo en Catia La Mar (Five dead, 
four injured because of airplane accident in Catia La Mar), EL NACIONAL (Venezuela) Apr. 28, 2008, 
article available for purchase at http://www.lexis.com; Anthony Rangel and Nadeska Noriega Ávila, 
Avioneta cae sobre vivienda en Vargas (Small Plane Falls On House In Vargas) (Apr. 29, 2008), 
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.

www.bradblog.com/?p=5947;
www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html;
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.lexis.com;Anthony
www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947;
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html;
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.lexis.com;Anthony
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.


Over 35 million voters assisted in some 50 elections across the US

More than 300 jurisdictions served in 17 States

Some 57,000 voting and counting machines deployed

Approximately 392,000 election devices deployed successfully

1st online voting experience in Utah – 2016 GOP Presidential Caucus

Achievements

United States elections
2005 – 2016



After Smartmatic sold Sequoia Voting Systems, it continued offering maintenance and support services for 
the City of Chicago and Cook County in Illinois. 

In recent years Smartmatic has deployed some of its most innovative technology like the ePen and online 
voting in California, Utah and Virginia.  

Smartmatic technology for US elections

Smartmatic’s R & D labs have produced technology which has facilitated voting, results transmission, vote 
tallying and other crucial tasks of election administration.  

Edge2Plus is our touchscreen voting machine specifically designed and manufactured for the US market. The 
Edge2Plus was sold in 2005 to the City of Chicago and Cook County, IL. 

HAAT. Our Hibrid Activator-Acumulator-Transmitter (HAAT) is a device we developed to help authorities 
consolidate data from different voting machines, print consolidation reports, and transmit precinct totals to 
a central tabulation center. HAAT is one of the more than twenty US patented inventions owned by 
Smartmatic. 

ePen. This digital pen includes a special camera that captures and digitizes every stroke performed, instantly 
translating handwritten information into digital format. The ePen can be used to improve many election 
processes. In 2015, the City of Richmond, VA, used the ePen to streamline the transmission of results. 
During the 2016 Primary Presidential Elections, three cities of the L.A. County, used the ePen to transmit 
results electronically to the County Clerk’s Office.

TIVI is an online voting solution built around the successful Estonian online voting system –the longest-standing 
and most advanced in the world. TIVI was used in 2016 during the Utah GOP Presidential Caucus. Online 
voting enfranchised Utahans from over 45 countries, including places as far as South Africa, Japan and French 
Polynesia.  

Smartmatic in the United States
In 2005, Smartmatic began participating in US elections through its subsidiary, Sequoia Voting Systems. 

During the 2005 and 2006 election cycles, it provided technology and support services to more than 307 
jurisdictions across 16 states: Arizona, California, Colorado, District of Columbia, Florida, Illinois, Louisiana, 
Michigan, Missouri, New Jersey, Nevada, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin. 

Direct Recording Electronic
 Voting Machines (DRE)

Type of device Models Quantity

47,847 

Precinct Count Optical 
Scanners (PCOS)

(Advantage, Edge, Edge2P
and Edge2Plus)

Eagle, Insight, NCS 
OpScan and Optech 

10,728

Central Counting Optical 
Scanners (CCOS)

400C 34

Technology deployed 



Edge2Plus voting machine and the HAAT, which 
consolidates results according to the Voting 
Voluntary Guidelines (VVSG) adopted by the US 
Electoral Assistance Commission. 
Edge2Plus voting machine and the HAAT, according 
to the standards of Illinois. 

Edge2Plus and the HAAT, along with the WinEDS 
system to configure the elections, as a component 
of the election solution by Smartmatic-Sequoia.

For these two important jurisdictions, we also 
provided the following services:  

Sale, manufacture and set up of the voting 
machines and vote transmission platform
Installation of Data Centers and a system for 
election management and configuration

Election configuration and end-to-end testing 
Support during all phases of the election 
(pre-election, early voting, election day and tally) 
Field support to operators 
Maintenance of hardware and software

Services

US elections 2005 – 2016

Smartmatic manufactured - US Certified 
As required by the law, Smartmatic complied with the certification processes that were necessary to sell the 
technology in the US Market. 

Election configuration and setup, including: 
election database configuration, ballot style 
creation and precinct configuration.
Testing and certification of election configuration: 
voting machine configuration (including DRE, 
PCOS and CCOS), ballot configuration testing, 
end-to-end system testing and certification. 

Remote technical support to service personnel 
on-site during the installation and deployment of 
the election system. 
On-site technical support during election day to 
certain counties, including: Illinois (Chicago/Cook), 
California (Santa Clara), Nevada (Douglas), Colorado 
(Denver, Arapahoe), and Arizona (Maricopa).

A successful election requires more than good technology. This is why Smartmatic offers a wide range of 
election support services that can guarantee efficient processes.

Technical Support 

Chicago and Cook County in Illinois 

DRE: Direct Recording Electronic voting machine
PCOS: Precinct Count Optical Scanner
CCOS: Central Count Optical Scanner

Arizona
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

2,552

California
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE, ePen
Devices

12,697

Florida
Technology
PCOS, CCOS, DRE
Devices
3,902

Michigan
Technology
PCOS
Devices
1,000

Wisconsin
Technology
DRE
Devices
1,344

Pennsylvania
Technology
DRE
Devices
1,758

Missouri
Technology
PCOS, DRE

Devices
1,190

Louisiana
Technology

DRE
Devices

4,124

Illinois
Technology
PCOS, CCOS, DRE
Devices
11,422

Colorado
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

2,923

District
of Columbia

Technology
DRE, PCOS

Devices
310

New Jersey
Technology

DRE
Devices

10,336

Virginia
Technology

DRE, ePen
Devices

1,390

Nevada
Technology
PCOS, DRE

Devices
2,421

Oregon
Technology

CCOS
Devices

5

Washington
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

1,235

Smartmatic in the US
Utah

Technology
Online voting



Continent: North America
Country: United States

Capital: Washington, D. C.
Estimated population: 326 million

Type of government: Constitutional 
Federal Republic

www.smartmatic.com

Smartmatic is the world’s leading elections and voting technology company. Since forming in 2000, it has developed and 
implemented technology solutions that help authorities run efficient and transparent elections.  

Today, Smartmatic offers a comprehensive portfolio of unique and innovative technologies and services to improve every stage of 
the electoral process. Its technology has processed over 3.7 billion votes in election projects on five continents. 

Smartmatic is headquartered in London and serves its customers through an organisation of more than 600 employees working in 
16 offices around the world. 

About Smartmatic

Copyright © Smartmatic. 2000 - 2018. All rights reserved.

"In fact, for most voters voting was simple and smooth. The feedback from the polls was that voters liked 
the [Smartmatic’s] electoral solution [through its subsidiary Sequoia Voting System]” | Langdon D. Neal, 
President of the Electoral Commission of Chicago and David Orr, Clerk of the Cook County in Illinois, 2006.

“We are proud to have taken a leading role in election modernization. By offering online voting, we 
expanded the number of options citizens have to participate and made voting as convenient as possible. 
Technology proved key in engaging citizens and bolstering democracy.” | James Evans, Chairman of the 
Utah Republican Party, 2016 



SMARTMATIC 
2000 Founded in Venezuela 
2004 28% Caesar Chavez-owned; 

offices in London UK, Caracas VZ, 
Boca Raton FL, Sunnyvale CA 

2005 Purchased Sequoia; acquired 
OpTech 

2006 Sold Sequoia-Smartmatic (US) to 
Smartmatic (UK) 

2012 Smartmatic (UK) operated 
R&D labs in 
US, Brazil, Venezuela, Barbados, 
Panama, UK, Netherlands, UAE, 
Phillipines, Estonia and Taiwan.  

2014 SGO  (Lord Malloch-Brown) 
acquired Smartmatic (UK) 

LORD MALLOCH-BROWN 
2010  Avid introduced LeaderPlus Election 

Night Newsroom management suite 
2012 Investec Plc , Malloch-Brown 

invested in  ISIS Management 
Limited (Investec Plc); Avid 
introduced Avid Knowledge Base 
ISIS Management Console - Agent 
Settings as complement to 
LeaderPlus; pushes Fake News 
scripts to MSM election news 
anchors in real time 

SEQUOIA 
1960 Mathematical Systems Corp; 

punch cards 
1970 Diamond National Corp acquired 

Mathematical 
1983 Sequoia Pacific; acquired 

Diamond 
1984 Sequoia Voting Machines formed 

from Diamond,  Automatic Voting 
Machine Corp, OpTech license 
from Smartmatic 

1997 Licensed OpTech software  from 
Smartmatic 

2005 Sequoia purchased by 
Smartmatic (UK) 

2010 DOJ-triggered sale of Smartmatic 
to US investors (Mitt Romney, 
Bain Capital, Booz Allen), 
renamed company Sequoia 

2011 Sold to Dominion (Canada) 
2011 Filed Chapter 11 bankruptcy in US 

DIEBOLD / ES&S / DOMINION 
1974 Klopp Printing, Urosevich Bros, 

created OpTech; ally with 
Westinghouse Corp to sell Data 
Mark Systems 

1979 Urosevich Bros and 
Westinghouse start American 
Information Systems 

1997 America Info acquired ESD; 
renamed to Election  Systems & 
Software (ES&S); licensed OpTech 
to Diebold (later renamed 
Premier) 

1998 ES&S acquired Votronic fully 
electronic voting (DRE) 

2006 Diebold rebranded to Premier 
Election Systems 

2009 ES&S acquired Premier 
2010 Dominion Voting Systems 

acquired Premier (formerly 
Diebold) in a DOJ-triggered anti-
trust divestiture 

HART INTERCIVIC 
2000 Hart InterCivic  spun off from 

Hart Graphics to focus on election 
systems 

2010 Mitt Romney, Bain Capital, Booz 
Allen purchased Smartmatic (US); 
acquires  OpTech license from 
DOJ-triggered sale; renamed it 
Sequoia 

Finding: All prominent electronic voting systems in the U.S. (Smartmatic, Sequoia, Diebold, ES&S, Dominion and Hart InterCivic) are networked to the same 
software engine and controlled by the same financiers tied to George Soros and the Queen’s Privy Council, thus making corrupt practices in U.S. elections a 
foregone conclusion. Lord Mark Malloch-Brown and Sir Geoffrey E. Pattie brag about their ability to “bend” elections , protected by the Queen. 
Recommendation: In addition to the companies identified below, there are other companies trying to make voting secure with jpegs, separate validations, etc. 
on separate machines. However, no tech of any kind can maintain a “bipartisan chain of custody.” The human eye cannot see silicon circuits, software induced 
voltages, and that which is hidden from empirical observation. We can only ‘trust’ the process and the people.  Electronic voting offends the entire concept of 
our Republic -- which was formed on the concept that authority, being given from the “power of the people” who gain it directly from God, must be separated 
with jurisdictional boundaries so that the “tendency of men with too much authority to ‘oppress’” can be muted by that separation. Centralizing the voting 
process so that the ‘Fake News’ can report a sensationalized and profitable result is pure idiocy. We the People should not trust government. We must insist at 
all times and under all circumstances that dual-Federalism is maintained. The job of the People is to ensure that the boundaries are maintained. We must all be 
mechanics of the Republic. The following voting machines must be scrapped immediately as the fruit of a poisoned tree called technocracy. 

Scrap Corruption-ridden Electronic Voting – Now! 

Chief Electronic 
Voting Scammers: 

Queen’s Privy Council State Dept / DNC / RNC FBI / DOJ / C.I.A. 

Use freely. Anonymous Patriots. Rev. July 06, 2018 

Mueller Comey Holder Clinton Obama Romney Soros Malloch-Brown Pattie Bush 

Insert (not in the Report) to show how Smartmatic and Dominion operate with the same core OpTech software scanning engine.



SMARTMATIC AND SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS ANNOUNCE 
VOLUNTARY CFIUS FILING // SMARTMATIC CEO ANTONIO 
MUGICA TO HOLD PRESS CONFERENCE

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

                                                                                                                                        
SMARTMATIC AND SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS ANNOUNCE 

VOLUNTARY CFIUS FILING

SMARTMATIC CEO ANTONIO MUGICA TO HOLD PRESS 
CONFERENCE

BOCA RATON, FLORIDA, October 29, 2006 - Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. 
("Sequoia") and its parent, the Smartmatic Corporation ("Smartmatic"), today announced 
that, contrary to reports, the companies have voluntarily submitted a notice to the U.S. 
Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS).  The companies filed 
voluntarily in order to allow the U.S. Government to review Smartmatic's acquisition of 
Sequoia.

"No foreign government or entity - including Venezuela - has ever held an 
ownership stake in Smartmatic, and we have voluntarily filed with CFIUS to put to rest 
the baseless but persistent rumors about our ownership," said Antonio Mugica, Chief 
Executive Officer, Smartmatic. 

The firm is owned primarily by three young entrepreneurs: Antonio Mugica, a 
dual-Spanish-Venezuelan national (78.8%); Alfredo Anzola (3.87%); and Roger Pinate 
(8.47%).  The other main investor is Jorge Massa (5.97%), a well-known French-
Venezuelan businessman. Smartmatic employees and friends and family own the 
remainder of the firm (2.89%).

As part of the CFIUS process, Smartmatic and Sequoia have voluntarily provided 
significant information to CFIUS on all aspects of the two firms' businesses and 
ownership and the security and integrity of Sequoia's voting solutions.

"As a company, we sought out a CFIUS review because we are confident it will 
clear the air so we can focus on what we do best - making the world's most secure and 
auditable voting solutions," added Antonio Mugica.

Press Conference: 2:00pm, Washington, DC, October 30th, 2006.

Smartmatic and Sequoia will hold a press conference tomorrow - Monday, 
October 30 - to present additional information on their voluntary filing, the company's 
ownership and operating structure and to take questions.

The press conference will be held at Sutherland Asbill and Brennan LLP, 1275 
Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington DC 20004 at 2:00PM, Monday, October 30th, 
2006.

A call-in number for journalists will be distributed tomorrow.



About Smartmatic (www.smartmatic.com) and Sequoia
(http://www.sequoiavote.com/)
Smartmatic and Sequoia are leaders in the provision of secure and reliable voting 
solutions and pioneers in the introduction of electronic voting systems with a Voter 
Verifiable Paper Audit Trail.

A privately-held, independent corporation with 300 employees worldwide, Smartmatic is 
an international leader in the provision of secure, reliable and auditable voting systems.
Sequoia Voting Systems is an American company, based in Oakland, California with a
100-year history of providing accurate, reliable, state-of-the-art voting solutions dating 
back to the nation's first lever-based mechanical voting equipment in the 1890s. Sequoia 
provides election technology, services and support to state and local government 
including precinct-based optical scan ballot readers, high-speed central count optical 
scan ballot readers, ballot layout and printing services, and full-face and paginating 
electronic voting equipment with optional printers that produce voter verifiable paper 
records. The company has hundreds of customers throughout the country and its voting 
equipment will be used on November 7th, 2006 in 16 states plus the District of Columbia.
Sequoia has been providing electronic voting equipment for twenty-five years and leads 
the industry with our AVC Advantage full-face push button electronic voting system and 
the AVC Edge touchscreen system. 
CONTACTS: 

Michelle Shafer, Sequoia Voting 
mshafer@sequoiavote.com
(512) 426-5658

Mitch Stoller, Smartmatic
mstoller@groupsjr.com
(212) 751-3327



8/28/2018 Smartmatic Announces Sale of Sequoia Voting Systems | Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney
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Smartmatic Announces Sale of Sequoia Voting
Systems
Nov 8, 2007 | Press Release

WASHINGTON – Smartmatic, the voting machine firm with ties to the Venezuelan government, today announced that it is
divesting ownership of the voting machine company Sequoia Voting Systems.  Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney (D-NY) shined
the congressional spotlight on the Sequoia purchase last year by Smartmatic because it posed serious national security
concerns about the integrity of our elections.  Last year, Smartmatic decided to sell Sequoia rather than complete an
investigation by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS), the government entity charged with
ensuring the safety of foreign investment in the U.S.  (To read the official Sequoia sale announcement:
https://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php). 

“I am relieved by the news of this sale – it was a long time coming,” said Maloney.  “The integrity of our voting machines and
elections is vital to national security.  Given all of the past uncertainty and anxiety surrounding electronic voting, it’s nice that
voters will have this added reassurance when they enter the voting booth this Election Day.”

 
Smartmatic was the subject of controversy in 2004 when the Hugo Chavez-led Venezuelan government selected it to provide
the voting machines system for the presidential recall election, even though it would have been the company’s first time
providing machines for an election.  Smartmatic teamed up with a Venezuelan software company, Bitza, which at the time was
28 percent owned by Chavez’s government.  In 2005, a Chicago city alderman questioned the possible ties between Sequoia
and the Venezuelan government when that company’s machines were used in the March 2006 Chicago primaries. 

 
“When I first raised concerns about the Smartmatic case with the U.S. Treasury Department, I knew it was ripe for a CFIUS
investigation. There were just too many questions and lingering doubts, which Smartmatic was clearly unable to overcome,”
Maloney said.   

 
At first, Smartmatic flatly refused to undergo a CFIUS review.  It eventually agreed to a review, but later dropped out of the
review process and announced its intent to divest of Sequoia. 
“The Smartmatic case reinforces the importance of a strong CFIUS review system.  That’s why I worked hard to pass new
CFIUS reforms this year that encourage safe foreign investment in the U.S. without jeopardizing our nation’s security,” added
Maloney. 

 
Maloney authored the new law to strengthen CFIUS.  For more information on Congresswoman Maloney’s work on CFIUS
reform. 

 
Background/Timeline:

May 2006 - Maloney first raised questions about Smartmatic with then-Treasury Secretary Snow, inquiring whether the deal for
Sequoia had undergone a CFIUS investigation
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July 2006 - Treasury acknowledged that it had initially contacted Smartmatic, although a CFIUS investigation was not
underway at the time. In early October, Maloney wrote to Treasury Secretary Paulson to apprise him of the lingering questions
surrounding Smartmatic:
https://maloney.house.gov/sites/maloney.house.gov/files/documents/financial/acquisitions/20061006ElectionsCFIUS_paulson.pdf

October 2006: Smartmatic announced that it was undergoing a CFIUS investigation

December 2006: Smartmatic announced it was withdrawing from CFIUS review and selling Sequoia
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Date:  June 12, 2008 Contact:  John Bonifaz, (413) 253-2700

SEQUOIA VOTING SYSTEMS, INC. USES VOTE-COUNTING SOFTWARE 
DEVELOPED, OWNED, AND LICENSED BY FOREIGN-OWNED 

SMARTMATIC, A COMPANY LINKED TO THE 
VENEZUELAN GOVERNMENT OF HUGO CHÁVEZ

U.S. national security is potentially at risk because software used to count 
votes in 20% of the country during U.S. elections is owned and controlled by a 
Venezuelan-run company with ties to the Venezuelan government of Hugo Chávez,1

which has been described as “the foremost meddler in foreign elections in the Western 
hemisphere.”2 Foreign-owned and foreign-run Smartmatic’s control over vote-
counting software used in the voting machines of Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. 
(“Sequoia” or “SVS”) presents a potential national security risk now just as it did in 
2006 when the U.S. Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”) 
opened an investigation of Smartmatic’s ownership of Sequoia.3 CFIUS is a U.S. 
government inter-agency committee led by the U.S. Department of Treasury that 
addresses national security risks posed by foreign ownership of or influence over U.S. 
business, including companies providing the means by which voters in the U.S. elect 
their President and Congressional Representatives.4 Rather than answer to CFIUS 

1 Richard Brand, Why is Hugo Chávez Involved with U.S. Voting Machines?, REAL CLEAR POLITICS, 
Mar. 28, 2006, 
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html; Brad 
Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, Control of 
Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
2 Richard Brand, Hugo Wants Your Vote, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Apr. 6, 2006, available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
e=2496.
3 In 2006, the Wall Street Journal reported that Smartmatic “would sell its U.S. subsidiary [Sequoia] to 
end a review by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the U.S. into whether Smartmatic is partially 
owned by the Venezuelan government.”  Bob Davis, Smartmatic to Shed U.S. Unit, End Probe Into 
Venezuelan Links, WALL ST. J., Dec. 22, 2006, at A6, article available for purchase at 
http://www.wsj.com.  The Wall Street Journal also reported a Department of Justice investigation into 
whether Smartmatic had engaged in bribery or tax fraud. Id. see also Bob Davis and Glenn Simpson, 
U.S. Authorities Probe How Smartmatic Won Venezuela Election Pact, WALL ST. J., Dec. 1, 2006, at 
A9, article available for purchase at http://www.wsj.com  (“The company says it paid $1.5 million to a 
Venezuelan consultant who is close to the Chavez government and helped to win Smartmatic business.  
The allegation being investigated is that Smartmatic actually paid as much as $4 million to the 
consultant, then deleted a substantial portion of those payments from its corporate records to hide the 
extent of its payments to a friend of the Chavez regime.”).
4 50 U.S.C. App. § 2170(a) available at http://uscode.house.gov/uscode-
cgi/fastweb.exe?getdoc+uscview+t49t50+2932+1++%28%29%20%20AND%20%28%2850%29%20A
DJ%20USC%29%3ACITE%20AND%20%28USC%20w%2F10%20%282170%29%29%3ACITE%20
%20%20%20%20%20%20%20AND%20%28APPENDIX%29%3AEXPCITE%20; 31 C.F.R. § 800, 
App. A available at http://ecfr.gpoaccess.gov/cgi/t/text/text-

https://www.nist.gov/sites/default/files/documents/itl/vote/SequoiaSmartmaticReport61208.pdf

www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html;Brad
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
www.wsj.com.
www.wsj.com
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html;Brad
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
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http://uscode.house.gov/uscode-
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regarding the ultimate owners of the Smartmatic conglomerate5 and its ties to the 
Chávez government, an investment group led by Sequoia management reportedly 
bought Sequoia from Smartmatic in late 2007 under terms that were not made public.6  
Since then, however, it has come to light that Smartmatic continues to own the 
software that counts the votes on Sequoia voting machines and licenses to Sequoia that 
software, which Smartmatic develops in Venezuela.7 Concern, now, is that 
Smartmatic’s sale of Sequoia “was fraudulent”,8 “a sham transaction designed to fool 
regulators.”9

Efforts to date have not succeeded in determining the ultimate owners of 
Smartmatic or the extent to which Smartmatic and the Chávez government of 
Venezuela have influence over U.S. elections through Smartmatic’s control of the 
software that counts votes for Sequoia voting machines.  Sequoia steadfastly maintains 
that the 2007 Sequoia management buy-out “completely eliminates Smartmatic’s 
ownership, control and operational rights of any kind in Sequoia”10 when 

    
idx?c=ecfr&sid=cd91543f2cfccfc56d8f4c187217c3d8&rgn=div9&view=text&node=31:3.1.4.1.1.7.1.3.
11&idno=31; see also Foreign Investment and National Security Act of 2007, Pub. L. No. 110-49, 121 
Stat. 246 (amending CFIUS law) available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-
bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=110_cong_public_laws&docid=f:publ049.110 and 73 Fed. Reg. 21861-21880 
(Apr. 23, 2008) (proposed regulations the final version of which is to be codified at 31 C.F.R. pt. 800) 
may be accessed at http://www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
5 Smartmatic Corporation, is a U.S. unit of Smartmatic International Holding, B.V., a Netherlands-
based business, which itself is a unit of Smartmatic International Group, N.V., Curaçao.  Marc Lifsher, 
Ballot Firm’s Ties to Venezuela Criticized; Some American officials worry that Sequoia Voting 
Systems’ foreign link could compromise the integrity of the U.S. election process, L.A. TIMES, Jun. 3, 
2006, at C1, available at http://earc.berkeley.edu/news/2006/June/BallotFirmsTies.php. 
6 Press Release, Sequoia Voting Systems, U.S. Voting Technology Leader Sequoia Voting Systems 
Announces New Corporate Ownership (Nov. 8, 2007), http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41. 
(While the terms of the sale are not public, the Sequoia press release states that the sale transaction 
includes a loan and an earn-out from Smartmatic.); Brad Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, 
and Shareholder Dead After Both Engines on Small Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 
2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947 (describing $2 million loan to Sequoia from Smartmatic).  
7 Letter Opinion of Apr. 4, 2008, Smartmatic Corp. v. SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, 
Inc.; and SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. v. Smartmatic Corp. and Hart 
InterCivic, Inc., Civil Action No. 3585-VCL, pages 13-14, available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.  While 
about ten Smartmatic employees work in the company’s Boca Raton, Florida, office, the vast majority 
of its employees, indeed more than a hundred of them, work in Venezuela, including members of 
Smartmatic’s computer design and research and development staff.  See Dun & Bradstreet Report on 
Smartmatic (2008), report available for purchase at http://www.dnb.com/us/.  
8 Gerardo Reyes, Vote machine firm ties to Venezuela questioned; A Chicago Alderman is not satisfied 
that a voting-systems company is free of influence from Venezuela President Hugo Chavez, MIAMI 
HERALD, Mar. 19, 2008, at 3 (article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com).
9 Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf. 
10 See Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1; Press Release, 
Sequoia Voting Systems, U.S. Voting Technology Leader Sequoia Voting Systems Announces New 
Corporate Ownership (Nov. 8, 2007) available at http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.

www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
www.bradblog.com/?p=5947(describing
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
www.dnb.com/us/.
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www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;Press
www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=41.
http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-
http://www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/retrieve.html.
http://earc.berkeley.edu/news/2006/June/BallotFirmsTies.php.
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http://www.dnb.com/us/.
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http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;Press
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• a court decision in April 2008 reported that Smartmatic owns and 
licenses to Sequoia the vote-counting software used in Sequoia voting 
machines;

• Sequoia owes Smartmatic $2 million in a loan/earn-out that is part of 
the 2007 management buy-out;

• Smartmatic seeks through a proposed purchase of the Sequoia 
loan/earn-out by Hart InterCivic to control the world market for 
Sequoia voting machines in exchange for licensing Smartmatic’s vote-
counting software to Hart, an arrangement which Sequoia claims 
would violate agreements made with CFIUS and other federal 
government agencies.

I. City Council of Chicago Efforts to Understand the Influence of 
Smartmatic and the Venezuelan Government over U.S. Elections

In January 2008, representatives of Chicago, Illinois, which suffered from 
malfunctions in Smartmatic-developed software that delayed by a week the tabulation 
of the vote in the 2006 mid-term federal primary and that led to 15 or more 
Smartmatic agents coming from Venezuela to Chicago to help the city complete vote 
tabulation, wrote to Sequoia President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) Jack 
Blaine for information in an effort to confirm that “Smartmatic and the government of 
Venezuela have no ability to influence or control the new owners of Sequoia.”11  
Sequoia’s letter response dated January 18, 2008 has been described in the media as 
“deceptive,” “knowingly false,” and a continuation of “evasive” and “troublesome” 
sworn testimony provided in 2006 by Jack Blaine, then-President of both Sequoia and 
Smartmatic Corporation.12

In April 2006, the City Council of Chicago held hearings after election results 
were delayed a week due to problems using Smartmatic’s Hybrid Activator 
Accumulator Transmitter (“HAAT”) software to count the March 21, 2006 primary 
vote.13 Fifteen or so Smartmatic personnel, including Smartmatic senior executive and 

  
11 See Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
12 See Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
13 See, e.g., Fran Spielman, Aldermen: Halt payments to voting machine company, CHICAGO SUN-
TIMES, Mar. 28, 2006, at 12, article  available for purchase at
http://www.suntimes.com/search/index.html; Jerome L. Sherman, Chicago Voting Machines Stumble, 
PITTSBURGH POST-GAZETTE, Mar. 28, 2006, at A-1, article available for purchase at
http://www.lexis.com; Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and 
Government Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City 
Council of Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 104-05 (bottom page) (*Excerpts of this transcript are available at 
________.) Also in 2006, Cook County, Illinois, had problems with the software used to count votes in 
Sequoia voting machines in their 2006 primary and general elections.  A Cook County report by retired 
federal Judge Abner Mikva concluded that “[t]echnology failures in multiple areas” was a “primary 

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
www.suntimes.com/search/index.html;
www.lexis.com;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1.
http://www.suntimes.com/search/index.html;
http://www.lexis.com;
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shareholder, Roger Pinate, flew in from Venezuela to staff a behind-the-scenes war 
room at the City of Chicago’s election headquarters where votes from all over the city 
were being counted.14 Jack Blaine also then professed not to know who ultimately 
owned Smartmatic and confirmed that Venezuelans working for Smartmatic have 
access to the Sequoia voting machine software, including the source code.15  

In 2008, Alderman Edward Burke, who chaired Chicago’s 2006 investigation 
into the national security threat posed by Smartmatic’s access to voting systems 
software used to count votes in U.S. elections, raised concern that Smartmatic’s 2007 
sale of Sequoia was “a sham.”16 In a letter dated January 11, 2008, to the Chicago 
Board of Elections Chairman Langdon D. Neal, Alderman Burke is reported to have 
“expressed surprise” that Jack Blaine testified under oath in the 2006 Chicago 
hearings that “software components from the Sequoia system, [sic] were developed in 
Venezuela [including the critical component of the Sequoia systems – the HAAT] and 
that ‘the Venezuelans have access to the Sequoia code.’”17 Burke reiterated his dismay 
that Jack Blaine furthermore admitted that he could not answer whether or not Hugo 
Chávez was a Smartmatic shareholder.18 “The entire Smartmatic episode has served 
as a reminder of how important it is to know and trust who is counting the votes in our 
elections and to protect the integrity of our elections,” wrote Burke in his January 11, 

    
cause” of the delayed vote-tabulation in the 2006 general election and that there exist flaws with 
Sequoia’s software and design.  COOK COUNTY CLERK’S ELECTION REVIEW PANEL, REPORT ON
DELAYS IN ELECTION RESULTS REPORTING IN THE NOV. 7TH, 2006 ELECTION, at 4-5, 12, 17, Jan. 8, 
2007 (*A copy of this document is located at ________.)
14 See, Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.and COOK COUNTY CLERK’S ELECTION REVIEW PANEL, REPORT ON DELAYS IN ELECTION
RESULTS REPORTING IN THE NOV. 7TH, 2006 ELECTION, at 18-20, Jan. 8, 2007 (*A copy of this 
document is located at ________.) .
15 See Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government 
Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of 
Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 16, 18-20, 71-73, and 104-106.  (bottom page) (*Excerpts of the transcript are 
available at ________.) , and Letter from Jack Blaine, President of Sequoia Voting Systems Inc. and 
Smartmatic Corporation, to the Honorable Edward Burke, William Beavers, Richard Mell, Joint 
Committee on Finance; Committee on Budget and Government Operations; Committee on Committees, 
Rules and Ethics  (Apr. 12, 2006) (*A copy of this document is located at ________.) .
16 Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
17 Gerardo Reyes, Vote machine firm ties to Venezuela questioned; A Chicago Alderman is not satisfied 
that a voting-systems company is free of influence from Venezuela President Hugo Chavez, MIAMI 
HERALD, Mar. 19, 2008, at 3, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com/; see also
Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government Operations 
and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of Chicago, Apr. 7, 
2006, at 105-06 (bottom page) (*A copy of this document is located at ________.) .
18 Id. Hearing Transcript of Joint Committee on Finance, Committee on Budget and Government 
Operations and Committee on Committees, Rules and Ethics (“Joint Committee”), City Council of 
Chicago, Apr. 7, 2006, at 20-23 (*Excerpts of the transcript are available at ________.) .

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.miamiherald.com/;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.miamiherald.com/;
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2008 letter.19 Burke then implored Neal that “[i]t is therefore important to confirm that 
the sale of Sequoia by Smartmatic is not a sham transaction designed to fool regulators 
and to further confirm that Smartmatic and the government of Venezuela have no 
ability to influence or control the new owners of Sequoia.”20 Burke requested answers 
to ten questions probing the bona fides of Smartmatic’s sale of Sequoia to its 
management. 

By letter dated January 18, 2008 to Chairman Neal, and purporting to respond 
to each of Alderman Burke’s individual questions, Jack Blaine, Sequoia President and 
CEO, confirmed in writing that Sequoia continues to use the Venezuelan developed 
“Edge2Plus and HAAT” in the City of Chicago and Cook County, Illinois.21 Blaine 
added that “Sequoia will continue to provide products, upgrades and accessories to the 
U.S. market based on products the company developed in cooperation with 
Smartmatic during the time the company owned Sequoia.”22 What Blaine did not say 
is that the Edge2Plus and HAAT are owned by Smartmatic and licensed by 
Smartmatic to Sequoia.  The implication of Blaine’s statement, which characterizes 
the software in Sequoia voting machines as having been “developed in cooperation 
with Smartmatic during the time the company owned Sequoia,” is that Smartmatic’s 
input into the software used to count votes on Sequoia voting machines is purely 
historical.  In fact, Smartmatic has an ongoing role as Smartmatic - not Sequoia - owns 
this very software and continues to determine its development and application in the 
U.S.  Blaine’s omission is particularly significant given that Alderman Burke in his 
January 11, 2008 letter specifically requested “any license, royalty and/or other 
intellectual property agreements between Sequoia and Smartmatic and/or their 
affiliates,” which request Blaine ignored. 23

  
19Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on Finance to 
Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners (Jan. 11, 2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf.
20 Id.
21 Letter from Jack A. Blaine, CEO, Sequoia Voting Systems, to Langdon Neal, Chairman, Chicago 
Board of Elections (Jan. 18, 2008) at 2, available at http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
22 Id.
23 Compare Letter from Edward M. Burke, Chairman of the Chicago City Council Committee on 
Finance to Langdon D. Neal, Chairman, Chicago Board of Election Commissioners, at 4 (Jan. 11, 
2008), available at
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
pdf. with Letter from Jack A. Blaine, CEO, Sequoia Voting Systems, to Langdon Neal, Chairman, 
Chicago Board of Elections (Jan. 18, 2008) at 2, available at http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
6005; Brad Friedman, Voting Machine Company Chief Lied to Chicago Officials About Ownership, 
Control of Company, (May 21, 2008), http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;

www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-6005.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SequoiaSmartmaticLetter_Chicago_EdBurkeToLangdonNeal_011108.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005#more-
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=6005&print=1;


6

II. Court Fight Between Smartmatic and Sequoia over Proposed Hart 
InterCivic Take-over of Sequoia Reveals Smartmatic Ownership of Vote-
Counting Software in Sequoia Voting Machines

Smartmatic’s ownership of the voting-counting software in Sequoia voting 
machines came to light in litigation over an offer by Hart InterCivic to “purchase the 
outstanding loan and earn-out provision agreement that Sequoia Voting Systems 
maintains with its former parent company,” Smartmatic.24 Counsel for Hart InterCivic 
represented in court that Smartmatic still owned the software used in Sequoia voting 
machines and would license that software to Hart InterCivic upon its take-over of 
Sequoia. According to the court, counsel for Hart InterCivic declared that “Sequoia 
currently uses [Smartmatic’s] intellectual property [currently found in Sequoia’s 
machines] pursuant to certain license agreements.”25

Furthermore, Sequoia takes the position that Smartmatic’s ownership of the 
Sequoia voting machines software, and any “indirect control” by Smartmatic over 
Sequoia is inconsistent with agreements made with the federal government.  Sequoia 
points out in litigation over the Hart proposed take-over of Sequoia that “Hart 
promises not to compete with Smartmatic in Latin America, the Philippines, and 
Belgium.  In return, Smartmatic promises to grant to Hart a license to use its 
intellectual property currently found in Sequoia’s machines.”26 Sequoia maintains that 
this Smartmatic-Hart agreement would “breach [Sequoia’s] agreements with the 
Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States and other government 
agencies.  Specifically, SVS maintains that if Hart’s agreement not to compete in Latin 
America, the Philippines, and Belgium is honored, Smartmatic has exercised ‘indirect 
control’ over Sequoia in violation of agreements with the government.  Similarly, SVS 
maintains that the proposal that Smartmatic have co-ownership rights in all intellectual 
property owned by Smartmatic with respect to Sequoia products certified in the United 
States compels the post-sale Sequoia to breach its agreements with the government.”27  
Thus, according to Sequoia, Smartmatic currently owns the software in Sequoia voting 
machines and Smartmatic’s (1) “indirect control” over Sequoia and (2) continued 
ownership of software used to count votes in Sequoia voting machines, would violate 
Sequoia’s agreements with the federal government.

  
24 Press Release, Sequoia Voting Systems, Sequoia Voting Systems Responds to Questions on Future 
Ownership Direction (Apr. 13, 2008), available at http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56; As 
one company, Sequoia and Hart InterCivic would control almost 30% of the election industry in the 
United States.  Brad Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, and Shareholder Dead After Both 
Engines on Small Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 2008), available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
25Letter Opinion of Apr. 4, 2008, Smartmatic Corp. v. SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, 
Inc.; and SVS Holdings, Inc. and Sequoia Voting Systems, Inc. v. Smartmatic Corp. and Hart 
InterCivic, Inc., Civil Action No. 3585-VCL, pages 13-14, available at 
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.   
26 Id. at pages 13-14.
27 Id. at pages 21-22.

www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56;
www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
http://www.sequoiavote.com/press.php?ID=56;
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947.
http://www.bradblog.com/Docs/SVSSequoia_v_Hart_Smartmatic_LambDecision_040408.pdf.
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III. Sequoia Voting Machine Software Is Vulnerable to Tampering

Insiders pose the greatest threat to election integrity because they have direct 
access to the voting machines on which votes are cast and counted.  James Baker, III, 
a Republican, and President Jimmy Carter, as co-chairs of the National Election 
Commission, have warned of a serious risk of insider fraud whenever software-driven 
electronic voting machines are used. They say: 

[t]he greater threat to most systems comes not from external hackers, 
but from insiders who have direct access to the machines.  Software can 
be modified maliciously before being installed into individual voting 
machines.  There is no reason to trust insiders in the election industry 
any more than in other industries, such as gambling, where 
sophisticated insider fraud has occurred despite extraordinary measures 
to prevent it.28

Sequoia voting machine software poses serious risks of tampering.  Princeton 
Professor of Computer Science, Andrew Appel, testified as an expert in litigation in 
New Jersey involving the Sequoia Advantage voting machines that “[i]t’s very easy to 
replace the software inside a computerized machine so it tells the voter it is voting for 
one candidate but really puts the vote in the wrong column,” and  “You can even 
program it to do that only on election day.”29 Later this year as part of the same 
litigation, Professors Edward Felton and Andrew Appel of Princeton University will 
examine Sequoia Advantage voting machine software to determine why the voting 
machines registered ghost voters in the 2008 presidential primary election in New 
Jersey.30

In 2007, the California Secretary of State decertified use of the Sequoia AVC 
Edge voting machines in that state.  In doing so, the Secretary reported that 
independent experts found that the software in Sequoia voting machines could be 
made to “shift[] votes from one candidate to another and [the shift] was not detectable 

  
28 Building Confidence in U.S. Elections, Report of the Commission on Federal Election Reform 
(September 2005), at 28, available at http://www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.  Other 
national authorities agree that electronic voting machines create a serious risk of insider fraud, including 
the General Accounting Office, the non-partisan investigative arm of Congress, 
http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf; the National Academy of Science’s Committee on a 
Framework for Understanding Electronic Voting, co-chaired by former Governors Richard Celeste and 
Dick Thornburgh (the “Governors’ Report”), http://www.nap.edu/catalog.
php?record_id=11704; the National Institute for Standards and Technology (“NIST”), 
http://www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf; the Brennan Center for 
Justice, http://www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology; and leading 
computer security experts who, funded by the National Science Foundation, formed ACCURATE, 
http://accurate-voting.org/pubs/reports/ (the ACCURATE Report).  
29 Elizabeth Dwoskin, Judge Gives New Jersey a Week to Fix Voting Machines, N.Y. TIMES, Sept. 6, 
2007, at 3, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin. 
30 Diane C. Walsh, Judge Allows Review of Voting Machines With Discrepancies, THE STAR-LEDGER
(Newark, New Jersey), Apr. 26, 2008, article available for purchase at http://www.lexis.com. 

www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.
www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf;
www.nap.edu/catalog.
www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf;
www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology;
www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin.
www.lexis.com.
http://www.american.edu/ia/cfer/report/report.html.
http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d05956.pdf;
http://www.nap.edu/catalog.
http://www.vote.nist.gov/DraftWhitePaperOnSIinVVSG2007-20061120.pdf;
http://www.brennancenter.org/content/section/category/voting_technology;
http://accurate-voting.org/pubs/reports/(the
http://www.nytimes.com/2007/09/06/nyregion/06vote.html?_r=1&oref=slogin.
http://www.lexis.com.
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on the voter verifiable paper audit trail (VVPAT).”31 The California examination also 
found, among other risks, that the Sequoia voting machines 

• “[A]llow the insertion of a Trojan program via a malicious USB removable 
storage media device that could modify ballot definitions and results. . . .”32

• Are “designed to conduct Logic and Accuracy testing in a mode distinct 
from Election Day mode, which enables malicious firmware . . . to avoid 
operating in an incorrect manner while in testing mode.”33

• Contain “a shell-like scripting language in the firmware . . . that could be 
coerced into performing malicious actions, in apparent violation of 2002 
Voting System Standards . . .  [and that] includes, among others, a 
command to set the protective counter of the machine . . .; a command that 
can be used to overwrite . . . the system firmware or audit trail; and a 
command to reboot the machine at will.” 34

• Permit “corrupted or malicious data injected into removable media . . . with 
potentially serious consequences including alteration of recorded votes, 
adding false results, and, under some conditions, causing damage to the 
election management system when the corrupted or malicious data is 
loaded for vote counting.”35

On December 17, 2007, Colorado decertified the Sequoia Edge II and Edge II Plus for 
security reasons, which decision was effective immediately.”36

Litigation in New Mexico after the 2004 presidential election produced an 
expert assessment of Sequoia and other brands of touch-screen voting systems which 
identified  “undervotes” and “phantom votes,” in such numbers as to cast “serious 
doubt” on the 2004 presidential election result.37 In 2006, during Pennsylvania state 
certification testing, thousands of votes changed on Sequoia Advantage voting 

  
31 Withdrawal of Approval/Conditional Reapproval – October 25, 2007 Revision for Sequoia, available 
at http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm, hyperlink to Withdrawal of Approval/Conditional 
Reapproval - October 25, 2007 Revision for Sequoia, at 4. 
32 Id. at 4.
33 Id. at 3.
34 Id. at 3.
35 Id. at 2.
36 Letter from Mike Coffman, Secretary of State to Ed Smith, Compliance Manager, Sequoia Voting 
Systems (December 17, 2007), available at http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501 
(regarding DRE: Edge II (including VeriVote; Edge Audio Unit; and Card Activator), Version Number 
5.0.31/4.3/5.0 Rev. C and Edge II Plus (including HAAT Model 50, Version Number 1.2.33) (hyperlink 
“Certification results-Sequoia-12/17/07”).  The Colorado Secretary of State subsequently reversed this 
decision and conditionally certified the Sequoia Edge II and Edge II Plus systems; see Letter from Mike 
Coffman, Secretary of State to Ed Smith, Compliance Manager, Sequoia Voting Systems (February 25, 
2008), available at  http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
37 Lopategui, et al., v. Vigil-Giron, et al., CV No. 2005 00433, 2d Jud. Dist., Bernalillo Cty., N.M., 
Affidavit of John Skelly, at ¶ ¶ 5-12 (Jan. 14, 2005) (*A copy of this document is available from the 
court.). 

www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm,hyperlink
www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501
www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections_vsr.htm,hyperlink
http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=501
http://www.elections.colorado.gov/DDefault.aspx?tid=998.
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machines, resulting in the examiner’s refusal to certify the voting machines’ 
software.38  

IV. Smartmatic Ties to the Venezuelan Government of Hugo Chávez

Hugo Chávez has led Venezuela since February 2, 1999,39 and has been 
described as a “dictator.”40 The Washington Post has reported on “the hostile 
relationship between the Bush administration and the government of Venezuelan 
President Hugo Chavez,”41 and in a speech before the United Nations General 
Assembly, Chávez called President Bush “the devil.”42 In May 2008, Chávez and his 
senior aides, including Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez 
Chacín, were implicated in supplying heavy arms to the Revolutionary Armed Forces 
of Columbia (“FARC”), which the U.S. has listed as a terrorist group.43 Furthermore, 
Chávez has nationalized businesses and otherwise pressured Venezuelan businesses 
and their managers to do as he says.44 Moreover, as previously noted, Chávez has 
been described as “the foremost meddler in foreign elections in the Western 
hemisphere.”45  

  
38Tracie Mauriello, More glitches trigger halt in testing of new county voting machines, PITTSBURGH 
POST-GAZETTE, Mar. 30, 2006, available at http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
39 Timeline: Hugo Chavez, http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/6133732.stm. 
40 David Gonzalez, In Venezuela’s Capital, the 2 Faces of a Bitter Divide, N.Y. TIMES, Nov. 25, 2002, 
available at
http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9E0CE3D71139F936A15752C1A9649C8B63; The 
Dictator of Caracas, WALL ST. J., Dec. 5, 2005, article available for purchase at http://www.wsj.com. 
41 Pamela Constable, For Venezuela, U.S., a (Very) Little Civility, WASH. POST, Feb. 10, 2006, at A14, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2006/02/09/AR2006020902261.html. 
42 Ed Pilkington, Chavez attacks ‘devil’ Bush in fiery UN Speech, THE GUARDIAN, (London),  Sept. 21, 
2006, at 18, available at http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela. 
43 Juan Forero, Venezuela Offered Aid to Colombian Rebels: Officials Served as Middlemen With Arms 
Dealers, Files Show, WASH. POST, May 15, 2008, at A11, available at
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html and Juan 
Forero, FARC Computer Files Are Authentic, Interpol Probe Finds, WASH. POST, May 16, 2006, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2008/05/15/AR2008051504153.html (both articles describing records of FARC 
commanders meeting with Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez Chacín); Brian 
Orsak, Bush administration considering sanctions against Venezuela, MONEY LAUNDERING ALERT 
(Apr. 2008) (“The Bush Administration may blacklist Venezuela as a state sponsor of terror  . . . [for 
among other reasons] U.S. investigators discovered $600 billion from Venezuelan controlled accounts 
tied to terror groups blacklisted by the U.S. government [including] . . . Hizballah, Hamas and 
FARC.”), article available for purchase at 
http://www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529. 
44 See, e.g., Simon Romero, Venezuelan Leader Seizes Greater Economic Power, N.Y. TIMES, May 18, 
2008, at 14, available at
http://www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss. 
45 See Richard Brand, Hugo Wants Your Vote, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Apr. 6, 2006. available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
e=2496.

www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
www.wsj.com.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.htmland
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529.
www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss.
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur
http://www.post-gazette.com/pg/06089/678087-85.stm.
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/6133732.stm.
http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9E0CE3D71139F936A15752C1A9649C8B63;
http://www.wsj.com.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2006/sep/21/usa.venezuela.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.htmland
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.moneylaundering.com/ArticleDisplay.aspx?id=3529.
http://www.nytimes.com/2008/05/18/world/americas/18venez.html?partner=rssnyt&emc=rss.
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=155832&secur


10

At the end of 2007, the U.S indicted several Venezuelans, including a lawyer 
who apparently has worked for Smartmatic, Moisés Maiónica, in a case that “has 
highlighted the alleged interference of the government of Venezuela's leftist President 
Hugo Chavez in the politics of neighboring countries.”46 In December 2007, a U.S. 
grand jury in Miami, Florida, charged Maiónica and two other Venezuelan men with 
crimes in connection with alleged financing by Venezuelan President Hugo Chávez of 
the campaign of now-President Christina Fernandez de Kirchner of Argentina.47  
Maiónica pleaded guilty in January 2008 and apparently admitted to having been 
working for then Vice President of Venezuela, Jorge Rodriguez, in offering $2 million 
to an FBI informant for his silence.48 Jorge Rodriguez is reported to have stepped 
down as Vice President of Venezuela in January 2008, after Maiónica’s public 
indictment, due to his “close relationship” with Maiónica.49  

The relationship between Rodriguez and Maiónica is reported to have been 
instrumental in the Smartmatic-led SBC consortium securing the contract from the 
Chávez controlled Venezuelan National Electoral Council (“CNE”) to run the 2004 
Venezuelan presidential recall election.  According to a press report, “[i]n February 
2004, the Venezuelan electoral authorities selected the company Smartmatic to 
provide technology that automates the process of voting . . . The lawyer Moisés 
Maiónica would have acted as a proxy [for] Smartmatic and made all the legal and 
financial engineering with the approval of then member of the CNE and former [V]ice 
[P]resident of the Nation, Jorge Rodriguez.”50 Chávez won the 2004 presidential recall 

  
46 Agence France Presse, Indictment ties Caracas intelligence to Argentine funds case, Dec. 21, 2007, 
available at, http://rawstory.com/news/afp/Indictment_ties_Caracas_intelligenc_12212007.html; United 
States v. Maionica, et al., Indictment, Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres (Dec. 20, 2007) (*A 
copy of this document is available from the court).
47 Id.; United States v. Maionica, et al., Criminal Complaint, Case Number 07-3513-Dubé, with 
affidavit of Michael J. Lasiewicki, Special Agent with the FBI (Dec. 12, 2007) (*A copy of this 
document is available from the court.).
48 Id. United States v. Maionica, et al., Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres, Docket Sheet. (Plea 
Jan. 25, 2008) (*A copy of this document is available from the court). 
49 Valijero arrastró al vice de Chávez (Valijero dragged the vice Chavez), www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
tica/valijero-arrastr-al-vice-de-ch-vez.html (“estrecha relación”).  After the CNE awarded business to 
Smartmatic, Smartmatic reportedly paid for “vice president Rodriguez[’] . . . trip to a luxury resort in 
Boca Raton.”  Irina Hauser, Maionica, el bien conectado (Maionica, well connected), PAGINA/12, Mar. 
2, 2008, http://www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html (“le pagó al ex 
vicepresidente Rodríguez un viaje a un lujoso resort de Boca Ratón”). Smartmatic’s U.S. operations are 
located in Boca Raton, Florida.  Exhibit 10, supra, footnote 8.  Jorge Rodriguez served as Vice 
President of Venezuela from January 2007 until January 2008.  Clodovaldo Hernández, Chávez 
Designates Former Electoral Director As Vice-President, EL UNIVERSAL, Jan. 4, 2007, available at
http://english.eluniversal.com/2007/01/04/en_pol_art_04A821081.shtml; Chavez Appoints New Vice 
President, WTOP NEWS.COM, Jan. 3, 2008, available at
http://www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452. 
50 Valijero arrastró al vice de Chávez (Valijero dragged the vice Chavez), www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
tica/valijero-arrastr-al-vice-de-ch-vez.html  (“En febrero de 2004, las autoridades electorales 
venezolanas seleccionaron a la empresa Smartmatic para suministrar la tecnología que automatizara los 
proceses de votación . . . El abogado Moisés Maiónica habría actuado como apoderado de Smartmatic y 
realizado toda la ingeniería legal y financiera con el visto bueno del entonces titular de la CNE y ex 
vicepresidente de la Nación, Jorge Rodríguez.”)

www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html
www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452.
www.totalnews.com.ar/pol-
http://rawstory.com/news/afp/Indictment_ties_Caracas_intelligenc_12212007.html;
http://www.pagina12.com.ar/diario/elpais/1-100012-2008-03-02.html
http://english.eluniversal.com/2007/01/04/en_pol_art_04A821081.shtml;
http://www.wtopnews.com/?nid=105&sid=1320452.
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election amidst controversy arising in part from the difference between the election 
day voter polls favoring Chávez’ opponent and the announced election results.51

Prior to 2004, however, Smartmatic had no election experience and otherwise 
was a fledgling business.52 Reportedly critical to the SBC consortium’s award of the 
$91 million 2004 recall election contract from the Chávez-dominated CNE was a 
$150,000 plus investment by the Venezuelan government in Bizta R&D Software, 
C.A. (“Bizta R&D Software”),53 the SBC consortium member focused on voting 
machine software.54 The Venezuelan government secured this 28% stake in Bizta 
R&D Software and then Bizta R&D Software gave power to a Venezuelan 
government official and software engineer with the Venezuelan Ministry of Science 
and Technology, Omar Montilla Castillo, by making him a Bizta R&D Software 
director.55 Bizta promised to repay the Venezuelan government for its investment and 
remove the government official from its board of directors after the Miami Herald 
revealed the consortium’s ties to the Chávez government.56

The Smartmatic-led SBC consortium continues to receive substantial financial 
support from the Chávez-led Venezuelan government through contracts to run 

  
51 Steve Dudley and Nancy San Martin, Chavez Foes To Check The Vote Tallies, MIAMI HERALD, at 
1A, Aug. 18, 2004, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com.
52 Richard Brand and Alfonso Chardy, Venezuela Owns Stake In Ballots, MIAMI HERALD, May 28, 
2004, at 1A, article available for purchase at, http://www.miamiherald.com Alexandra Olson, Doubts 
over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, available at
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm. 
53 Minutes of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of the Bizta R&D Software C.A. Company (Jun.
10, 2003), Venezuela (*A copy of this document is located at ________.); Alexandra Olson, Doubts 
over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, available at
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
54 See, e.g., Jim Ash and John Lantigua, Venezuelan Opposition Scrutinizes Touch-Screen Voting, PALM 
BEACH POST, Jun. 19, 2004, at 16A , article available for purchase at http://www.palmbeachpost.com/.  
The third member of the SBC consortium is CANTV, a Venezuelan government sponsored television 
company.  Id.
55 Minutes of the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of the Commercial Corporation ‘Bizta R&D 
Software, C.A.’ (Dec. 15, 2003), signed and notarized by Alfredo Anzola Jaumotte and bearing the 
stamp of the Republica De Venezuela (*A copy of this document is located at ________.)  Howard 
Gleckman, One Man, One Vote, One Conspiracy Theory, BUSINESS WEEK, June 5, 2006, available at
http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
Hugo’s Revenge, INVESTOR’S BUSINESS DAILY, Nov. 6, 2006, at A18, available at
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
629&secure=1877.
56 Richard Brand, Voting-System Firm Drops Venezuela As An Investor, MIAMI HERALD, June 12, 2004, 
at 12A, article available for purchase at http://www.miamiherald.com; Richard Brand, Venezuela 
Investment In Smartmatic Was No Routine Loan, May 3, 2006, 
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734; Aleksander Boyd, Smartmatic: All 
Things Connected, http://www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135; Press Release, 
Bizta, Bizta Buys Out Foncrei Share, Venezuela State Investment Fund to be Repaid in Full, Omar 
Montilla to Leave Bizta Board of Directors (June 11, 2004) (*A copy of this document is located at 
________.) 

www.miamiherald.com.
www.miamiherald.com
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.palmbeachpost.com/.
www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
www.miamiherald.com;
www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734;
www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135;
http://www.miamiherald.com.
http://www.miamiherald.com
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.palmbeachpost.com/.
http://www.businessweek.com/magazine/content/06_23/b3987042.htm?campaign_id=rss_magzn.
http://www.investors.com/editorial/editorialcontent.asp?secid=1501&status=article&id=247450590171
http://www.miamiherald.com;
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200605031734;
http://www.vcrisis.com/print.php?content=letters/200508141135;
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elections there.57 The closeness of Smartmatic’s relationship with the Chávez 
government is further reinforced by the response of aides close to Chávez to the 
hospitalization of a Smartmatic founder, shareholder and Chief Financial Officer, 
Alfredo José Anzola Jaumotte, after a small plane crash in late April 2008.  Anzola, a 
Venezuelan software engineer, not only was a central player in Smartmatic.  Anzola 
was President and part-owner of Bizta R&D Software when the Venezuelan 
government became Bizta R&D Software’s 28% owner, when the Venezuelan 
government official and software engineer, Montilla, joined the Bizta R&D Software 
board of directors, and presumably when the Venezuelan CNE awarded the SBC 
consortium the contract to run the voting systems for the 2004 election to recall Hugo 
Chávez as president of Venezuela.58  After the plane crash, the Governor of the State 
of Miranda, Diosdado Cabello Rondón, arranged for Anzola’s transfer from a local 
hospital to one in Caracas.59 Rondón is so close to the Venezuelan President Chávez 
that Rondón is reported to have taken on the duties of the presidency on a temporary 
basis during an attempted coup of Chávez in 2002.60 Chávez “aide-de-camp” Jorge 
Rodriguez, who as previously noted is a former Vice-President of Venezuela, a former 
member of the Venezuelan National Electoral Council when it awarded the SBC 
consortium the 2004 presidential recall election contract, and now is implicated in 
Venezuelan government financing of the election of the new president of neighboring 
Argentina;61 and Venezuela’s current Interior and Justice Minister, Ramón Rodríguez 

  
57 See Smartmatic Press Releases, Parliamentary elections in Venezuela reaffirm success of Smartmatic 
technology, Dec. 5, 2005, http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
elections-in-venezuela-reaffirm-success-of-smartmatic-technology/; 99.5% of voting centers in 
Venezuela to be automated with SAES3300, Nov. 8, 2006,
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
automated-with-saes3300/; Zero error in pre-election audit of SAES voting machines, Nov. 26, 2007, 
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
machines/; Smartmatic Voting System functions at full capacity during Regional Election, Nov. 1, 
2004, http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
capacity-during-regional-election/.
58 Richard Brand, Why is Hugo Chávez Involved with U.S. Voting Machines, REAL CLEAR POLITICS, 
Mar. 28, 2006, 
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.; Alexandra 
Olson, Doubts over touchscreen tech choice for Venezuela recall, USA TODAY, Feb. 24, 2006, 
available at http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
59 Gerardo Reyes, Perece en un accidente aéreo fundador de firma Smartmatic (Perished in a plane 
crash founder of signing Smartmatic), EL NUEVO HERALD, Apr. 30, 2008, at A4,  article available for 
purchase at http://www.elnuevoherad.com; States of Venezuela since 1990, 
http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
60 http://www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html, ECONOMICEXPERT.COM.
61 Karem Racines Arévalo, 5 muertos y 4 heridos por accidente aéreo en Catia La Mar (Five dead, four
injured because of airplane accident in Catia La Mar), EL NACIONAL (Venezuela) Apr. 28, 2008 (“[e]n 
los predios del hospital se confirmó la presencia del ex vicepresidente Jorge Rodríguez, quien acudió al 
lugar a constatar el estado de salud de[] [Alfredo José Anzola].”)(“[I]n the hospital area it was 
confirmed the presence of the former vice president Jorge Rodriguez, who went to the place to verify 
the state of health of [Alfredo José Anzola]”); Gustavo Coronel, The Impact of Alan Garcia’s Victory 
On The Latin American Political Scenario, June 6, 2006, 
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730 (referring to “Jorge Rodriguez, 
former President of the Venezuelan National Electoral Council” as Chávez’ “aide de camp”); Brad 
Friedman, Smartmatic Co-Founder, Employee, and Shareholder Dead After Both Engines on Small 
Plane Reportedly Failed Just After Takeoff (May 2, 2008), available at 

www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.;
www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
www.elnuevoherad.com;States
www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html,
www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730(referring
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/parliamentary-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/995-of-voting-centers-in-venezuela-to-be-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/zero-error-in-pre-election-audit-of-saes-voting-
http://www.smartmatic.com/pressroom/article/article/smartmatic-voting-system-functions-at-full-
http://www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2006/03/forget_dubai_worry_about_smart.html.;
http://www.usatoday.com/tech/world/2004-07-12-venezuela-evote_x.htm.
http://www.elnuevoherad.com;States
http://www.worldstatesmen.org/Venezuela_states.html.
http://www.economicexpert.com/a/Diosdado:Cabello.html,
http://www.vcrisis.com/index.php?content=letters/200606060730(referring
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Chacín,62 who as previously noted is implicated in Venezuela’s provision of weapons 
to U.S. blacklisted FARC in neighboring Columbia and who may be related to Anzola,
63 attended Anzola at his death bed.64  

    
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947; United States v. Maionica, et al., Indictment, Case Number 07-
20999-CR-Lenard/Torres (Dec. 20, 2007) (*A copy of this document is available from the court);
United States v. Maionica, et al., Criminal Complaint, Case Number 07-3513-Dubé, with affidavit of 
Michael J. Lasiewicki, Special Agent with the FBI (Dec. 12, 2007) (*A copy of this document is 
available from the court); United States v. Maionica, et al., Case Number 07-20999-CR-Lenard/Torres, 
Docket Sheet. (Plea Jan. 25, 2008) (*A copy of this document is available from the court).
62 Anthony Rangel and Nadeska Noriega Ávila, Avioneta cae sobre vivienda en Vargas (Small Plane 
Falls On House In Vargas) (Apr. 29, 2008), 
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml. 
63 Id. see Juan Forero, Venezuela Offered Aid to Colombian Rebels: Officials Served as Middlemen With 
Arms Dealers, Files Show, WASH. POST, May 15, 2008, at A11, available at
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html; Juan 
Forero, FARC Computer Files Are Authentic, Interpol Probe Finds, WASH. POST, May 16, 2006, 
available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
dyn/content/article/2008/05/15/AR2008051504153.html (both articles describing records of FARC 
commanders meeting with Venezuelan Interior and Justice Minister Ramón Rodríguez Chacín).
64 See. Karem Racines Arévalo, 5 muertos y 4 heridos por accidente aéreo en Catia La Mar (Five dead, 
four injured because of airplane accident in Catia La Mar), EL NACIONAL (Venezuela) Apr. 28, 2008, 
article available for purchase at http://www.lexis.com; Anthony Rangel and Nadeska Noriega Ávila, 
Avioneta cae sobre vivienda en Vargas (Small Plane Falls On House In Vargas) (Apr. 29, 2008), 
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.

www.bradblog.com/?p=5947;
www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html;
www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
www.lexis.com;Anthony
www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
http://www.bradblog.com/?p=5947;
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2008/05/14/AR2008051403785.html;
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-
http://www.lexis.com;Anthony
http://www.eluniversal.com/2008/04/29/sucgc_art_avioneta-cae-sobre-v_840399.shtml.
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Strategic report 

Principal activities 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

The principle activity of SGO Corporation Limited (the 'Company') is the provision of corporate governance to all 
its subsidiaries (the 'Group') and the issuance of policies and procedures, as well as the formulation of specific plans 
in areas such as strategic planning, corporate communications, tax, legal and financial matters. The Company incurs 
costs which are billed to fellow group companies. 

Merger 

On 27 March 2019, SGO Corporation Limited merged with its ultimate parent company, SGO Corporation S.A. From 
this date the two companies have operated as a single entity called SGO Corporation Limited, which is the Ultimate 
Parent Company of the Group. 

Prior year adjustment 

We identified an adjustment to prior year comparatives which has been amended in this set of financial statements. 
Refer to note 3 for further detail. 

Review of business and outlook 

SGO Corporation Limited's total consolidated revenue for 2019 was US$144 million (2018 restated: US$119 million), 
primarily generated from its subsidiaries in USA, Argentina, the Netherlands, and Philippines. Election Products and 
Services constituted the main source of these revenues. The consolidated revenue for 2019 increased by $25 million 
from 2018. The increase came because of electoral services and the contract with the LA County in the USA. Total 
costs of sales amounted to US$90 million (2018 restated: US$68 million) resulting in a total gross profit of US$54 
million (2018 restated: US$51 million). Total loss after tax for the Group amounted to US$17 million (2018 restated: 
loss after tax of US$8 million). The loss was caused by a verity of reasons including; the impact of expensing some 
development costs which don't meet the criteria for capitalisation, the impairment of some receivables, delay of 
projects in Europe and other locations, and the impact of the income tax due to higher revenues in the United States 
and Argentina. 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group has consolidated current assets ofUS$227 million (2018 restated: US$140.million) 
and net assets ofUS$101 million (2018 restated: US$ 119 million). 

The 2020 financial outlook shows continuity in revenues, although the COVID-19 virus has affected the electoral 
activity taking place in the marketplace. New opportunities in other business Jines, such as medical supplies, are being 
pursued to help sustain the revenue growth in future years. 

Review of operations 

The Group has presence in 23 countries, with major operations in the United States, the Netherlands and Philippines. 

During 2019, the Group completed projects in USA, Belgium, Philippines and Argentina. The Group improved its 
operation in USA, Latin America and Asia Pacific to be able to compete widely in the electoral market in those 
regions. 

Also, during 2019, the Group continued to invest in new lines of businesses to enhance new business opportunities 
and in the other start-ups. Smartmatic delivers technology to clients in key areas: 

• Electronic and auditable voting systems 

• Internet voting 

• Intelligent and integrated security systems 

• Identity registration and authentication of large population groups 

• Public transportation systems 

• Technology research and development, and consulting 

• Deployment systems 

• Folio: Digital identity 
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Strategic report (continued) 

Review of operations (continued) 

The Group has investments in: 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

• Airlabs: The development and deployment of Air Pollution cleaning, visualization and sensor technologies. 

• Infuser: Air pollution cleaning technologies for the industrial sector 

Risks 

The Company Directors review the capital structure of the Company on a regular basis and consider the cost of capital 
and the risks associated with each class of capital. 

The Company faces currency and credit risks as it operates in countries with high inflation and others with currency 
restrictions. 

Ongoing development of the SGO Corporation group technologies: The Group has built a reputation for innovation 
in electronic voting industry. It is important to the continued success of the Group to keep investing in initiatives to 
improve the system and technology offered to the customers. The Group will work to continue investing in research 
and development to ensure this continuity. 

Financial instruments 

The financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources, and various items, such as trade receivables 
and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The Group's operations expose it to a variety of financial 
risks including market price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Overall responsibility for the management of these risks 
is vested with management who monitor them on an ongoing basis. 

Market price risk - the Group co-ordinates the handling of foreign exchange risk by creating natural hedges wherever 
possible. 

Credit risk - the Group's client base is predominantly government authorities and the historical incidence of default is 
very low. 

Liquidity risk - the Company maintains sufficient liquid assets ensuring debtors and creditors are actively monitored. 
There is an arrangement in place for funding from one of the Holding Companies (Smartmatic International Holding 
B.V.), ifrequired. 

Key Performance Indicators 

The Group has a range of Key Performance Indicators (KPI's) to monitor performance and progress towards strategic 
objectives. The principle financial KPI's include year-on-year analysis ofrevenue, gross profit, EBITDA and profit for 
the year. The non-financial KPI's for the group include customer base growth, development and deployment of new or 
enhanced technologies, and diversification of products and services provided. 

Section 172 statement 

The Directors understand and appreciate their duty under s. 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way in which 
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit ofits members 
as a whole and, in doing so, to have regard (amongst other matters) to: 

the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 
the interests of the Company's employees; 
the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others; 
the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment; 
the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and 
the need to act fairly between members of the Company, (the "s.172(1) Matters"). The Board meet on a 
regular basis at which they are reminded of the s. 172( 1) matters. 
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Strategic report (continued) 

Section 172 statement (continued) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 Oecember2019 

Examples of situations in which the Directors have had regard to the s.172( 1) include their attendance at meetings of 
subsidiary Board meetings, including in particular that of Smartmatic USA Corp; the regular and ongoing review of 
the strategic challenges and opportunities presented by the Groups' investment portfolio, and the emerging 
technological landscape in which the Group's products and services are being delivered; the need to ensure that the 
Group international structure continues to remain aligned with the financial reporting obligations appropriate to the 
Group, and the requirement to ensure that the organisational management and reporting lines are optimised to provide 
for the most efficient allocation of Group resources. 

COVID - 19 impact 

The recent downturn in the core market caused by the deferral or postponement of a number of elections arising from 
the outbreak of the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) continues to impact the global economy and markets. It is uncertain how 
these events will develop and what the impact will be on our operations, financial performance and liquidity. At this 
time, the effects of COVID-19 on our business have been important, and the Group is implementing cost restrictions 
and developing new strategies to face the situation. The Group has also identified areas where it can provide additional 
products and services to support safe, in-person voting activity in those jurisdictions where in-person voting remains 
in place. However, these events may negatively impact the Group and our liquidity. Accordingly, we are closely 
evaluating the recent developments and will take necessary actions. Contingency actions are being implemented and 
closely monitored. Based on our current knowledge and available information, we do not expect COVID-19 to have 
an impact on our ability to continue as a going concern in the future. 

By order of the board 

Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero 
Director 

88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, WIU 6TQ 

15 September 2020 
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Directors' report 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

The Board of Directors present their directors' report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

Dividend 

The directors have declared and paid a final ordinary dividend in respect of the current financial year of US$ nil (2018: 
$nil). 

Directors 

The directors who held office during the year were as follows: 

Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero 
Roger Alejandro Pifiate Martinez 
Sir Nigel Graham Knowles 
Lord George Mark Malloch-Brown 

Political donations 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries made any political donations during the year (2018: US$ nil). 

Disclosure of information to auditor 

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors' report confirm that, so far as they are each 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware; and each director has taken 
all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information. 

Auditor 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP 
will therefore continue in office. 

By order of the board 

~ 
Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero 88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, WIU 6TQ 
Director 

15 September 2020 

6 



SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT, 
THE DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law and have 
elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable 
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS IOI Reduced Disclosure Framework. 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 
preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent; 

• for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU; 

• for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• assess the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern; and 

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent 
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members ofSGO Corporation Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of SGO Corporation Limited ("the company") for the year ended 31 
December 2019 which comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated and company balance sheet, consolidated and company statement ofchanges in equity, 
consolidated cash flow statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs 
as at 31 December 2019 and of the group's loss for the year then ended; 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting 
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the 
group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the group and the company's 
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that 
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of 
approval of the financial statements ("the going concern period"). 

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis 
for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors' 
conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group's business model and analysed how those risks might affect 
the group and company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have 
nothing to report in these respects. 

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that 
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a 
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in operation. 

Strategic report and directors' report 

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors' report. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors' report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on 
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work: 

• we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the c 

• in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial yeai 
statements; and 

• in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of SGO Corporation Limited (continued) 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Directors' responsibilities 

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 7, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 'as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend 
to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 

Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members, as 

a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Robert Seale (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square 
London 
E14 5GL 
15 September 2020 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Consolidated Income Statement 
for year ended 31December2019 

Note 
2019 2018 

Restated* 

US$000 US$000 

Revenue 4 144,042 119,227 
Cost of sales (89,966) (67,802) 

Gross profit 54,076 51,425 
Operating expenses (51,160) (45,893) 
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 14 7,973 
Other income 5 1,428 563 
Other expenses 5 (9,450) (12,710) 
Foreign exchange rate loss (2,914) (3,316) 

Operating loss 6 (8,020) (1,958) 

Financial income 9 558 809 
Financial expenses 9 (1,671) (266) 

Net financing (expense)/income (1,113) 543 

Share of profit of joint venture 15 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 16 (660) (588) 

Loss before tax (9,793) (2,003) 
Taxation JO (7,328) (5,643) 

Loss for the year (17,121) (7,646) 

Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent (17,349) (7,498) 
Non-controlling interest 228 (148) 

Loss for the year (17,121) (7;646) 

All profits are attributed to continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 16 to 57 form an integral portion of these financial statements 

•see Note 3 for further detail 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for year ended 31December2019 

Loss for the year 

Other comprehensive income 
Items that are or may be recycled subsequently to profit or loss: 
Foreign currency translation differences 

Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 

The notes on pages 16 to 57 form an integral portion of these financial statements. 

*See Note 3 for further details. 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

2019 2018 
US$000 Restated* 

(17,121) (7,646) 

313 669 

(16,808) (6,977) 

(16,999) (8, 142) 
191 1,165 

(16,808) (6,977) 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
at 31December2019 

Note 
2019 2018 

Restated* 
US$000 US$000 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment ll 10,361 7,938 
Intangible assets 12 9,720 9,252 
Other investments 13 5,476 5,007 
Investment in joint ventures 15 
Investment in associate 16 2,651 3,312 
Other receivables 19 4,543 5,187 
Deferred tax assets 17 804 583 

33,555 31,279 

Current assets 
Inventories 18 9,694 2,818 
Trade and other receivables 19 158,242 64,617 
Cash and cash equivalents 20 59,290 72,080 

227,226 139,515 

Total assets 260,781 170,794 

Current liabilities 
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings 21 46,463 870 
Trade and other payables 22 52,675 39,875 
Deferred revenue 23 52,716 6,590 
Income tax payable 5,849 2,498 
Provisions 24 47 1,214 

157,750 51,047 

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities 17 I 
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings 21 1,758 541 

1,758 542 

Total liabilities 159,508 51,589 

Net assets 101,273 119,205 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued) 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 
Share capital 
Share premium 
Share based payment reserves 
Translation reserves 
Merger reserve 
Retained earnings 

Non-controlling interest 

Total equity 

*See Note 3 for further detail 

Note 

25 

The notes on pages 16 to 57 form an integral portion of these financial statements 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 December2019 

2019 

US$000 

1,093 
110 

16,879 
(61,767) 

9,928 
134,294 

736 

101,273 

2018 
Restated 
US$000 

110 
16,879 

(62, 117) 
12,145 

151,643 

545 

119,205 

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 15 September 2020 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero 
Director 

Company registration number 074 77910 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for year en<led 31December2019 

Share based 
Share Share Translation payments Merger reserve Retained Total parent Non-controlling Total 

capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity interest equity 
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Balance at 31 December 2017 12,255 (61,398) 16,879 159,058 126,794 691 127,485 
Restatement of reserves• 12145 12,145 
Balance at 31 December 2017 (restated•) 110 (61,398) 16,879 12,145 159,058 126,794 691 127,485 
Total comprehensive income 

Loss for the year (restated•) (7,498) (7,498) (148) (7,646) 
Foreign currency translation differences (restated") {719} 75 (644) I 313 669 
Total comprehensive income for the period (restated•) (719) (7,423) (8,142) 1,165 (6,977) 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 

Impact of Airlabs deconsolidation (restated•) (1,311) (1,303) 

Total transactions with owners (restated•) (719) (7,415) (8,134) (146) (8,280) 

Balance at 31 December 2018 (Restated*) 110 (62,117) 16,879 12,145 151,643 118,660 545 119,205 
Total comprehensive income 

Loss for the year (17,349) (17,349) 228 (17,121) 
Foreign currency translation differences 350 350 (37) 313 

Total comprehensive income for the period 350 {17,349} (16,999) 191 {16,808) 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 
Accounting for merger with SGO Corp S.A •• 1,421 (2,545) (1,124) (1,124) 
Reduction in nominal value of share capita!•• (328) 328 

Total transactions with owners 1!093 350 {2,217} {17,349) (18,123) 191 (17,932) 

Balance at 31 December 2019 1,093 110 (61,767) 16,879 9,928 134,294 100,537 736 101,273 

•see Note 3 for further detail. 

.. See Note 25 for further detail. 

The notes on pages 16 to 57 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for year ended 31December2019 

Note 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loss for the year 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 6 
Bad debts allowance 6 
Unrealised foreign exchange movements 
Reversal of bad debts allowance 6 
Loss on translation of deferred tax assets 17 
Taxation JO 
Finance income 9 
Finance expense 9 
Loss on disposal of investment 
Share ofloss of equity accounted investees 
Movement in trade and other receivables 19 
Movement in inventories 18 
Movement in trade and other payables 22 
Movement in provision 24 
Movement in deferred revenue 23 
Interest paid 9 
Tax paid 

Net cash from operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 
Acquisition of other intangible assets 12 
Increase in investment in subsidiary 
Acquisition of investment in associate 
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary 
Disposal of intangible assets 
Interest received 9 
(lncrease)/Decrease in assets held for sale 
Movement in right of use assets 
Repayment ofloan to associate 

Net cash from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Issue of new debt 21 
Repayment of borrowings 21 

Net cash from financing activities 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 

*See Note 3 for further detail. 

The notes on pages 16 to 57 fonn an integral part of these financial statements 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

2018 
2019 Restated* 

US$000 US$000 

(17,121) (7,646) 

8,333 2,289 
2,565 1,711 

(3,873) 3,534 
(180) (222) 

32 
7,328 5,643 
(543) (l,329) 

1,529 780 
(2, 725) 

660 588 
(99,120) (26,630) 
(6,876) (633) 
12,800 20,429 
(1,167) (2,092) 
46,126 5,898 
(1,529) (580) 
(3,511) (5,047) 

(54,579) (6,000) 

1,519 
(122) (389) 

(5,444) 
(104) 

(3,900) 
1 

1,607 
543 320 

(469) 17,605 
(1,297) 

3,972 

---
(1,345) 15,187 

43,997 
(863) (7,496) 

43,134 (7,496) 

(12,790) 1,691 
72,080 70,389 

59,290 72,080 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(forming part of tlze financial statements) 

Accounting policies 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

SGO Corporation Limited (the 'Company') is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. SGO Corporation Limited's 
registered office is 88 Baker Street, London, United Kingdom, WI U 6TQ. The registered number is 07477910. 

The group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group") for the 
year ended 31 December 2019. This privately-owned multinational group designs and deploys end-to-end custom technology 
solutions to enable government agencies and large enterprises to fulfil their missions. 

The group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs"). 

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated fmancial statements. 

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the fmancial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 2. 

1.2 Measurement co11vention 

The fmancial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain assets and liabilities that are stated at their fair 
value, as explained in the accounting polices below. 

1.3 Going co11cem 

During the year, the Group made a consolidated loss after tax of $17, 12 lk (2018 restated: $7,646k), although continues to remain 
in a consolidated net asset position of$101,274k (2018 restated: $119,205k), with a cash balance of$59,290k (2018: $72,080k) 

A global health emergency was declared by the World Health Organisation (WHO) on 30 January 2020 in response to the outbreak 
of a strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) initially in Hubei province, China. On 11 March 2020, the WHO designated the virus 
outbreak a pandemic following its spread around the world. Governments around the world have taken unprecedented measures to 
limit the spread of the virus, with the response evolving as more information becomes available. These measures impact the 
activities of the Group to a varying extent. 

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, 
which indicate that, taking account of severe but plausible downsides and the anticipated impact of COVID-19 on the operations 
and its financial resources, the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its I iabil ities as they fall due for that period. 

Severe but plausible downsides include considering only revenue and costs for signed contracts as at the date of the audit report, 
excluding any potential government aid that may be available to ease staff costs in the coming years. The Group has also considered 
the impact of delays to committed contracts and has identified cost-saving measures that could be implemented if required to 
mitigate the impact of any delays to contracts. The Group is also committed to protecting the liquidity of the business in the event 
that local governments impose additional lockdown restrictions, and will therefore continue to monitor spend over discretionary 
costs. 

During 2020 the Group repaid its outstanding debt over two Revolving Credit Facilities with Barclays Pie and Santander Ltd. A 
new facility has been negotiated in 2020 of $15 million, and the Group has included repayment of this facility in its cash flow 
forecasts when assessing Going Concern. The Group does not anticipate the need to secure additional financing during the period 
of assessment, but will continue to monitor this as the economic climate progresses post-lockdown. There are no bank covenants 
attached to this new credit facility. 

Having reviewed the Group's current trading and forecasts, together with sensitivities and mitigating factors and the available 
facilities, the Directors have reasonable expectations that tl1e Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these fmancial statements. 

1.4 Basis of consolidatio11 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The acquisition 
date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the 
non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling 
interests to have a deficit balance. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(forming part of the financial statements) 

1.4 Basis of consolidation (co11tin11ed) 

Change in subsidiary ownership and loss of control 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

Where the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities are derecognised along with any related NCI and other 
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is 
re-measured at fair value when control is lost. 

Joint Operations 

The Group identifies joint arrangements as those arrangements in which two or more parties have joint control, where joint control 
is evidenced by the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists where the decisions about the relevant 
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and 
obligations of each investor. 

Joint operations are identified as those agreements whereby the parties have rights to the assets and obligations for liabilities relating 
to the arrangement. Joint operations are accounted for by recognising the operator's relevant share of assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses. 

Joint ventures are identified as those agreements whereby the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement and are 
accounted for using equity accounting in accordance with !AS 28. Interest in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive 
income. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes 
any long-term interests that form part of the Group's net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 

The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint operations. The Group's share of the 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses of jointly controlled entities is combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated 
financial statements on a line-by-line basis. 

Associates 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group has the power to participate in an entity's financial and operating policy 
decisions, but it is not in control or hold joint control of those policies. 

Application of the equity method to associates 

Associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are initially recognised at cost. The Group's 
investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial 
statements include the Group's share of the total comprehensive income and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from 
the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group's share of losses 
exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the Group's carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses 
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an 
investee. 

1.5 Foreig11 c11rre11cy 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised 
in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated 
at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was detennined. Gains 
and losses on translation arising from the group operations are recorded within operating profits, those which arise from the group financial 
structure have been recorded as a gain or loss within the group's net financing income and expenses. 

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the translation reserve or non-controlling interest, as the case may be. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such that 
control, joint control or significant influence (as the case may be) is lost, the entire accumulated amount in the translation reserve, net of 
amounts previously attributed to non-controlling interests, is recycled to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while still retaining control, the 
relevant proportion of the accumulated amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its 
investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while still retaining significant influence or joint control, the 
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is recycled to profit or loss. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

1.6 Classification of financial instruments issued by tlie Group 

Policy effective/romperiod beginning 1January2019 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured 
at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

(a) Classification 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCl - debt investment; FVOCI - equity 
investment; or FVTPL. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for 
managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost ifit meets both of the following conditions: 

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI ifit meets both of the following conditions: 

it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and 

its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

On.initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in the investment's fair value in OCJ. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes 
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCl as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Investments in joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment or accounted for using the equity 
method. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Company's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of 
the cash flow statement. 

(b) Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets at FVTPL - these assets (other than derivatives designated as hedging instruments) are subsequently measured at 
fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost - These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest metl1od. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

1.6 Classification of financial instruments issued by Ille Group (continued) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Debt investments at FVOCI - these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective 
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Equity investments at FVOCI - these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit 
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities and equity 

Financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions: 

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the company; and 

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company's own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that 
includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company's own equity instruments or is a derivative that will 
be settled by the company's exchanging a fixed anlount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own 
equity instruments. 

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so 
classified takes the legal form of the company's own shares, the amounts presented in tllese financial statements for called up share 
capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is 
classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are 
measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 

Intra-group financial instruments 

Where the company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of oiher companies within its group, 
the company considers tllese to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the company treats the 
guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the company will be required to make a 
payment under the guarantee. 

(iii) Impairment 

The company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt 
investments measured at FVOCI and contract assets (as defined in IFRS 15). 

The company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for other debt securities and bank balances for 
which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, which are measured as 12-month ECL. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an an10unt equal to lifetime ECL. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when 
estimating ECL, the company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost 
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the company's historical experience 
and infom1ed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 

Lifetime EC Ls are tile EC Ls tl1at result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the company is exposed 
to credit risk. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

1.6 Classijicatio11 of financial instruments issued by tlze Group (continued) 

Measurement of EC ls 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the company expects 
to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Credit-impairedflnancial assets 

At each reporting date, the company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at FVOCI are 
credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Write-offs 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery. 

1.6 Classijicatio11 offina11cial instruments issued by tile Group-policy up to 31December2018 

Following the adoption of!AS 32, financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet 
the following two conditions: 

(c) they include no contractual obligations upon the company (or group as the case may be) to.deliver cash or other financial 
assets or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the company (or group); and 

(d) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company's own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that 
includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company's own equity instruments or is a derivative that will 
be settled by the company's exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other fmancial assets for a fixed number of its own 
equity instruments. 

To the extent that this defmition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a fmancial liability. Where the instrument so 
classified takes the legal form of the company's own shares, the amounts presented in these fmancial statements for called up share 
capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 

Where a financial instrument that contains both equity and financial liability components exists these components are separated 
and accounted for individually under the above policy. 

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards ofownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for the amount it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the fmancial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the Group's 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Financial assets 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less 
any provision for impairment. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of 
the cash flow statement. 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074779 IO 

31 December 2019 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

Accounting policies (continued) 

a. Classification of financial instruments issued by the Gro11p -policy 11p to 31December2018 (co11tin11ed) 

Available for sale financial assets 

Available for sale financial assets include non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such or do not qualify for 
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. Investments are recorded at cost. Any other fmancial assets within this 
category are measured subsequently at fair value, with changes in value recognised in equity, through other comprehensive income. 
Gains and losses arising from investments classified as available for sale are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when they are sold or when the investment is impaired. In the case of impairment of available for sale 
assets, any loss previously recognised in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment 
losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed through the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

Interest-bearing borrowings 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impainnent losses. 

Financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

The costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity to the extent they are incremental costs directly 
attributable to the equity transaction that would otherwise have been avoided. 

1. 7 Property, plallt and eq11ipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impainnent losses. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified as fmance 
leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are stated at an amow1t equal to the lower of their fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impainnent 
losses. Lease payments are accounted for as described below. 

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Land and assets under construction are not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Commercial office units and improvements 30 years 

Equipment 

Leasehold improvements 

Furniture and fittings 

Vehicles 

3 - 5 years 

3 years 

3 -10 years 

3 - 5 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

1.8 Acquisitions and disposals of11on-controlli11g interests 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of control are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. The adjustments 
to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted is recognised directly in equity w1d attributed 
to the owners of the parent. 

Prior to the adoption of IAS 27 (2008), goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary, 
which represented the excess of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest in the net assets 
acquired at the date of the trw1saction. 

1.9 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Where the Group has been developing new product lines the costs of the software to deliver these have been capitalised once it has 
met the requirements as per lAS 38. It will then start to be amortised from the period the product is ready for use. 

Software which is not integral to a related item of hardware are also recognised as intangible assets. Capitalised internal-use 
software include external direct costs of materials and services consumed in the development or purchase, use of dedicated 
contractors, and payroll and related costs for employees who are directly associated with or who devote substantial time to the 
project. Capitalisation of these costs ceases when the project is substantially complete and ready for its internal purpose. These 
costs are amortised over their expected useful life deemed to be three to five years once the asset is put into use. 

Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 

prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. The policies applied to the Group's Intangible assets are summarised as follows: 

• Acquired Anoto IP- Straight line basis with a maximum life of 4 years, with no residual value. 

I.JO lnve11tories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the weighted average principle and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in bringing them to their existing 
location and condition. Obsolete, defective or slow-moving inventories have been written down to estimated net realisable value. 
The recoverable amount of inventory is calculated based on inventory age and turnover. 

I.II Impairment excludillg inventories anti deferred tax assets 

Financial assets (including receivables) 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to detern1ine whether there is 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset 
that can be estimated reliably. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Interest 
on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying an10unts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. lfany such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable 
amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 
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The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows ofother assets or groups of assets {the "cash-generating unit"). The 
goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units, or 
("CGU"). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill 
has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CG Us that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable an10unt. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
ifthere has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or an10rtisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

1.12 Employee benefits 

Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 

Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-tem1 cash bonus or incentive plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation 
can be estimated reliably. 

Share-based payment transactions 

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments 
are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained by the 
Group. 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of 
the options granted is measured using an option valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards for which the related service 
and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the 
number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment 
awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and 
there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

Where the Company's parent grants rights to its equity instruments to the Group's or the Company's employees, which are accounted 
for as equity-settled in the consolidated accow1ts of the parent, the Group or the Company as the case may be account for these share­
based payments as equity-settled. 
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1.13 Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably. 

Present obi igations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered 
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. 

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognised at the date of sale of 
the relevant products, at the management best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group's obligation. 

1.14 Pre-contract costs 

Where the group incurs significant costs related to a contract before the contract commences these are recognised within receivables 
as pre-contract costs. Such costs are only capitalised if they are necessary to both render and improve the future service to the 
client and relating to future activity on the contract. These costs are then expensed through the income statement over the life of 
the contract that these costs relate to. 

1.15 Revenue 

The Group recognises revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. In accordance with IFRS 15 the 
company recognises revenue when (or as) a perfom1ance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or services 
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources: 

Provision of services 

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of 
completion of the contract is determined as follows: 

• Fees are recognised by reference to the stage of completion, determined as the proportion of the total tinle expected to 
install that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period; 

Servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of 
providing the servicing for the product sold; and 

Sale of goods and equipment 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all of the following 
conditions are satisfied: 

The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods; 

• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, not 
effective control over goods sold; 

• The amount ofrevenue can be measured reliably; 

It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 

• The costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

Revenue from both the sale of goods, and the provision of services, is recognised over time to the extent that: 

• The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity's performance as the entity 
performs, and another entity would not need to substantially re-perform the work that the entity has completed to date 
(routine or recurring services). 
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• The entity's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable 
right to payment for performance completed to date (building a specialised asset that only the customer can use, or 
building an asset to a customer order). 

If the above criteria are not considered to be met, then the Group recognises revenue at the point in time of which the transfer of 

control is transferred to the customer. 

1.16 Leases 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information has not been 

restated and continues to be reported under !AS 17. 

At the inception ofa contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease ifthe 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, along with one or more other lease or non­

lease components, the Group accounts for each lease component separately from the non-lease components. The Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price and the aggregate stand-alone 

price of the non-lease components. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred [and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset 

or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located], less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the 

lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the 
right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the 
right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily detem1ined, the Group's incremental 

borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement 
date 

amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period ifthe Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and 

penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in 
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected 
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, ifthe Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension 
or termination option or ifthere is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
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When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, to the extent that the right-of-use asset is reduced to nil, with any further adjustment required from the remeasurement being 
recorded in profit or loss. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the defmition of investment property in 'property, plant and equipment' and 
lease liabilities in 'loans and borrowings' in the statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for lease oflow-value assets and short-term leases. 
The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.17 Expenses 

Financing income and expenses 

Financing expenses comprise interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and finance leases recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are 
recognised in the income statement (see foreign currency accounting policy). Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial time to be prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the 
cost of that asset. Financing income comprise interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, and net foreign exchange 
gains. 

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend 
income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity's right to receive payments is established. Foreign currency 
gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 

Research and development 

Research is expense as the costs are incurred. Where the expenditure reaches the requirements for !AS 38 for development the 
amounts are capitalised as an intangible asset. 

1.18 Taxation 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current ta'C 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of 
goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business 
combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

1.19 Adopted lFRS not yet applied 

The following Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. Their adoption 
is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated: 

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective date to be confirmed). 

• Amendments to !AS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective date to be confirmed). 

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Fran1ework in IFRS Standards (effective date to be confirmed). 

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 20I5-2018 Cycle (effective date to be confirmed). 

• The Directors are considering the impact of these newly issued standards upon the results of the Group. 
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In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note I, management is required to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods ifthe revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgements 

Capitalisation of development costs 

Capitalisation of development costs relates to capitalisation of costs used for the development of software not yet ready for use 
across some of the subsidiaries of the Group. The Group exercises judgement regarding the appropriateness of capitalisation of 
development costs based upon the Group's ability to meet the recognition criteria prescribed by IFRS. Owing to the inherent 
uncertainty of forecasting future cash flows within an entity with no contracted future revenue, the ultimate carrying value of the 
resulting intangible assets is subject to material uncertainty in the financial statements. 

Estimates 

The following are the critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty, apart from those that the management has made 
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements: 

Revenue recognition in long-term contracts 

Long term contract accounting requires the Group, at the outset of the contract, to make an estimate of total expected costs, which 
then drives revenue recognition over time. Currently the Group is only operating with one such contract, whereby the Group 
regularly assesses actual costs to date against budgeted costs. As at year end, no significant variations from the original budget 
have been identified, and the Group continues to expect that the contract will remain profitable. However, given the length of time 
over which long-term contracts span this is considered to be a significant estimate to the Group. 

Inventory valuation 

Inventory is held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The group hold some inventory lines in advance of a confirmed 
contract for sale, the Group are therefore required to estimate the net realisable value achievable for these products based upon past 
contracts and the sales in the pipeline. At year end the value of inventory held by the Group was significant and the valuation, 
impacted heavily by sales price, is considered to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The group uses 
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the group's past history, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. 
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As disclosed in note 14, during 2018 the Group disposed of its 100% ownership interest in the Airlabs Limited Group, such that 
the Group Jost control of Airlabs Limited. As part of this transaction, as disclosed in note 16, the Group acquired a 48.51 % (reduced 
to 44.62% by year-end) ownership interest in Airlabs Holdings Limited, which was assessed as being an investment in an associate. 
However, Airlabs Limited was accounted for as a subsidiary and was consolidated in Group's prior year accounts. Airlabs Holdings 
Limited was incorrectly consolidated in the prior year accounts. 

Consequently, the prior period numbers in these accounts have been restated to reflect accounting for loss of control of Airlabs 
Limited and to include Airlabs Holdings Limited as an equity accounted investee from July 2018. 

Restated Consolidated Income Statement 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 

Gross profit/(loss) 
Operating expenses 
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 
Other income 
Other expenses 
Foreign exchange rate loss 

Operating loss 

Financial income 
Financial expenses 
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 

Net financing income 

Share of profit of joint venture 
Share of profit of associate 

Loss before tax 
Taxation 

Loss for the year 

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent 
Non-controlling interest 

Loss for the year 

2018 

US$000 
119,227 
(67,802) 

51,425 
(46,960) 

5,248 
563 

(9,987) 
(6, 124) 

(5,835) 

1,329 
(783) 
(122) 

424 

(5,411) 
(5,643) 

(ll,054) 

(10,900) 
(154) 

(ll,054) 

Im pact of prior 
year adjustment 

US$000 

1,067 
2,725 

(2,723) 
27 

1,096 

(520) 
517 

2,903 

2,900 

(588) 

3,408 

3,408 

3,402 
6 

3,408 

Restated 2018 

US$000 
119,227 
(67,802) 

51,425 
(45,893) 

7,973 
563 

(12,710) 
(6,097) 

(4,739) 

809 
(266) 
2,781 

3,324 

(588) 

(2,003) 
(5,643) . 

(7,646) 

(7,498) 
(148) 

(7,646) 
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Restated Consolidated Balance Sheet 

2018 

USSOOO 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 7,972 
Intangible assets 11,145 
Investment in associates 
Investment in joint ventures 
Other investments 5,007 
Other receivables 5,186 
Deferred tax assets 583 

29,893 

Current assets 
Inventories 2,818 
Trade and other receivables 64,345 
Cash and cash equivalents 72,100 
Non-current assets held for sale 

139,263 

Total assets 169,156 

Current liabilities 
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings 870 
Trade and other payables 40,338 
Deferred revenue 6,589 
Income tax payable 2,498 
Provisions 1,214 

51,509 

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities I 
Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings 541 

542 

Total liabilities 52,051 

Net assets 117,105 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 December 2019 

Im pact of prior Restated 2018 
year adjustment 

USSOOO USSOOO 

(34) 7,938 
(1,893) 9,252 

3,312 3,312 

5,007 
5,187 

583 

1,386 31,279 

2,818 
272 64,617 
(20) 72,080 

252 139,515 

1,638 170,794 

870 
(463) 39,875 

I 6,590 
2,498 
1,214 

(462) 51,047 

I 
541 

542 

(462) 51,589 

2,100 119,205 
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Restated Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued) 2018 

US$000 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Share capital 
Share premium 12,255 
Share based payment reserves 16,879 
Translation reserves (62, 117) 
Merger reserve 
Retained earnings 148,240 

Non-controlling interest 1,848 

Total equity 117,105 

Restated Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 December2019 

Im pact of prior Restated 2018 
year adjustment 

US$000 US$000 

(12,145) 110 
16,879 

(62,117) 
12,145 12,145 
3,403 151,643 

{1,303) 545 

2,100 119,205 

The prior year adjustment resulted in an immaterial reduction to cash and cash equivalents of US$20k. There were various 
adjustments to the consolidated cash flow statement in order to account for deconsolidation of the Airlabs group, with the only 
significant items related to the payment for acquisition of an interest in Airlabs Holdings Limited of US$3.9m shown as an 
acquisition of an investment in an associate within investing activities and cash inflows ofUS$3.9m shown as the repayment ofa 
loan to the associate within investing activities in the prior year comparatives in the consolidated cash flow statement (these items 
were not presented in the consolidated cash flow statement in prior year accounts). The abovementioned adjustments did not have 
significant impact on the net cash flows from any of the operating, financing or investing activities. 

Restated share premium balance 

As disclosed in note 25, there has been an adjustment from the share premium account ofUS$12. lm into a merger reserve in order 
to correctly present the equity reserves as a result of a group reconstruction in 2006 where the merger reserve was incorrectly 
classified as share premium. There is no impact on the total equity recognised. 

30 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
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Restated Company Balance Sheet 

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets 
Investments 
Investments in equity-accounted investees 

Current assets 
Debtors 
Cash at bank and in hand 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

Net current liabilities 

Total assets less current liabilities 

Net assets 

Capital and reserves 
Called up share capital 
Share premium 
Merger reserve 
Share based payments reserves 
Profit and loss account 

Shareholder's funds 

2018 

£000 

104 
115,890 

115,994 

4,746 
245 

4,991 

(14,377) 

(9,386) 

106,608 

106,608 

68 
80,414 

432 
25,694 

106,608 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Im pact of prior Restated 
year adjustment 2018 

£000 £000 

104 
(2,937) 112,953 

2,937 2,937 

115,994 

4,746 
245 

4,991 

(14,377) 

(9,386) 

106,608 

106,608 

68 
80,414 

432 
25,694 

106,608 
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4. Revenue 

Sale of goods 
Provision of services 
Revenue from leasing of equipment 

Total revenue 

Revenue by geographical location is as follows: 

Asia 

North America 

South America 

Europe 

Africa 

Total revenue 

Contract balances 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

2019 2018 
US$000 US$000 

95,435 104,177 
45,129 15,050 
3,478 

144,042 119,227 

2019 2018 

US$000 US$000 

23,275 43,286 

88,681 36,665 

21,176 20,378 

10,373 18,898 

537 

144,042 119,227 

The following table provides information about receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. 

2019 2018 

Restated 

US$000 US$000 

Trade receivables from customers (see note 19) 78,669 34,558 

Contract assets (accrued income) (see note 19) 28,394 7,210 

Contract liabilities (deferred income) (see note 23) 52,716 6,590 

Contract assets represent revenue recognised but not yet invoiced. All contract assets as of 31 December 2018 (US$7,210,000) 
were invoiced during the year ended 31 December 2019. The same is expected to be true for all contract assets at the year ended 
31 December 2019. 

Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to customers, for which the Group has already 
received consideration from the customer. All of the contract liability balance as of3 I December 2018 (US$6,590,000) has been 
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2019. The same is expected to be true for all contract liabilities at the 
yearended31 December2019. 
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5. Other income and expenses 

Other income 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December2019 

2019 

US$000 
1,428 

2018 

US$000 
563 

For 2019 significant items within other income relates to withholding tax for $690,000, income from the sale of batteries of 
$460,000 and reversed accruals and other payables of $290,000. In 2018 significant items within other income includes the sale of 
office equipment and furniture for $219,000 and other non-significant items. 

Other expenses 

2019 

US$000 
9,450 

2018 
Restated 
US$000 

12,710 

In 2019 significant items within other expenses relate to the impairment of capitalised development costs within eVote UK Limited 
of$2,827,000, additional sales tax and withholding tax charges of$2,838,000, bad debt provision and write-off costs of$2, 712,000 
and the costs associated with the merger ofSGO Corporation Ltd and SGO Corporation S.A of$834,000. In 2018 significant items 
within other expenses relate to the impairment of amounts due from related parties of $5, 198,000, additional tax penalties and permits of 
$1,402,000 and a write-off of advances and deferred charges of$744,000. 

6. Expenses and auditor's remuneration 

Included in operating profit are the following (credits)/expenses: 

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 
Impairment reversal of trade receivables (see note 26) 
Impairment of trade receivables (see note 26) 
Depreciation expense (see note 11) 
Amortisation expense (see note 12) 
lmpaim1ent of intangible assets (see note 12) 
Pre-contract costs amortisation expense (see note I 9) 
Operating lease expense (see note 27) 
Research and development expenditure 
Impairment of development costs (see note 12) 
Gain on disposal of joint venture (see note 14) 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (see note 14) 
Impairment of amounts due from related parties (see note 29) 

Auditor's remuneration: 

Audit of these financial statements 

Amounts receivable by the company's auditor and its associates in respect of 

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the company 

Tax advisory and compliance services 

2019 

US$000 

2,586 
2,444 

498 
2,805 

314 

763 
2,827 

2019 

US$000 

34 

687 

596 

2018 
Restated 
US$000 

1,644 
(222) 

1,71 I 
635 

1,348 

314 
1,389 
2,133 

5,248 
2,725 
5,198 

2018 
US$000 

21 

577 

382 

Jn addition to the audit fees payable to KPMG LLP and it associates, certain Group subsidiaries are audited by other firms, and 
taxes are also assessed by other firms. Fees payable to those firms amounts to US$592,096 (2018: US$76,250). 
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The average number of persons employed by the group (including directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows: 

Number of employees 

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows: 

Wages and salaries 
Social security costs 
Contributions to defined contribution plans 

8. Directors' remuneration 

Remuneration paid to or receivable by directors in respect of qualifying services 

Number of employees 
2019 2018 

409 

US$000 

25,885 
3,626 

so 

29,561 

2019 

$000 

569 

569 

403 

US$000 

24,650 
3,342 

108 

28,100 

2018 

$000 

634 

634 

The total remuneration and amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid director was US$340,000 
(2018: US$430,000). One of the directors was not paid for his services to the group. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

9. Finance income and expense 

Finance income 
Gain on foreign exchange 

Total finance income 

Finance expense 
Interest expense 
Loss on foreign exchange 

Total finance expense 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

2019 2018 
Restated 

US$000 US$000 

558 809 

558 809 

2019 2018 
Restated 

US$000 US$000 

55 66 
1,616 200 

1,671 266 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

JO. Taxation 

Recognised in the income statement 

Current tax expense 
Current year tax charge 
Adjustments for prior years 

Current tax expense 

Deferred tax expense 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 
Rate Change 

Deferred tax credit/( expense) 

Total tax expense 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

Loss before tax 

Income tax credit calculated at 19.00% (2018: 19%) 
Effect of(income)/expenses that are not (taxable)/deductible ii1 determining taxable profit 
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 
Effect of tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 
Tinling differences not recognised for deferred tax purposes 
Effect of different exchange rates translation on subsidiaries 
Effect of prior year adjustments 
Unrecognised deferred tax now recognised 
Effect of changes in tax rates 

Total tax expense 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

2019 

US$000 

(6,696) 
(822) 

(7,518) 

131 
71 

(12) 

190 

(7,328) 

2019 

US$000 

(9,793) 

(1,860) 
(l,054) 
3,826 
1,361 
3,429 

813 
834 
(71) 
50 

7,328 

2018 
restated 
US$000 

(1,958) 
(160) 

(2,118) 

(4,022) 
507 
(10) 

(3,525) 

(5,643) 

=·=== 

2018 
restated 
US$000 

(2,003) 

(381) 
(28) 

2,843 
2,465 

888 
295 

57 
(507) 

II 

5,643 

The tax rate used for the 2019 reconciliation above is the corporate tax rate of 19% payable by corporate entities in the UK on 
taxable profits under tax law in that jurisdiction. The 2018 reconciliation is based on the corporate tax rate of 19.25%. 

36 



SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

11. Property, plant and equipment 
Commercial office 

Leasehold Furniture and Under 
units and Equipment 

Improvements 
Vehicles 

fixtures construction 
!mprovements 

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
Cost 
Balance at 31 December 2017 9,174 4,744 4,311 1,238 1,314 255 

Additions 157 33 199 
Disposals (2,427) (1,236) (681) (6) (254) 
Impact of Airlabs deconsolidation (47) 
Effects of movements in foreign exchange (2} (627} (386} (524} (I} 
Balance at 31December2018 (restated) 9,331 2,301 2,647 171 784 
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial application of 3,788 

lFRS 16 
Additions 122 
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 113 891 
Balance at 31December2019 13,119 2,414 3,660 171 787 

Depreciation and impairment 
Balance at 31 December 2017 (2,174) (3,490) (3,492) (1,097) (1,307) 
Depreciation charge for the year (307) (201) (101) (21) (5) 
Disposals 720 1,236 364 
Impact of Airlabs deconsolidation 13 
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 827 628 947 164 
Balance at 31December2018 (restated) (2,481) (2,131) (1,729) (171) (784) 
Depreciation charge for the year (2,125) (171) (148) 
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 42 5 3 
Balance at 31December2019 (4,606) (2,344) (1,882) (171) (787) 

Net book value 
At 31 December 2018 (restated) 6,850 170 918 
At 31December2019 8,513 70 1,778 

Commercial office units with a carrying amount of approximately US$6,750,000 have been pledged to secure borrowings of the Group under a mortgage up to US$8,639,000. The 
Group is not allowed to pledge these assets as security for other borrowings or to sell them to another entity. 
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Total 

USSOOO 

21,036 

389 
(4,604) 

(47) 
(1,540} 
15,234 
3,788 

122 
1,007 

20,151 

(11,560) 
(635) 
2,320 

13 
2 566 

(7,296) 
(2,444) 

50 
(9,790) 

7,938 
10,361 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

12. Intangible assets 

Cost 
Balance at I January 2018 
Impact of Airlabs deconsolidation 
Additions 
Disposals 

Balance at 31 December 2018 (restated) 

Balance at I January 2019 

Additions 

Impairment 

Balance at 31 December 2019 

Amortisation and impairment 

Balance at I January 2018 
Amortisation for the year 

Disposals 

Balance at 31 December 2018 (restated) 

Balance at 1January2019 

Amortisation for the year 
Balance at 31 December 2019 

Net book value 

Balance at 31 December 2018 (restated) 

At3l December2019 

Patents and 
trade- marks 

US$000 

7,297 

(1,581) 

5,716 

5,716 

5,716 

(3,533) 
(1,348) 

52 

(4,829) 

(4,829) 

(498) 
(5,327) 

887 

389 

The amortisation charge is recognised in other operating expenses in the income statement. 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Software Total 
US$000 US$000 

4,878 12,175 
(1,893) {1,893) 

5,444 5,444 
(64) (1,645) 

8,365 14,081 

8,365 14,081 

3,771 3,771 

(2,805) (2,805) 

9,331 15,047 

(3,533) 
(1,348) 

52 

(4,829) 

(4,829) 

(498) 
(5,327) 

8,365 9,252 

9,331 9,720 

During 2014, the Group entered into an agreement for the purchase of intellectual property relating to a lottery ticket scanner at a 
cost of US$2,000,000. Amortization of the intellectual property commenced in October 2015 when it was available for use. 

In 2016 the Group chose to revise its accounting policy in respect to the capitalization of intangibles to better reflect the business 
results and strategy. This resulted in costs which had been expensed, which related to the development of new platforms and 
products, being capitalised. As at 31 December 2019 $10,218k (2018 restated: $8,365k) of development costs have been 
capitalised. These items are not yet in use and so no amortisation charge has been incurred. 

During the period, software totalling $2,805k was impaired, with the impairment charge being recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss. The asset related to software capitalised in respect of the Evote cash generating unit. As management had ceased the 
funding of development of the project, it was no longer considered viable, and as such, an impairment was recognised accordingly. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

13. Other investments 

Non-current 

Other investments 

The non-current financial assets held during the year by the Group was Infuser ApS. 

lnfuserApS 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

2019 
US$000 

5,476 

2018 
US$000 

5,007 

On 7 April 2014, the Group acquired 33% of the share capital of Infuser ApS {"Infuser"), a legal entity registered in Denmark. 
While the Group holds 33% of the Company's share capital, it does not participate in the Company's financial and operating policy 
decisions, does not control or have joint control in any capacity. In 2018, the group increased the value of its investment in Infuser. 
This was matched by the other shareholders and so the value of the Group's share oflnfuser remained at 33%. 

In 2019 the Group decreased ownership in the investment to 29.09%. 

Based upon the organisational structure of Infuser, and the extent of control by the Group over the entity, the Group has deemed it 
does not hold significant influence and therefore accounted for this investment as an available for sale financial investment (this 
has been classified as a level 2 financial instrument as per note 26). 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

14. Investments in subsidiaries 

The Group has the following investments in subsidiaries, controlled entities: 

Registered Class of 
Registered address shares Ownership Number held 

2018 
2019 (restated) 

Group Subsidiary 
Smartmatic International Holding Gustav Mahlerplein 25C, 1082 MS 7477910 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
B.V.' Amsterdam, The Netherlands 

Hisoft Limited x 
Unit 1001, 10/F, Infmitus Plaza, 199 8704199 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong 

E-Vote UK Limitedx• 
88 Baker Street, London, WIU 6TQ, 2237991 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
United Kingdom 

Folio Technologies'* 
88 Baker Street, London, WIU 6TQ, 8953917 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
United Kingdom 

Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange 9035601 

Social Hunt Corporation+ 
Street, in the City of Wilmington, 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
County of New Castle, Delaware 

19801, USA 

Smartmatic UK Limited x• 
88 Baker Street, London, WI U 6TQ, 36736348 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
United Kingdom 

Smartmatic of Haiti, S.A. + 
#7, Rue Lechaud, Bourdon, Port au 160706375 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Prince, Haiti 6 

16th floor, Accralaw Tower, Second 

Smartmatic Philippines, Inc. 
Avenue Comer 30th Street, Crescent 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Park West, Bonifacio Global City, CS2010017 

0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines 45 

Smartmatic Belgium SPRL 
9th Floor, Rue Belliar 4/6, I 040 083551662 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Brussels, Belgium 6 

160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, City of 
Smartmatic USA Corporation Dover, County of Kent, Delaware, 4959658 Ordinary 100% 100% 

USA 

Albatross Technologies Corporation 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

31402 Ordinary 0% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.l. BB 11112 

Smartmatic South Africa PTY 
Ground Floor Stadium Building, Lion 

Limited+ 
Match Office Park, Umgeni Road, 2014/27466 Ordinary 0% 100% 

Durban, South Africa 2/07 

Centro Banaven (Cubo Negro), Torre 
Registro 4° 

DITO CAP 
lntegradora Venezolana de Tecnologia C, Piso 6 Ofic. B-63-01, Avenida La 

No.25 Ordinary 0% 100% 
y Automatizacion (INVENT A, C.A.)+ Estancia, Chuao, Caracas 1060-RB 

Torno 63 A 
Venezuela IA 

Cto 2009. 

Smartmatic Netherlands B.V. 
Gustav Mahlerplein 25C, 1082 MS 

34320515 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Amsterdam, The Netherlands 

SE 3 L 23, 19-29 Martin Pl, Sydhey, 
98 622 894 

Smartmatic Australia PTY Ltd+ NSW 2000 
704 

Ordinary 100% 100% 

Smartmatic Singapore Pte Ltd 
8 Temasek Boulevard, #42-19, Suntec 201705304 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Tower Three, Singapore (038988) w 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

14. Investments in subsidiaries controlled entities (continued) 

Registered Class of 
Registered address shares Ownership Number held 

2018 
2019 (restated) 

Group Subsidiary 
Berna No. 6, Piso 6, Colonia Juarez, 

Smartrnatic Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Delegacion Cuauhtemoc, Distrito 415220 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Federal, CP 06600 

Smartrnatic Ecuador, S.A. 
Coop Union y Progreso Mz B, Numero 06-G-IJ-

Ordinary 100% 100% 
3, Guayaquil, Ecuador. 0003588 

Smartrnatic Elecciones de Mexico 
Berna No. 6, Piso 6, Colonia Juarez, U74900DL 

S.A. de C.V. 
Delegacion Cuauhtemoc, Distrito 2010PTC20 Ordinary 60% 60% 

Federal, CP 06600 4111 
SC Centre of Excellence for Internet Olikool tn 2, Tartu city, Tarty County, 

12679959 Ordinary 60% 60% 
Voting OU 51003, Estonia 

HS Software Corporation+ 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

41933 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112 

Smartrnatic Latam Corporation 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

36714 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.1. BB 11112 

Torre de las Americas, Torre A, Piso 

Smartrnatic Panama, S. A. 
19, calles Punta Darien y Punta 

750640 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Coronado, Urb. Punta Pacifica, Distrito 

Panama, Republica de Panama. 
Torre de las Americas, Torre A, Piso 

HiSoft Panama, S.A. 
19, calles Punta Darien y Punta 

750640 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Coronado, Urb. Punta Pacifica, Distrito 

Panama, Republica de Panama 

Centro Banaven (Cubo Negro), Torre 
Registro 4° 
OTTO CAP 

Tecnologia Smartrnatic de Venezuela, C, Piso 6 Ofic. B-63-01, Avenida La 
No.25 Ordinary 100% 100% 

C.A. Estancia, Chuao, Caracas I 060-RB 
Torno 63 A 

Venezuela IA 
Cto 2009. 

Smartrnatic Labs, C.A. + 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

25239 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112 

Smartmatic Services Corporation 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

24285 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112 

Smartmatic International Corporation 
Pine Lodge, #26 Pine Road, St. 

29152146 Ordinary 100% 100% 
Michael, Barbados, W.I. BB 11112 

Smartmatic Taiwan Corporation 
7F., No.276, Jianguo Rd., Sindian City, CS2009123 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
Taipei County, Taiwan (R.O.C.) 59 

16th floor, Accralaw Tower, Second 

1920 Business Inc. 
Avenue Comer 30th Street, Crescent CS2009104 

Ordinary 40% 40% 
Park West, Bonifacio Global City, 29 

0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines 
16th floor, Accralaw Tower, Second 

Smartrnatic TIM Corporation 
Avenue Comer 30th Street, Crescent CS2015160 

Ordinary 40% 40% 
Park West, Bonifacio Global City, 97 

0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines 
Avenue Comer 30lh Street. Crescent 

SMMT-TIM 2016 Inc Park West, Bonifacio Global City, 12679959 Ordinary 40% 40% 
0399 Taguig Metro Manila, Philippines 

Smartmatic Elections UK Limited 
88 Baker Street, London, WI U 6TQ, 

08704199 Ordinary 100% 100% 
United Kingdom 

Smartrnatic Brazil L TOA 
Av. Dr Guilherrne Dumon Villares 093906377 

Ordinary 100% 100% 
1410, cj 101, Sao Paolo, Brazil 0001-06 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

14. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

*The subsidiaries ofSGO Corporation Limited, above, all of which are domiciled and registered in the UK, are exempt from the 
audit of their individual accounts (Section 479a of the Companies Act 2006) due to the existence ofa parental guarantee given by 
this parent undertaking of this group which prepares these consolidated accounts. 

"These entities are all 100% directly owned by SGO Corporation Limited. All other investments are indirect. 

+These entities represent all dormant entities. 

In 2018 the Group reduced its participating interest in Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas de Trasporte Publico. 
The Group now holds a 50% interest in the entity, and as such, the entity is treated as a joint venture in the financial statements. 

Effect of gain on change in participating interest 

Proceeds 

Assets & liabilities disposed of: 

Property, plant and equipment 

Intangible assets 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other creditors 

Net liabilities disposed of 

Total gain on change in participating interest 

2018 

US$000 

1,134 

27 

837 

(7,246) 

(5,248) 

5,248 

·As disclosed in note 3, in 2018 the Group sold its participating interests in Airlabs Limited to Airlabs Holdings 
Limited (a newly incorporated entity) for £1. The Group then acquired a 48.51% participating interest in Airlabs 
Holdings Limited for a cash consideration of$3.9m. The participating interest in Airlabs Holdings Limited was 
assessed as being an associate of the Group. At year end, the Group held a 44.62% interest in Airlabs Holdings 
Limited. 

Effect of gain on change in participating interest 

Proceeds 

Assets & liabilities disposed of: 

Cash 

Inventory 

Trade and other receivables 

Fixed assets 

Intangible assets 

Trade and other payables 

Intercompany payables 

Net liabilities disposed of 

Total gain on change in participating interest 

2018 
restated 

US$000 

65 

20 

132 

42 

1,563 

(114) 

(4,434) 

(2,726) 

2,725 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

15. Investments in joint ventures 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31December2019 

As per note 14, during 2019 the Group reduced its participating interest in Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas 
de Trasporte Pilblico in 2018. The Group now holds a 50% interest in the entity, and as such, the entity is treated as ajoint venture 
in the financial statements. 

Carrying amount of joint venture 

Percentage ownership interest 

Non-current assets 
Current assets 
Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Net liabilities (100%) 

Group's share ofnet liabilities 

Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 

Revenue 
Costs and operating expenses 
Interest income 
Other income 

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations 

Group's share of (loss)/profit 

2019 
US$000 

2019 
50% 

US$000 

1,850 
906 

(7,233) 
(756) 

(5,233) 

(2,616) 

2,285 
(2,403) 

84 

(34) 

(17) 

2018 
US$000 

2018 
50% 

US$000 

1,873 
995 

(7,505) 
(695) 

(5,332) 

(2,666) 

2,008 
(2,523) 

400 
155 

40 

20 

43 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

16. Investments in associates 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December2019 

As per Note 14, in 2018 the Group sold its participating interests in Airlabs Limited and acquired a participating interest in 
Airlabs Holdings Limited for $3.9m. The remaining shares in Airlabs Holdings Limited were issued to third parties at the same 
price per share and therefore management determined that the $3.9m represented fair value. The Group now holds a 44.62% 
interest in Airlabs Holdings Limited, and exercises significant influence over the entity, which is now considered to be an 
associate of the Group. Refer to note 3 which details the prior year impact of°this on the financial statements. 

2018 
2019 Restated 

US$000 US$000 
Carrying amount of associate 2,651 3,312 

2019 2018 
Percentage ownership interest 44.62% 44.62% 

US$000 US$000 

Non-current assets 2,613 1,928 
Current assets 637 230 
Current liabilities (3,078) (946) 

Net assets (100%) 172 1,212 

Group's share of net assets 77 541 

Carrying amount of interest in associate 2,651 3,312 

Costs and operating expenses (2,041) (1,800) 
Interest expense (6) (165) 
Other income 567 693 

Loss from continuing operations (1,480) (1,272) 

Group's share of loss (660) (568) 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

Intra-group profit 
Provisions 
Property, plant and equipment 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 
Other assets/(I iabil ities) 
Tax losses 

Deferred tax assets 

Total deferred tax assets 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax assets 

Movement in deferred tax during the year 

Provisions 
Property, plant and equipment 
Other assets/ (liabilities) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 

Temporary differences: 

Tax losses 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Intra-group profit 

Net deferred tax balance 

Unrecognised deferred temporary differences 

1 January 
2019 Translation 

Restated differences 
US$000 US$000 

62 
21 

393 7 
32 2 

76 3 

(I) 

583 12 

Rate 
Change 
US$000 

(13) 

(13) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 779 IO 

31 December 2019 

Recognised 
in year 

US$000 
133 
(2) 
(2) 
97 

(25) 

202 

2019 

US$000 

182 
19 

131 
418 

54 

804 

2019 

US$000 

804 

804 

Recognised 
in OCI 

US$000 

20 

20 

2018 
Restated 
US$000 

(1) 
62 
21 
32 

393 
76 

583 

2018 
Restated 

US$000 

584 

(I) 

583 

31 December 
2019 

US$000 
182 

19 
418 
131 

54 

804 

Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised 
are attributable to the following: 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued) 

1 January Translation 
2018 differences 

US$000 US$000 
Provisions 20 
Property, plant and equipment 14 
Intra-group profit 5,371 

Temporary differences: 

Tax losses 1,030 (13) 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Other liabilities (62) (38) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains (2,188) (28) 

Net deferred tax balance 4,185 (79) 

Charitable donations 
Tax losses 
Other deductible temporary differences 

Deferred tax assets 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Recognised 31 December 
Rate Change in year 2018 

US$000 US$000 US$000 
(6) 48 62 
(2) 9 21 

(5,372) (1) 

II (952) 76 

(15) 508 393 
2,248 32 

(12) (3,511) 583 

2019 2018 
US$000 US$000 

190 
84,809 61,748 
18,072 

102,881 61,938 

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each closing date and reduced to the extent that it is not likely that the 
Group would generate sufficient future tax gains to totally or partially recover such assets. The Group reviews the recovery of these 
amounts based on the projection of expected future tax results. The Group does not recognise any deferred tax liability on temporary 
differences relating to potentially taxable unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries totalling USDIO.Om (2018: USDlOm) 
because it is able to control the timing ofreversal of these differences. It is probable that no reversal will take place in the foreseeable 
future. 

18. Inventories 

Raw materials and consumables 
Finished goods, net 

2019 
US$000 

383 
9,311 

9,694 

2018 
US$000 

399 
2,419 

2,818 

Management estimates that inventories will be realised or utilised in the short-term. There are no significant differences between 
the resale or fair value and the carrying value of stocks. There were no write-offs or write downs of stocks in the current period 
(20 I 8: US$ nil). The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing operations was 
US$3.6m (2018: US$353,000). 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

19. Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables 
Amounts due from parent 
Other receivables 
Advance to vendors 
Prepayments 
Accrued income 
Guarantee deposits 
Pre-contract costs 
Other taxes receivable 

Non-current 
Current 

Advance to vendors 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

3 I December 2019 

2019 2018 
Restated 

US$000 VS$000 

78,669 34,558 
462 

6,291 2,560 
11,013 2,142 
30,992 11,774 
28,394 7,210 

384 353 
1,864 2,178 
5,178 8,567 

162,785 69,804 

4,543 5,187 
158,242 64,617 

The Group grants advances to its suppliers to acquire goods and services during the course ofbusiness. As of31 December 2019, 
the Group has granted advances for US$11,013,000 (2018 restated: US$2,142,000) for the purchase of electoral machines, 
runtime licenses, digital pens, logistics services and others. 

Employee loans 
The Group entered into various employment agreements with certain key employees to provide an incentive to relocate them 
from Venezuela to Panama and continue employment relationship with the Group. The employment agreements provide certain 
benefits to the employees if certain contingencies are met, including continued employment in the Group for at least three 
consecutive years from the time the employment contract is signed. As of3 I December 2019, the Group maintains non-interest 
bearing loans receivable from employees for approximately US$305,000 (2018: US$310,000). 

Other taxes receivable 
Certain of the Group's operations are subject to Value-Added Tax (VAT) and withholding tax. Management considers that the 
current amounts receivable in respect to VAT and withholding tax are fully recoverable from tax authorities. As of 31 December 
2019, both the VAT and withholding tax are mainly generated by operations in the Philippines. 

Pre-contract costs 
Pre-contract costs are represented by costs incurred by the Group in order to secure a contract to provide electoral services in 
Belgium. Pre-contract costs are amortised over the contract term. During 2018 and 2019 a total of$314,000 was amortised. 

20. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

2019 

US$000 

56,906 
2,384 

59,290 

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, restricted cash is represented by deposits held in financial institutions for the purpose of 
guaranteeing certain projects in progress and bid processes in certain jurisdictions. 

2018 
Restated 
VS$000 

66,589 
5,491 

72,080 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

21. Other loans and borrowings 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are 
measured at amortised cost. Refer to note 26 for more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency 
risk. 

Non-current liabilities 
Secured bank loans 

Current liabilities 
Current portion of secured bank loans 

Terms and debt repayment schedule 

2019 
US$000 

1,758 

46,463 

2018 
US$000 

541 

870 

Currenc Nominal Year of 
maturity 

Face value Carrying Carrying 
y interest rate amount Face value amount 

2019 2019 2018 2018 
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Banistmo loan US$ LIBOR+4 2020 257 257 695 695 
Banistmo loan US$ LIBOR+4 2021 292 292 519 519 
European Commission EUR NA 2019 197 197 

Barclays US$ LIBOR+ 2020 19,996 19,996 
2.27% 

Santander UK Pie US$ LIBOR+ 2020 24,000 24,000 
2.27% 

Short term leases US$ NIA NIA 1,918 1,918 

Long term leases US$ NIA NIA 1,765 1,765 

48,228 48,228 1,411 1,411 

The loans are secured by pledged over commercial office units with a carrying amount of approximately US$6, 750,000. 

Santander UK Pie is a revolving credit facility for US$24,000,000. As of 31 December 2019, the total drawdown was 
US$24,000,000. 

Barclays Pie is a revolving credit facility to US$20,000,000. As of3 I December 2019, the total drawdown was US$19,996,000. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

22. Trade and other payables 

Current 
Trade and other payables 
Employee benefits 
Social security and other taxes 
Accrued expenses 

23. Deferred revenue 

Current 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

2019 2018 
Restated 

ussooo US$000 

23,635 10, 154 
6,126 4,094 

16,111 4,887 
6,803 20,740 

52,675 39,875 

2019 2018 
Restated 

US$000 US$000 

52,716 6,590 

All deferred revenue represents advance bill in gs on contracts where the work had not been perfom1ed at the year end. 

24. Provisions 

Provisions are made in respect of warranties for existing revenue contracts and are offered for 12 months after the end of the 
associated contract. 

Balance at l January 2019 
Provisions made during the year 
Provisions reversed during the year 

Balance at 31 December 2019 

2019 
US$000 

1,214 
19 

(1,186) 

47 

2018 
US$000 

3,306 
467 

(2,559) 

1,214 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

25. Capital and reserves 

Share capital 

Allotted, called up anclft1lly paid 
109,375,086 shares ofUS$0.01 each (2018: 3 ordinary shares of£! each) 

Group reorganisation 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

2019 
US$000 

1,093 

2018 
US$000 

During the current financial year SGO Corporation Limited merged with its previous parent company, SGO Corporation S.A, 
whereby SGO Corporation Limited assumed net liabilities of its previous parent in exchange for the issue of new shares of 
US$1,421k being the nominal value of the shares. 
For this capital reorganisation the company issued 109,375,086 new shares at USD0.0133 for $1,421k. The company then 
reduced the nominal value to USD0.01 per share which resulted in a fall in the value of$328k to $1,093k 
Consequently this transaction resulted in the recognition ofnet liabilities of US$ I, 124k, share capital of US$1,093k and a decrease 
in the merger reserve of US$2,217k. 

Reserves 

Translation reserve: The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation ofliabilities that hedge the Company's net investment in a foreign 
subsidiary. 

Share based payment reserve: The equity-settled employee benefits reserve comprises the equity component of the Company's 
share-based payment charges. 

Share premium: As disclosed in note 3, there has been an adjustment from the share premium account ofUS$12.lm into a merger 
reserve in order to correctly present the equity reserves as a result of a group reconstruction in 2006 where the merger reserve was 
incorrectly classified as share premium. There is no impact on the total equity recognised. 

26. Financial instruments 

26 (a) Fair values ofji11a11cial instruments 

Level 1 fair value measurements have been determined by reference to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities. Level 2 fair value measurements have been determined by reference to observable data in quoted markets at 
the balance sheet dates. 

The fair values of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the balance 
sheet are as follows: 

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 

2019 2019 2018 2018 
Restated Restated 

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 
Loans and receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) 59,290 59,290 72,080 72,080 
Trade and other receivables (note 19) 162,785 162,785 69,804 69,804 
Available for sale investments 
Other financial assets (note 13)- Level 2 5,476 5,476 5,007 5,007 

Total financial assets 227,551 227,551 146,891 146,891 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Other loans and borrowings (note 21) 48,221 48,221 1,411 1,411 
Trade and other payables (note 22) 52,675 52,675 38,875 38,875 
Income tax payable 5,849 5,849 2,498 2,498 
Provisions (note 24) 47 47 1,214 1,214 

Total financial liabilities 106,792 106,792 43,998 43,998 

Total financial instruments 120,759 120,759 102,893 102,893 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

26 Financial instruments (continued) 

26 (b) Credit risk 

Financial risk management 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The 
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, 
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent 
of investment grade and above. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, 
the Group uses other publicly available financial information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group's 
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions concluded 
is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by 
management. 

Exposure to credit risk 

The concentration of gross credit risk for trade receivables at the balance sheet date by geographic region was: 

Asia 
South America 
Europe 
North America 
Africa 

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses 

The aging of trade receivables at the balance sheet date was: 

Not past due (0 -30 days) 
Past due 3 I- 60 days 
Past due 6 I- 90 days 
More than 91 days 

Gross 

2019 
US$000 

75,136 
43 

3,152 
7,242 

85,573 

Impairment 

2019 
US$000 

(6,904) 

(6,904) 

2019 

US$000 

4,727 
5,680 

74,749 
417 

85,573 

Gross 
restated 

2018 
US$000 

30,192 
3,015 

88 
5,802 

39,097 

2018 
restated 
US$000 

15,937 
4,814 
3,709 

13,888 
749 

39,097 

Impairment 

2018 
US$000 

(4,519) 

(4,519) 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

26 Financial instruments (continued) 

26 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 

Balance at 1 January 
Impairment loss recognised 
Impairment loss reversed 
Trade receivables written off during the year 

Balance at 31 December 

2019 
US$000 

4,519 
2,586 

(201) 

6,904 

2018 
US$000 

8,530 
l,711 
(222) 

(5,500) 

4,519 

The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful debts at a level that is considered by management as in line with the potential 
risk of bad debts. Aging of accounts receivable and clients' conditions are constantly monitored to ensure fairness of the 
allowance in the consolidated financial statements. Consequently, management considers that no further provisions, in excess of 
the allowance for doubtful accounts, are required. 

26 (c) Liquidity risk 

Financial risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has established an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the effect 
of netting agreements: 

2019 Carrying Contractual 1 year 1 to 2 to 5 years 
amount cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over 
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Secured bank loans (note 21) 48,221 48,221 46,463 1,758 
Trade and other payables (note 22) 52,675 52,675 52,675 
Provisions (note 24) 47 47 47 

100,943 100,943 99,185 1,758 

2018 (restated) Carrying Contractual 1 year I to 2 to 5 years 
amount cash flows or less <2 years <5 years and over 
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Secured bank loans (note 21) 1,41 I 1,41 I 541 870 
Trade and other payables (note 22) 38,875 38,875 38,875 
Provisions (note 24) 1,214 1,214 1,214 

41,500 41,500 40,630 870 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

26 Financial instruments (continued) 

26 (d) Market risk 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 77910 

31 December 2019 

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 
Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks 
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured. The Group is dependent on renewing existing contracts and obtaining 
new contracts. 

Market risk - Foreign currency risk 

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
The carrying an10unts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: 

Liabilities Assets 
2019 2018 2019 2018 

Venezuelan Bolivars 927,119 7,286,438 91,919 
Philippine Pesos 5ll,190,226 594,678,360 1,440,559,668 2,193,127,518 
Euros 23,200,557 8,321,103 314,740 7,005,603 
Mexican Pesos 3,254,084 2,544,827 6,421,689 5,324,521 
Sterling Pound 41,221,341 5,962,926 46,563,194 7,948,698 
Colombian Pesos 356,240,517 4,798,511,740 18,640,508,998 19, 157,401,480 
Taiwanese Dollars 30,465,107 12,632,325 33,693,888 22,752,228 
Hong Kong Dollars 38,661 
Brazilian Reais 445,527 147,973 2,503,662 767,371 
Haitian Gourdes 1,002,760 293,115 12,631,865 
Argentinian Pesos 184,423,341 678,951 435,706,199 12,328,071 
Singapore Dollars 161,168 107,950 3,103,336 2,143,949 
Pakistani Rupee 6,213,884 38,951,909 59,735,687 63,856,554 
Danish Kroner 473,028 58,531 
Australian Dollars (1,100) 3,741 686 386 
Bolivars 12,075 50,810 

Sensitivity analysis 

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of Mexico, Colombia and Philippines. 

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to increase and decrease in the dollar of the United States of America against 
the relevant foreign currencies, 1% is the sensitivity rates determined by key management personnel and represents 
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities foreign currency denominated, mentioned previously. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

26 Financial instruments (continued) 

26 (d) Market risk (continued) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 7791 O 

31 December 2019 

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit or equity where in the dollar of the United States of America, there would 
be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances below would be negative. 

2019 2018 
Impact Impact in % of change Impact Impact in % of change 

original US$ in exchange original US$ in exchange 
currency rate currency rate 

Sterling Pound 27,646,909 21,080,768 (2.5%) (2,528, 104) (2,907,319) (27%) 

Taiwanese dollars (99,053) (3,298) 2.57% (310,171) (9,091) 3,105% 

Euros 2,081,937 1,860,627 3.47% 159,794 181,414 (17%) 

Brazilian Reals (397,275) (98,562) 29.29% (154,536) (37,630) 2,72% 

Mexican Pesos (135,429) (7,186) 24.55% (144,866) (7,3 JO) l,941% 

Philippine Pesos 11,080,180 218,825 1.41% 16,668,317 221,049 5,778% 

Colombian Pesos 149,056 45 21.20% 7,615,524 2,292 28,7393% 

Haitian Gourdes 6,446 70 4.99% (121,406) (1,214) 6,354% 

Argentinian Pesos (3, 707, 169) (61,900) 13.54% (267, 161) (5,920) 2,920% 

Dirham 0 0 0.00% 273% 

Pakistan Rupees 598,857 3,862 8.65% 13,207 89 1,1479% 

Singapore dollars (2,033,676) (1,509,558) 5.79% ( 1,333,816) (770,320) 35% 

Australian dollars 2,345 1,620 1.25% 

Bolivars (5,548) (797) -0.19% 

Profile 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and variable interest rates. The 
Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section 
of this note. 

Sensilivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the 
end of the reporting period. A 1.5 basis points increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

If interest rates had been 1.5 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group's: 

a. Profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 would decrease by US$ 2,000 (2018: US$ 29,000). This is mainly attributable 
to the Group 's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings; and 

b. Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019 would decrease in the same amounts for both years. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

26 Financial instruments (continued) 

26 (e) Capital management 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 779 IO 

31 December2019 

a. The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 
maximizing the return to shareholder through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall 
strategy remains unchanged from 2014. 

b. The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity of the Group. 

The Group's directors review the capital structure of the Group on a regular basis. As part of this review, directors consider the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. 

27. Leases 

Right-of-use assets 
Right-of-use assets related to lease properties that do not meet the definition of investment properties are presented as property, 
plant and equipment (see note 11): 

Balance at 1 January 2019 
Initial recognition of right-of-use assets upon application of IFRS 16 
Additions to right-of-use assets 
Depreciation charge for the year 
Derecognition of right-of-use assets (see note I I) 

Balance at 31 December 2019 

Lease Liabilities 

Balance at 1January2019 
Initial recognition oflease liabilities upon application oflFRS 16 
Lease payment 
Unwinding of interest rates 

Balance at 3 l December 2019 

Land and 
buildings 

£000 

5,476 

{2,030) 

3,446 

Land and 
buildings 

£000 

5,476 
{l,969) 

176 

3,683 

Total 
£000 

5,476 

(2,030) 

3,446 

Total 
£000 

5,476 
(1,969) 

176 

3,683 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

27. Leases (continued) 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 December2019 

The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss for which the Group is a lessee: 

2019 - Leases under IFRS 16 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 
Expenses relating to leases oflow-value assets accounted, excluding short-term leases oflow-value assets 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss (continued) 

2018- Operating leases under IAS 17 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

Less than one year 
Between one and five years 
More than five years 

£000 

176 
309 

23 

2018 
US$000 

2,396 
3,521 

5,917 

The Group leases a number of warehouse and factory facilities under operating leases. Land and buildings have been considered 
separately for lease classification. 

During the year US$1,389,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect ofoperating leases. 

28. Commitments and contingencies 

In 2016, the Dutch Tax Authorities raised an assessment ofEUR2.5m income tax on Smartmatic International Holdings BY. 
relating to matters including the remuneration of the company for the year ended 31 December 2012. The group continues to 
vigorously object to this assessment and is appealing. Discussions covering the accounting years ended 31 December 2011 to 
2016 are ongoing with Dutch tax authorities including constructive meetings in the Netherlands during April 2019. The range of 
potential outcomes of this matter following further discussions with the Dutch tax authorities remains uncertain. The Group does 
not consider it appropriate to make provision for these amounts at this stage nor for any potential further amounts which may be 
assessed in relation to these matters in subsequent years. 

As at December 2019, this has been resolved and cleared. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

29. Related parties 

Transactions with key management personnel 

The compensation of key management personnel (including the directors) is as follows: 

Key management emoluments 

Other related party transactions 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31December2019 

2019 
US$000 

1,802 

1,802 

2018 
US$000 

2,108 

2,108 

Certain family members of Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero and Roger Alejandro Pifiate, directors of the company are 
employed by the Group. The salary paid to these family members is based on an arm's length basis and amounted to 
$725,000(2018: US$865,000). Certain family members and a director are also employed as contractors. The amounts 
paid to these family members amounted to US$613,000 (2018: US$632,000). 

Consorcio COLCARD de Recaudo y Gestion de Flotas de Trasporte Publico is a joint venture of the Group (see note 
14), at the year end there was a receivable due to the Group from the joint venture of US$4,941,000 (2018: 
US$5, 198,000) which has been fully provided for. Airlabs Holdings Limited is an associate of the Group (see note 
16), at the year end there was a receivable due to the Group from the associate of US$2,536,000 (2018 restated: 
$462,000). 

30. Ultimate parent company 

SGO Corporation Limited is the ultimate parent for the Group and has no ultimate controlling entity. 

31. Post balance sheet events 

In February 2019 the Santander credit facility, as per note 21, was repaid in full, and a new facility was agreed for $15,000,000. 
The Barclays facility was also repaid in full and has not been renewed. 
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Company Balance Sheet 
at 31December2019 

Fixed assets 
Tangible Assets 
Investments 
Available for sale investments 
Investments in equity-accounted investees 
Debtors 

Current assets 
Debtors 
Cash at bank and in hand 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

Net current liabilities 

Total assets less current liabilities 

Net assets 

Capital and reserves 
Paid up share capital 
Share Premium 
Merger Reserve 
Share based payments reserves 
Profit and loss account 

Shareholder's funds 

•see Note 3 (consolidated accounts) for further detail 

Note 

2 
3 

4 

4 

5 

6 

The notes on pages 60 to 63 form part of these financial statements. 

2019 

£000 

54 
108,948 

4,142 
1,985 
1,829 

39,848 
562 

40,410 

(54,220) 

2019 

£000 

116,958 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 074 779 IO 

3 I December 2019 

2018 2018 
Restated• Restated• 

£000 £000 

104 
112,953 

2,937 

115,994 

4,746 
245 

4,991 

(14,377) 

(13,810) (9,386) 

103,148 106,608 

103,148 106,608 

829 
68 68 

78,746 80,414 
432 432 

23,073 25,694 

103,148 106,608 

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 15 September 2020 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Antonio Jose Mugica Rivero 
Director 
Company registered number: 07477910 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for year ended 31 December 2019 

Balance at I January 2018 

Profit for the year 

Balance at 31 December 2018 
Accounting for merger with SGO Corporation S.A. 
Reduction in nominal value of share capital 
Loss for the year 
Balance at 31December2019 

The notes on pages 60 to 63 form part of these financial statement 

Paid up Share 
capital 

£000 

1,078 
(249) 

829 

Share Premium Merger reserve 
account 

£000 £000 

68 80,414 

68 80,414 
(1,917) 

249 

68 78,746 

Share based 
premium 

reserves 

£000 

432 

432 

432 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Profit and Shareholder's 
loss account funds 

£000 £000 

26,305 107,219 

(611) (611) 

25,694 106,608 
(839) 

(2,621) (2,621) 
23,073 103,148 
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SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07 4 77910 

31 December 2019 

Notes to the Company financial statements 

I Accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation 
to the financial statements, except as noted below. 

Basis of preparation 

The Company fmancial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure 
Framework ("FRS 101 "). The amendments to FRS 101 (2014115 Cycle) issued in July 2015 have been applied. 

In these fmancial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures: 

Comparative year reconciliation for share capital 

A cash flow statement and related notes 

• Disclosures in respect of wholly owned subsidiaries 

• Disclosures in respect of capital management 

The effects ofnew but not yet effective IFRSs 

• Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel. 

As the consolidated financial statements of SGO Corporation Limited include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also 
taken the exemptions under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures: 

• IFRS 2 "Share-based payment" in respect of Group-settled Share-based payment 

• Certain disclosures required by !AS 36 Impairment of Assets in respect of the impairment of investments 

• Certain disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business Combinations in respect of business combinations undertaken by the 
company in the current and prior years 

Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 "Financial 
Instruments Disclosures." 

The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 10 I in its next financial statements. 

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these 
financial statements. 

A separate profit and loss account or statement of total recognised gains and losses dealing with the results of the Company only 
has not been presented as permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act. 

Tangible Assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives all tangible assets. Land is 
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Leasehold improvements 

Investments 

Up to life oflease 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures are stated at cost less amounts written off. 

Taxation 

The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences 
between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. 

Deferred tax is recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for 
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required by 
FRS 19. 
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued) 

I Accounting policies (continued) 

Cash and liq11id reso11rces 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December2019 

Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand, less overdrafts payable on demand. 

Liquid resources are current asset investments which are disposable without curtailing or disrupting the business and are either 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash at or close to their carrying values or traded in an active market. Liquid resources 
comprise term deposits ofless than one year (other than cash). 

2. Tangiblefu:ed assets 

Cost 
At 1 January 2018 and 1January2019 

At31 December2018 and31 December2019 

Depreciation 
At 1January2018 
Charge for the year 

At 31 December 2018 

At 1 January 2019 
Charge for year 

At31 December2019 

Net book value 

At 31 December 2019 

At 31 December 2018 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

£000 

406 

406 

(255) 
(47) 

(302) 

(302) 
(50) 

(352) 

54 

104 

Furniture & Total 
Fixtures 

£000 £000 

50 456 

50 456 

(50) (305) 
(47) 

(50) (352) 

(50) (352) 
(50) 

(50) (402) 

54 

104 
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued) 

3. Fixed asset investments 

Cost and Net book value 

At 31 December 2019 

At 31 December 2018 (restated) 

The entities subsidiaries are listed in the Group accounts see page 40 to 42. 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

Shares in 
group 

undertakings 
£000 

108,948 

112,953 

The above value contains an impairment for£ I .Sm of the investment in Smartmatic UK Limited. 

4. Debtors 

Prepayments 
Amounts owed by group undertakings 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other debtors 

All intercompany balances are repayable on demand, with no interest charge. 

2019 
£000 

3,431 
36,063 

1,933 
250 

41,677 

Of the above intercompany debtors, £1,828,501 is considered to be due after more than one year. 

5. Creditors: amounts failing due within one year 

2019 
£000 

Trade creditors 82 
Amounts owed to group undertakings 19,543 
Other creditors 33,713 
Accruals 882 

54,220 

All intercompany balances are repayable on demand, with no interest charge. 

2018 
£000 

51 
4,291 

404 

4,746 

2018 
£000 

353 
13,578 

58 
388 

14,377 
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued) 

6. Paid up share capital 

Allotted, called up and fully paid 
109,375,086 shares of!¢ each (2018:3 ordinary shares of£! each) 

SGO Corporation Limited 
Registration number 07477910 

31 December 2019 

2019 
£000 

829 

2018 
£000 
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Over 35 million voters assisted in some 50 elections across the US

More than 300 jurisdictions served in 17 States

Some 57,000 voting and counting machines deployed

Approximately 392,000 election devices deployed successfully

1st online voting experience in Utah – 2016 GOP Presidential Caucus

Achievements

United States elections
2005 – 2016



After Smartmatic sold Sequoia Voting Systems, it continued offering maintenance and support services for 
the City of Chicago and Cook County in Illinois. 

In recent years Smartmatic has deployed some of its most innovative technology like the ePen and online 
voting in California, Utah and Virginia.  

Smartmatic technology for US elections

Smartmatic’s R & D labs have produced technology which has facilitated voting, results transmission, vote 
tallying and other crucial tasks of election administration.  

Edge2Plus is our touchscreen voting machine specifically designed and manufactured for the US market. The 
Edge2Plus was sold in 2005 to the City of Chicago and Cook County, IL. 

HAAT. Our Hibrid Activator-Acumulator-Transmitter (HAAT) is a device we developed to help authorities 
consolidate data from different voting machines, print consolidation reports, and transmit precinct totals to 
a central tabulation center. HAAT is one of the more than twenty US patented inventions owned by 
Smartmatic. 

ePen. This digital pen includes a special camera that captures and digitizes every stroke performed, instantly 
translating handwritten information into digital format. The ePen can be used to improve many election 
processes. In 2015, the City of Richmond, VA, used the ePen to streamline the transmission of results. 
During the 2016 Primary Presidential Elections, three cities of the L.A. County, used the ePen to transmit 
results electronically to the County Clerk’s Office.

TIVI is an online voting solution built around the successful Estonian online voting system –the longest-standing 
and most advanced in the world. TIVI was used in 2016 during the Utah GOP Presidential Caucus. Online 
voting enfranchised Utahans from over 45 countries, including places as far as South Africa, Japan and French 
Polynesia.  

Smartmatic in the United States
In 2005, Smartmatic began participating in US elections through its subsidiary, Sequoia Voting Systems. 

During the 2005 and 2006 election cycles, it provided technology and support services to more than 307 
jurisdictions across 16 states: Arizona, California, Colorado, District of Columbia, Florida, Illinois, Louisiana, 
Michigan, Missouri, New Jersey, Nevada, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Virginia, Washington and Wisconsin. 

Direct Recording Electronic
 Voting Machines (DRE)

Type of device Models Quantity

47,847 

Precinct Count Optical 
Scanners (PCOS)

(Advantage, Edge, Edge2P
and Edge2Plus)

Eagle, Insight, NCS 
OpScan and Optech 

10,728

Central Counting Optical 
Scanners (CCOS)

400C 34

Technology deployed 



Edge2Plus voting machine and the HAAT, which 
consolidates results according to the Voting 
Voluntary Guidelines (VVSG) adopted by the US 
Electoral Assistance Commission. 
Edge2Plus voting machine and the HAAT, according 
to the standards of Illinois. 

Edge2Plus and the HAAT, along with the WinEDS 
system to configure the elections, as a component 
of the election solution by Smartmatic-Sequoia.

For these two important jurisdictions, we also 
provided the following services:  

Sale, manufacture and set up of the voting 
machines and vote transmission platform
Installation of Data Centers and a system for 
election management and configuration

Election configuration and end-to-end testing 
Support during all phases of the election 
(pre-election, early voting, election day and tally) 
Field support to operators 
Maintenance of hardware and software

Services

US elections 2005 – 2016

Smartmatic manufactured - US Certified 
As required by the law, Smartmatic complied with the certification processes that were necessary to sell the 
technology in the US Market. 

Election configuration and setup, including: 
election database configuration, ballot style 
creation and precinct configuration.
Testing and certification of election configuration: 
voting machine configuration (including DRE, 
PCOS and CCOS), ballot configuration testing, 
end-to-end system testing and certification. 

Remote technical support to service personnel 
on-site during the installation and deployment of 
the election system. 
On-site technical support during election day to 
certain counties, including: Illinois (Chicago/Cook), 
California (Santa Clara), Nevada (Douglas), Colorado 
(Denver, Arapahoe), and Arizona (Maricopa).

A successful election requires more than good technology. This is why Smartmatic offers a wide range of 
election support services that can guarantee efficient processes.

Technical Support 

Chicago and Cook County in Illinois 

DRE: Direct Recording Electronic voting machine
PCOS: Precinct Count Optical Scanner
CCOS: Central Count Optical Scanner

Arizona
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

2,552

California
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE, ePen
Devices

12,697

Florida
Technology
PCOS, CCOS, DRE
Devices
3,902

Michigan
Technology
PCOS
Devices
1,000

Wisconsin
Technology
DRE
Devices
1,344

Pennsylvania
Technology
DRE
Devices
1,758

Missouri
Technology
PCOS, DRE

Devices
1,190

Louisiana
Technology

DRE
Devices

4,124

Illinois
Technology
PCOS, CCOS, DRE
Devices
11,422

Colorado
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

2,923

District
of Columbia

Technology
DRE, PCOS

Devices
310

New Jersey
Technology

DRE
Devices

10,336

Virginia
Technology

DRE, ePen
Devices

1,390

Nevada
Technology
PCOS, DRE

Devices
2,421

Oregon
Technology

CCOS
Devices

5

Washington
Technology

CCOS, PCOS, DRE
Devices

1,235

Smartmatic in the US
Utah

Technology
Online voting



Continent: North America
Country: United States

Capital: Washington, D. C.
Estimated population: 326 million

Type of government: Constitutional 
Federal Republic

www.smartmatic.com

Smartmatic is the world’s leading elections and voting technology company. Since forming in 2000, it has developed and 
implemented technology solutions that help authorities run efficient and transparent elections.  

Today, Smartmatic offers a comprehensive portfolio of unique and innovative technologies and services to improve every stage of 
the electoral process. Its technology has processed over 3.7 billion votes in election projects on five continents. 

Smartmatic is headquartered in London and serves its customers through an organisation of more than 600 employees working in 
16 offices around the world. 

About Smartmatic

Copyright © Smartmatic. 2000 - 2018. All rights reserved.

"In fact, for most voters voting was simple and smooth. The feedback from the polls was that voters liked 
the [Smartmatic’s] electoral solution [through its subsidiary Sequoia Voting System]” | Langdon D. Neal, 
President of the Electoral Commission of Chicago and David Orr, Clerk of the Cook County in Illinois, 2006.

“We are proud to have taken a leading role in election modernization. By offering online voting, we 
expanded the number of options citizens have to participate and made voting as convenient as possible. 
Technology proved key in engaging citizens and bolstering democracy.” | James Evans, Chairman of the 
Utah Republican Party, 2016 




